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PREFACE

Tre present Maharajah Bahadur of Nashipur in Bengal,

being desirous that it should be made clear that the

charges srought against his predecessor in the eighteenth

century, Maharajah Devi Sinha, were disproved at the

usted me with the task oftime they were made, has en

preparing the followi

Devi Sinha’s name mently in the earlier

|, but Burke, finding

: rebutted, dropped that

stages of the Warre:

that his ‘‘ alleged enori?

part of-Lis “charges.”

piers IT. and IV. are

hfassor A. F, Murison,

ka in the India Office

It is proper to merd

based on documents

LL.D., from the Benga

Library.

I have added to the story of Devi Sinha a description

of the Nashipur Raj down to the present day, and in regard

to this part of the work 1 must thank Babu Surada Progad

Mukerjee, B.A., Dewan of Nashipur Raj, for the informa-

tion and materials with which he has supplied me.

DEMETRIUS ©, BOULGER.
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MAHARAJAH DEVI SINHA AND

THE NASHIPUR RAJ

CHAPTER I

THE ANCIENT FAMILY OF NASHIPUR

Srupunts who have occasion to examine the records of

the East India Company during the seventeenth and

eighteenth centuries will find. frequent reference therein to

“the country powers." e is meant not only

the great ruling Pri cr notabilities, long

indigenous to the soil, sred the land on behalf

of the Mogul Emperors ecrats of the Company's

success, in establishin ia, was the skill with

which it propitiated this sonverted them gradually

into firm and loyal aili mapany was more scrupu-

lous in the observance ¢ is than the Emperor,

its policy was based ox ance of local right and

interest, and thus confide a word was established.

It also rewarded good # yal Sexvice generously, and

thus made it worth the while of those who worked for it to

prove staunch in their fealty. It was in the Presidency of

Bengal, more than in any other division of India, that these

cordial relations were established with the clase com-

prehensively described in the term, ‘‘ the country powers.”
Among such powers, the family of Nashipur, which is

the subject of this narrative, might be accorded a leading

place. In antiquity, it is entitled to rank among the

noblest families of the peninsula; by loyal service it has
1



2 THE NASHIPUR RAJ

been attached to the English for nearly two centuries, and

its present representative is a man who has gained dis-

tinction in the administrative and legislative fields of public

activity. In recognition of his worth, he has been accorded

the highest Hindu title of Maharajah, and his influence for

good extends far beyond the limits of his own possessions.

The Maharajah comes of very ancient and high lineage.

His ancestor, the Maharajah Tarawah, was the ruling chief

of Bejapur (“the City of Victory ’’), in the Deccan, in the

fourteenth century a.p. As is explained in the Persian

narrative, of which o translation appears a little further on

in this chapter, Tarawah, moved by religious considerations,

was seized with a desira-4 : parts of the Peninsula.

He set out with his ¢ i Sinha, and a large.

following, in Samba purpose of making a

pilgrimage to Kurnkshe shrine near Umballah

in the Punjab. He apy no such intention when

he started, but, none ¢ vad left the Deccan for

ever. His brother Mah £ in charge of Bejapur,

and probably his dea xnong those who suc-

cumbed to the Mahou uries later, when the

Moguls first invaded th:

Tarawah, having made bisipilgrimege, was thinking of

returning home, and had marched some distance on his

way when the beautiful scenery in which he pitched one of

his camps so strongly appealed to him that he decided to

found there a new city, to which he gave the name of Taral.

This place was situated at no great distance from the

Imperial city of Delhi.

While Tarawah was building his new city and con-

solidating his power, his son, Prince Madan Sinha, who

had left Bejapur with him, determined to attend one of the

annual festivals in the Temple of Somnath, in Jhind. This

ranked among the chief Hindu gatherings in Northern

India, and, besides the religious celebrations, it was

generally made the occasion of jousts and festivities, In
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these, Madan Sinha equally distinguished himself by his
courage and gaiety. His prowess became the topic of

general conversation, and the chief local banker, named

Lala Sriram, conceived the idea of arranging a marriage
between the young Prince and his daughter, who was famed
for her beauty. The banker might have failed in hia plans
if the young man had not been smitten by what he had
been told of the fair one’s charms, and, despite his father’s
objections to the marriage, he:declared that he was deter-

mined to marry the object of his affections. The Maharajah,
seeing his son resolved, withdrew his opposition like a wise

man, and the marriage was.selebrated with great pomp.

While his son fixed Ki niadbind, the Maharajah
continued to rule at: reputation as a good
ruler became go great § mindars and jagirdars
of a state called Dhank hay had reason to com-
plain of their own Raja they called on Tarawah
to redress their grievanc aharajah sent his forces
fo join the discontent several battles were

fought with the unpog 30 was killed in the
last of them. The Ma srs thereupon to have
added Dhanni to his ow n the way usual among
conquerors. Soon after “bhi ni, Tarawah died, and

Madan Sinha succeeded to his patrimonial estate at Bejapur,

but he had no desire to proceed there, and made an arrange-

ment with his uncle to continue his régime, and to allow

hima share of the revenue. This arrangement did not
last long, but Madan Sinha possessed his father’s territory
at Taral, and he also succeeded to the wealth of his father-

in-law.

Madan left a son named Sadhu Ram, and he in turn

one named Lahar Mal, who had five sons. They were

named in their order of birth—Malaraj, Kulchandra,

Karanchandra, Devi Sinha, and Lalu Sinha. These five
brothers became in course of time very. powerful, and

extended their influence far and wide. They did not settle
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in the same place, but separated in search of fresh fields

for their activity. Four of them settled respectively in

Delhi, Meerut, Mathura, and Thaneswar.

Of the brothers, Kulchandra was the one to settle in

Thaneswar, and his second son, Rai Gujarmal, became

generalissimo to the Mararajah Scindiah of Gwalior. On

one occasion, the Maharajah Scindiah, who had been

betrayed by another of his Generals named Ghulam Kader

Khan, requested assistance from Rai Shambar Nath and

Rai Badir Nath, grandsons of Rai Gujarmal, and it was

mainly by their aid and advice that Ghulam Kader Khan

was overcome. ‘This added immensely to the family’s

reputation, and the Mogul B OL, Shah Alum appointed

Rai Shambar Nath » e tract of country

from Shaharanpore «& was also made the

permanent subadar ane neharanpore and its

dependencies. Stata o ihe people generally

were directed to offer hi peror’s representative,

their fealty and alieg also to pay him the

Government revenue.

Rai Shambar Nath

to the English. In 180

force, under Colonel Bur ho po dew

in the district, and he invited "Ral Shambar to help him,
which he promised to do. Among the worst offenders was

Rajah Sher Singh, of Buria, in the district of Muzaffir-

Nagar. After some fighting, Colonel Burn, not being

strong enough, took shelter in a fort with Rai Shambar.

It became necessary to summon aid, and this was done,

through the Rai’s instrumentality, in the manner described

in the Persian narrative quoted a little further on.

Rai Sinharaj’s descendants, Rai Tarachand and Rai Ajit

Sinha, received high posts and honours from the two

Emperors Jehangir and Shah Alum respectively, in recog-

nition of their distinguished services.

Another descendant of Rai Sinharaj, named Rai Dewali

der some direct aid

dia Company sent a
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Sinha, migrated from Panipat, in the United Provinces, to

Bengal, where he settled in the beginning of the eighteenth

century, at Sanko Full Bari, near the present station,

named Bokhara, on the Azimganj branch line of the East

India Railway system. It was his son Devi Sinha who

became the founder of the present Nashipur family, as

described in the following extract from Major Walsh’s

‘History of Murshidabad.” The career and fortunes of

Devi Sinha will form the theme of subsequent chapters,

but here it will suffice to quote the reference to him from

Major Walsh's pages :

“The Nashipur Raj is of gome considerable historical

interest, and may be ot back as Tarachand

Sinha of Panipat. dson of Tarachand,

rendered distinguish the Mogul Emperor

Jehangir.

“Rai Ajit Sinha’s

four sons, of whom i

Maharajah Devi Sink

the Government), the.

was the second son

Amar Sinha, who left

i: was Diwali Sinha.

o got the title from

Nashipur Raj family,

eldest was Takiram

‘ Sinha, and the younge: Sinha. In the year

4.D. 1756 Devi Sinha mix from Panipat, the historical

battlefield of India, to Murshidabad, the capital of Bengal,

and for some time carried on business there as a merchant

banker. This pursuit he abandoned, however, and took

service under the East India Company in the revenue

department. He soon held high and responsible offices of

trust in connection with the land settlement of Bengal.

He was in due course appointed to farm the revenues for

the Government of Purmea, and subsequently of Rungpur,

Dinajpur, and Edracpur inclusively. In the arrangements

made by Warren Hastings in the year 1773, by which

Provineial Councils were formed, Devi Sinha became the

steward or secretary to the Provincial Council of Mur-

shidabad, and to his charge were committed extensive and
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populous possessions, yielding an annual revenue of 120

-lakhs of rupees.”

It will be proper at this stage to give the translation of

the Persian history of the family, which contains many

interesting details not to be found elsewhere. It reads as

follows :

“Tn many a family it is generally only a few descents

that are remembered, and the original head becomes

untraceable partly owing to the lapse of some centuries,

and partly owing to there being nothing very particular

known about him. This family (Nashipur’s) stands on a

different footing.

In the first place, a

written at the beginnixe

& gap occurs occasional

family, Rai Kanchaiya

age of seventy-two, ni:

seen himself, but recoil

have proved of great serv

“This history wou

thorough but for the:

destroyed during the

mutineers having blown

deposited.

‘Maharajah Tarawah, who belonged to the Surajbonsi

Rajputs of his day, was the ruling chief of Bejapur, in the

Deccan, about Sambat 1352. Among his councillors was

a Brahmin by caste, who repeatedly described the spiritual
benefits that would arise from a pilgrimage to Kurukshetra,

in the Umballa district. It was not an easy task in those

days to undertake such a long journey, but, being a religious

man, the continued preaching of the Brahmin produced

its effect upon him, and the Maharajah resolved to under-

take the journey at all costs.

“He accordingly set out on the pilgrimage in Sambat

1352, with great pomp, taking with him his son Kumar

y, sill in existence, was

n kept up, although

old member of the

A only in 1910 at the

sheared what he had

old traditions which

ompilation.

aore complete and

y old sanads were

857, owing to the

@ in which they were
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Madan Sinha and a large part of his army, with their

followers, and leaving his own brother Maharaoji on the

guddee to act in his absence.

“On the return journey he halted at Paniput. The

beautfiul scenery of the country simply enchanted him,

and he resolved to see more of it. While at Paniput, one

Pandi Kesho, a local wealthy Brahmin of great influence,

gueceeded in approaching and eventually in obtaining the

favour of the Maharajah. The Pandi ingratiated himself

80 much in the Maharajah’s favour that the latter promised

to make him, and did make him, his family priest. This

priest’s family atill resides at Paniput, and continues to

hold the position of prigat aghipur family, although

it must be rememberg pur family is spread

over many places far 4 another.

“The Maharajah’s the country being still

unabated, he travelle vived at Muzaffurpur,

taking his new priest wil “xitime, the news of a

very bigs religious gaihe in temple of Mahadeo

in Jhind reached the aung Prince Kumar

Madan Sinha. With sion of his illustrious

sire, he set out in‘ tha making, of course, such

retinue as became his pai

“On the way he had to pass through a dense jungle.

Hearing the roars of a tiger, the Prince resolved to kill it

himself, and, notwithstanding the remonstrances of his °

followers, he set out alone in pursuit of the brute, arming

himself only with a sword. He succeeded in cutting the

tiger in two with a single stroke.

“ Thus, the Prince arrived at Jhind in high spirits. Young

as he was, he intended to pass his days in merriment, and

expressed a desire for a dancing-party, according to the

custom generally prevalent in those days, especially in the

higher circles. An excellent party was speedily arranged,

and hea enjoyed it well.

‘*One Lala Sri Ram, an Ajarwal Kayasht by caste, and a
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wealthy local banker, hearing of the youth and valour of

the Prince, and tempted by his wealth and pomp, managed

to obtain an interview with him with the object of pro-

posing a matrimonial alliance between him and his daughter.

He broached the delicate subject in a suitable but cautious

manner. Several considerations weighed upon the Prince’s

mind, but, not liking to give him a rude answer, he referred

him to his father.

“The banker wrote to the Maharajah, who did not like

the idea, and admonished his son to go to Bejapur; but

the Prince, having heard of the matchless beauty of the

girl, insisted upon steying there for a little while longer.

The Maharajah, on lear, ; Prince’s intentions,

gave his consent t s such unions were

customary in those ¢ mony was held with

great pomp.

“Tt is noteworthy that

was, and is to this day,

began at this time {

extent did he carry th

jagirdars became dé

Maharajah’s priest, too eause and quarrelled

with the Rajah. The Tarawah, not liking to

see his own priest humiliated, took his side and sent a

military force of some five thousand men to punish the

tyrant. The rival forces came into collision, and # severe

conflict ensued, causing some losses on both sides. The

Maharajah in the end gained the victory, the Rajah being

killed, and hig State passed into Tarawah’s possession.

‘** Some time after this incident Maharajah Tarawah died,

and his son was proclaimed Rajah of Dhanni. Kumar

Madan Sinha did not like to go there himself on account

of his marriage with the banker’s daughter, and therefore

his uncle Rawat ruled there on his behalf, sending him

about half the revenue each year.

‘© God favoured Rao Madan Sinha with a son, who was

{ Dhanni—which place

ita breed of horses—-

anbjects. To such an

at the zemindars and

Pandi Kesho, the
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named Rao Sadho, but as he was born of a Vaish mothe

he got the nickname of Mahojon. Further marriages intc

Vaish fazoilies turned this branch into a regular Vaish

family,

“The crigin and descent from the Maharajah is clearly

discernible from the Sakha Chor (names of pedigree) which

is veiled by the family puzi on the occasion of every

marriage in the family, and ivfwhich the names of Maha-

rajabh Tarawah and the word ‘“ Kharakdhari” (meaning

those whe handled swords) are prominently mentioned.

“Rao Sadho got a son named Kunwar Nanipal, who in

turn had a son named Rei.iaghor Mal. The last named

had five sons. 5

“* An idea struck ¢

Mal that it was not ¥

ancestor had given td

sons, they settled in a

Meerut, and Mahsucdat

** Rao Lahor Mal hay

in different places, 1

these branches of

informaticn about ther long time.

“The varrative, therafar ibe confined to the two

branches, the one living at Delhi and the other at Nashipur.

‘‘Among these was Rai Hiyor Mal, who was chief com-

mander of the armies of the Gwalior State. His son Rai

Bhani Rai held the post of Mir Munshi under tne Emperor

of Delhi, and was also put in charge of the Silah Khana

and Toshikhana in the Imperial Court. His son was also

chief comxoander to Madho Rao Scindia.

“To turn to the Nashipur branch, lawlessness being the

order of the day, the East India Company sent a body of

troops to put an end to it. In this task, Lieutenant-Colonel

W. Burn had to encounter many foes. He made Rai

Shambar Nath his friend, and the Rai accompanied the

Colonel on his expedition. This was in a.p. 1808. On the

of the Prince Lahor

28 land which his own

As he had many

as, among others Delhi,

‘own as Murshidabad.

and they having settled

iely known of some of

s it easy to gather
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way:uney encountered Rajah Shri Sing of Buria Fighting

ensued between them at Shambi, with the result that the.

Colonel and the Rai sahib were besieged in a fort. They

remained besieged for three days, and could not hit upon

any means of making their escape. Rai Shambar Nath

happened to have with him an old confidant, a fakir named

Bawa Magui Ram. The Rai obtained from the Colonel a

letter for the Begum of Shifferu at Sardhana, and he also
wrote himself to his own brother Rai Badri Nath, stationed

‘at Meerut. He selected the fakir for the delicate and

‘dangerous mission of speedily delivering these letters.

‘The fakir got out of the fort at night, and made his

way in safety first to th v,-and then to Rai Badri

‘Nath. .
“Both promised

reinforcements. The

through which he ha

delivered to Rai Shamb

speedy arrival of tie

next day was spent :

troops could be seen.

suspense was changed t 88 when the reinforce-

ments came into sigh ged, thus encouraged,

- came out of their fort and attacked the besiegers. From

‘the other direction the joined forces of Rai Badri Nath and

‘the Begum of Sardhana carried on the attack, and much

- earnage ensued, The fighting lasted altogether for three,

' days, Shri Sing being finally routed.

_- “The victory was not confined to a small tract of country,
- but it had a very far-reaching effect, since it led to the

- easy conquest of the whole Dooab (vide Report of Mr. T. C.

> Plowden, Collector at Meerut, November 7, 1842).

. “The British General fixed the pay of Rai Badri Nath’s

* bodyguard who had joined Colonel Burn at 20,000 rupees

per month, being at the rate of thirty rupees per horseman.

"He also appointed Rai Shambar Nath to be a Tehsildar of

aily arranged to send

by the same passage

& again at night, and

eneerful news of the

a The whole of the

‘gense, but no friendly

i day, however, the
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eleven Pargannahs in the Saharanpur district (the Purwana

of July 28, 1805).”

Taking the lino of Rai Shamhar Nath, his eon Rai Kelka

Nath was also appointed Tehsildar. On the latter's death,

his son Rai Bishambar Sahai, being under age, Mr. T. C.

Plowden, the Collector, had his nephew Rai Salug Ram

appointed Tehsildar. In his report, on this occasion, he

brought prominently before the Commissioners the services

of Rai Shambar Nath. Rai Bishambar Sahai, the son

referred to, subsequenily .diaplayed conspicuous loyalty

during the Mutiny of ¥86 fe, 4. C, Wilson’s [Com-

missioner] certificate 8), Hein his turn

was appointed a Teh 2 Rai Ram Chandar

Sahai is now a Deputy ne United Provinces.

TRANSLATION (34 AND COPIES OF

bodyguard, who joined

by order of the General

orces), from August 1, 1804,

i 34) rupees per horseman

Pay of the horsemen

Colonel Burn in the Tati

(commanding the East Ey

at 20,000 supees a month,

per mensen..

(Signed) G. D. Gurunim.

W. Bunn, Licutenant-Colonel,

Purwane from the Collector of Saharanpur appoints Rai Shambar

Nath to tho office of Tehsildar of eleven Pargannals (Saharanpur,

Mahpies, Feizabad, Sultanpur, Nakor, Jal Navah, Yangah, Sakhmauti,

Chauzat Kari, Kontha, and Rampur) from the beginning of 1218 F.,

and makes him responsible for the levies and safety of the people

under his jrriadiction, and charges him with the suppression of the

forces and movements of the predatory and murauding tribes.

(Signed) G. D. Gurmatm,

SAHARANPUR, . Collector.

July 28, 1805.
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No, 405.

To A, W. Begbie, Esq., Officiating Commissioner, Meerut

Division.

Sir,

T have the honour to report to you the death, on the 19th ult.,

of Rai Kalka Das, Tehsildar, I have nominated Salug Ram, his

nophew, temporarily to the situation, in order to test his qualifications

for it. The long and good, sexyhite of iis deecased unele and his

grandfather, Rai Sham fazir of the whole tract

from Saharanpur to Mcer rovernment at the time

the Dovab was. congue is own good character,

give him a claim which £ ee with me in thinking

ought to be recognised if an" fit for the situation.

vO, GbC.,

T. OC. PLowpen,

Collector,Novenber 7, 1842.

iz of the Meerut Collec-

wistrate and Collector, to

I hereby certify that BR

torate, was ordered by Mr: ‘

attend upon me during the fa obeyed the order, and T

employed him until the closesif %. I found him attentive

and hard-working. He acconmpaniod me to the Hauiler expedition,
aud, when it was resolyed that the Hanifer force should proceed to the

Muzatiir Noyo district, Bishambar Sahai accompanied me there also.

I should be glad if promotion and emolument could be found for him,

for he certainly behaved well when every native oflicial was morc or

leas paralyzed by fear.

J. ©. Winson,

MeEExur, Commissioner on Special Duty.

March 24, 1858,



CHAPTER II

RAJAH DEVI SINHA

Etentu in descent from Maharajah Tarawah came Rai Tara-

chand, otherwise known as Rai Joymal. He and his son,

Rai Agajit Sinha, were highly honoured and trusted by the

Mogul I mperors, Jehangir and Shah Jehan, to whom they

rendered distinguished services. Agajit Sinha’s grandson,

Rai Dewali Sinha, cro : after the celebrated

Battle of Panipat, an: seat in Bengal at a

place not very remd vent Nashipur, thus

beginning the history 6 ev over one hundred

and sixty years ago, 1} nha is chiefly memor-

able, however, as the fa n Devi Sinha.

Devi Sinha entered e of the Hast India

Company either imrm ye or just after the

Battle of Plassey. } have rendered Clive

some useful service on’ d probably this was

in connection with tha by ‘angements that followed

with Mir Jaffier. As Devi Sinha was intimately acquainted

with tha revenue arrangements of the Mogul Government,

he became a most useful coadjutor of the Jinglish, who for

the firai time were confronted with the task of getting in a

revenue from the land. For twenty years or more he

served 1s in this capacity, wnd then, under the new system,

he took: upon himself the responsibility of farming the

revenue for a specified number of districts in Bengal. This

was the transition period when the English passed from

Ih
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simple merchants to the position of the responsible adminis-

trators of the country.

At that time, the Hast India Company had not the staff

to collect taxes direet from the people, or even to control

the collection by native officials. It therefore adopted the

aystem of sub-letting the collection of the revenue to a

farmer, who agreed to pay a lump sum for a specified

number of years, generally limited to two, but renewable on

good results. In this capacity, Rajah Devi Sinha did

excellent service, and no farmer of the revenue stood in

higher repute with the authorities than he did. His

contracts were for larger sume, than aay others, and he

always kept faith wi wen. The authorities

at Calcutta knew, t ore Devi Sinha they

would receive the best results. This reputa-

tion led not only to th: serap-oying him, but, as

the sequel will show, ts ting employments upon

him which he did no$ : fuis lacurred one of the

penaltics that attend ssful man. A difficult

charge was thrust upo#8ie pite his reluctance to

do so, he had to aceay

Having been for twen « in the State employ-

ment, and closely connec Pe 29 with the getting in

of the revenuc, Rajah Devi Sinha became a man of the

highest consideration in Bengal. Ho also amassed con-

siderable wealth, and added greatly to his paternal estate.

His only brother, Rajah Bahadur Sinha Bahadur, was also

a great territorial maynate, but he did not concern himself

in revenue matters, like his elder brother—in the sense, at

least, of incurring responsibility. He had his own exten-

sive estates, he served as a revenue officer, but nothing

would induce him to accept the responsibility of a farmer

of the revenue, and in this he showed his wisdom. There

was no family of higher consideration in the Pargannahs

extending from Rungpur to Dinajpur, and including a

great part of the modern Kuch Behar. As a consequence
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Rajah Devi Sinha was not merely welcomed as a farmer by

the Goverr ment, but he was always accepted as his own

security, ard from first to last he never made default in

his undertukings, and sometimes, as he said himself, he

had to make good the deficioncy out of his own pocket.

In those days, the Mast India Company never atlempted

to bestow honours on Indians. The most it ever did was

to present a. khillat (dress of honour) and to recognize

existent tilles, But it could confer posts, and in 1781 it

roade Dev: Sinha the Dewan, or Governor, of certain

castriets sei forth in the following purwannah :

y, DPeenjerah, ete., and

ed on Rajah Devi Sinha

‘formed the duties of hia

fail not in the smallest

behaviour be such as to

rontented, and Iet him take

: aod transmits them to the

“Whereas the office

Pargantah Jidrachpore,

Ly the Huzgz.ar, it is ver

station with integrity :

degree in ditigence and :

render the body of the pe

care that the Parmer collec

Presideney.

“Let hin in conductin

customary support to ti

the country, because suc

he productivs of much cred

is Department afford the

ule the improvement of

ound to his honour and

Shortly after this appointment, tie Government, wishing

tio derive » large revenuo from the Rungpur and adjacent

districts, bethought themselves of Rajah Devi Sinha as a

man likely) to increase it. hey offered him the post of

farmer, atd in such a form as showed that he was not

expecbed ty refuse. He therefore accepted the charge, but

with much reluctance, as he tells us in one of his deposi-

sions : he did it out of loyalty to his employers. The two

years of h's contract were the equivalent of our years 1781

and 1782 (or thereabouts, for they slightly overlapped),

and he urdertook to provide an increased revenue as the

Huzzoor, or Government, desired. To farmed the revenue

ab a fixed total, which he had to, and, as a matter of fact,

did provide. Naturally, great liberty had to be left to the
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farmer, and the Government never interfered with his

methods so long as there was no disturbance. No doubt

there were some harsh farmers, but, by the testimony of

the majority of witnesses, Devi Sinha was not one of them,

and towards the ryots he was admitted to be just and con-

siderate. Indeed, his relations were not with the ryots

themselves, but with the zemindars, or landlords. It was

from the latter that he levied the taxes, and it is not unim-

portant to remember that he had no direct relations with

the ryots, who may be described as the peasants or the

tillers of the soil.

So far as the year 1781 was concerned, the arrangement

worked smoothly. The. a6 in regularly, and the

farmer was able to he total to the Govern-

ment Treasury withe But the second year

proved disastrous to t unsatisfactory to the

Government. The zex 1 to evade some of their

obligations, and the rye slad into coneurring in

a diminution of rent, i time incurring an

obligation to make up to the landowner in

the form of special taxi lah and battah. In

1782, a complote chang iso in market prices,

and consequently in thasmaten imidition of the people.

Owing not to scarcity, but to the abundance of the harvests,

prices fell, and the ryots were unable to sell their grain

and tobacco. Then they resented the payrient of the extra

taxes levied surreptitiously by the zemindars, and refused

to pay them. Their discontent could not be appea :d, and

goon assumed the form of open insurrection in Pungpur

and Dinajpur.

This incident attracted the attention of Govern :nt, and

a civilian was sent to Rungpur to inquire into the affair.

Tk was not difficult to learn that the ryots were discentented,

and they alleged that they had genuine grievances in the

levying of the new taxes named. The civilian, Mr. Paterson,

pricked up his ears at the mention of new taxes, and at
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ince jumped to the conclusion that the farmer Rajah Devi

Sinha must be the culprit. He also received a miscel-

laneous assortment of evidence as to acts of cruclty, and

there was never any doubt or uncertainty that cruelty was

freely rescrted to by the tax-collector in the Mogul realm.

Cruelty in the collection of State dues was not restricted

to India or Asia; in the eighteenth century it was common

throughout Furope. But if Mr. Paterson had inquired a

little mors closely, he could not have failed to find that

Rajah Devi Sinha had the reputation of being an indulgent

‘“‘jarmer,” and that whenever he came into direct contact

with the ryots—which w om—-he treated them with

kindnogs and considers j, if the situation had

been carecully consid e been clear to him

that the interests of & osely connected with

those of the ryots, and § insurrection menaced

the farme: with ruin.

The following accounts

that it war serious enoy

“In the various depe

cn their inquiry inte

the busnenhs, putwarr » universally attribute

the insurrection to the y to pay their revenue,

which wart of money is as universally attributed to the

total stagration of all trade: there being little sale of the

various wticles produced in the district in 1188, and

much less in the yoar 1189 (Bengal years equivalent to

sp, 1% 4-82). This want of money occasioned by the want

of pmhasers rendered the ryots incapable of discharging

their ver.ues, and though we could not learn that any

excess! (@ severities, similar to those inflicted by Hurram

in 1188, were used to enforce the payment of the revenue

ia 1189, yet when the great arrears due to the Rajah from

the several zemindars and under-farmers, and the near

expiration cf his lease, wore considered, it must be concluded

that the usual severities of punishment and confinement

2

arroction in 1782 show

asted:

afore the Commission

1a Insurrection from
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were used to make the zomindars pay up their revenues,

and that the zemindars punished and confined the under-

farmers and ryots to make them both pay up their

revenue... .

“The ryots first met at ——. In consequence of a plan

concerted there among themselves they assembled, and

from thence they proceeded to Kymarry, in Tapah, where

by the evidence of ——-, Deijenarrain offered to head them,

and he was chosen their nabob with shouts of approbation.

Deijenarrain is the son of Doolub Narrain, who had acted

as nabob in an insurrection which formerly took place in

this district about twent 9, on which account

he was elected the na xsurrection.

“ After this, the i venty-five or thirty

men to Dakally Gungé such people as were

confined there for reva ts of the neighbouring

talooks assembled, and xern In great numbers,

and presented their nuz aparrain, Deijenarrain

mounted a palanquin 06 seded to Balagong,

where, by the advis proposed to go to

Demlah, where Gour: 1 they considered as

having treated them wi ity,

“The insurgents then d fetters fo the various

talooks, ordering the ryots to assemble and join them, and

threatening to burn their houses and burn their crops in

case of their refusal and delay. The insurgents determined

to go to Demlah, where they were told that there were

horsemen and burcandasses stationed at Demlah who

would attack them, and therofore it was of little purpose to

go there; but, however, he proposed that the insurgents

should go there, and if they obtained redress it was very

well, but if Gourmohun should attack them they would

repel his attack, telling Deijenarrain that, as he was nabob,

he must forgive them for what excesses (*lootmar”),

plunder, and murder were committed. That Deijenarrain

considered for some time, and repliel that they did not go
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to fight, but were going for justice; that if Gourmohun

refused them justice and attacked them, that they must

do the best they could, and that he forgave all excesses

(lootmar ’), plunder, and murder.

“On this the people all shouted and proceeded towards

Demlah, where they found horsemen and bureandasses

drawn up. ‘The insurgents stopped, and Deijenarrain

quitted his palanquin. The insurgenty beat their drums

and advanced. When they had approached within half a

mile of the burcandasses, the insurgents gave the Duvy,

daclaring they came for justice, but not to fight. The

burcandasscs gave them ouragement, and promised

them justicn. They + cad about the distance

of an arrow’s flight, s fired by the bur-

candasses, and one t on the part of the

insurgents, on which 4 to fly; but, observing

that other parties had a the southward and

westward, they refurnad ¢ vo of the burcandagses.

The horsemen and buereai , and report waa made

that Gournohun wag 2 arrain said: ‘Take

eare of bim; he is a o mut (Do not kill

or beat him .’

“On thi: the insure ad Deijenarrain, who

retired to a distance, and (rourmohun was killed by the

insurgents.

‘** More burcandasses being reported, the insurgents retired

to the banks of a river ; but on the sight of some horsemen

approaching, they fled, Some were taken by the horsemen,

and some houses were burnt.

“ After thia, Keenah Sirdar was appointed nabob of the

insurgonts. As they were going to Sarabary they saw

Geculmattah stationed on the banks of a tank near the

hagt when they gave the duvy, and said: ‘ Give us justice!

Why do you come to kill us?’ Goculmattah beckoned to

them to come, and told them he would give them redress.

Whereupon some of them threw down their clubs, and
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others put them under their arms, and were going to

him. When they had approached within an arrow’s flight,

the burcandasses and horsemen discharged their arrows

and guns at them, and wounded two ryots, on which the

insurgents surrounded and attacked Goculmattah, killing

him and two burecandasses.

“The ryots in Dinagepore assembled, beat their amlah,

plundered the cutcherry of what revenue was collected

and deposited there, and carried off with them the papers

and the amlah to Chenglee, where they were attacked and

dispersed by Mirza Mahomed Tuckey, who was sent to

suppress them by order of Mr. Goodlad. The ringleaders

were sent to Rungporg iainder were sent or

returned to their hony

“ Notwithstanding

would rather return to

for a time and assem

Goculmattah, who had

district to carry on th

assembling, Mr. Goodla

had sent with sepoys @

them. The officer attacl { killed many of them,

and they dispersed whenciie< rick was, in consequence

of this action, reduced to quiet and obedience.”
The description of the cireumstances of the rising, given

by Mr. Goodlad, Collector of Rungpur, supplements that

provided by the Commission of Inquiry, and may he quoted

here :

“Tn the month of April, 1781, I was appointed Collector

of Rungpore, and in the same month a general settlement

of the lands took place. The provinces of Rungpore,

Dinagepore, and Goragaut were given in farm at an

increased rent to Rajah Devi Sinha for the term of two

years, and the farmer was placed under my superintendence.

During the first year the farmer fulfilled his engagements

to Government with a punctuality superior to any other

the ryots that they

, they only separated

renf parts, murdered

miy three days in the

As they continued

d the officer whom he

surgents and disperse
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renter in Bengal. In the second year (though the settle-

ment of Rungpore made by the farmer with his under-

writers was near half a lakh of rupees less than his

engagements with Government), towards the expiration of

his lease, part of the districi roge in arms against him

when not half the revenue of the year was realized,

murdered such of his officers as they could seize, erected a

nabob and government among themselves, raised contribu-

tions, marched through sundry parts of the district in

arms, compalled such natives as were peaceably inclined

to join them in opposition to all authority, and by

proclamation forbid all payments of revenue to Govern-

ment.

“To quell so form

after trying every kk

military aid. Some fit

I had the happiness to

peace to the district.”

These narratives

extracts from the repk

when the charges wet }

It is perfectly clear, ic and language of the

letter, that he had ne ae of guilt, and that he

did not at that moment ‘yoalizo the severe ordeal that lay
before him :

“T have reccived the committee’s purwannah, directing

ma to doliver in my answer to several articles of complaint

which Mr. Paterson has transmitted to them, and am very

glad that they have afforded me this opportunity of vin-

dicating myself against the false representations of my

enemies.

“From the first day of my appointment to Rungpore to

the time when I was suspended from my employment in

the transaction of my business, I have never deviated from

the principlss of equity and moderation, but have strictly

adhered to the orders of the Huzzoor and the custom of

ction, I was obliged,

(oO have recourse to

rab in about a month

isirgents, and restore

lated by the following

be Rajah Devi Sinha

i him in July, 1788.
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the country, all which on inquiry I am conscious will

appear. Be pleased to consider, gentlemen, by whom the

complaints against me have been preferred. The com-

plainants are for the most part the zemindars, who them-

selves, long before my arrival in that part of the country,

were guilty of many of the oppressions of which they at

present accuse me, every species of mathoat having been

imposed by them, and the cultivation of the country thereby

greatly impeded. Lesides, the zcmindars imagined that,

by complaining in this manner, they would avoid the pay-

ment of their balances, and in fact they have accomplished

.

a.jiae not been collected.

red, and the zemin-

y for the two years,

business at the very

iy created disturbances

i notwithstanding that

H those who thought

complaints known to

|, they paid no regard

vrder throughout the

Rungpore the sum of i,¢

“When the yoar 114

dars also knew that

and saw that I exerted

time of the heavy calk

and put a total stop te

Mr. Goodlad issued ord

themselves aggrieved

him so that they shoe

thereto, but spread cor

whole district.

** When the report was first circulated that Mr. Paterson

was coming to inquire into the disturbances, I considered

his deputation as a favourable event to me, and depended

upon his support in realizing the balances; but in this I

was disappointed, for he has received the false complaints

of the zemindars, transmitted them to the Committee, and

not afforded me the least assistance in recovering the

balances. By the complaints which have been sent down,

my reputation has been greatly affected. Be assured,

gentlemen, that on inquiry they will never be found capable

of proof. .

“You are also acquainted with the custom of the country,

and know that when a European ameen is deputed on
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any busiiess into the Mofussil, the whole country comes

to him tc complain, because the zemindars and ryots look

upon this ag a favourable opportunity, and make complaints

to him, right or wrong, with the view that the payment of

their balances will not bo enforced. This happened when

Mr. Daterson came to Rungpore.

“‘ The semindars instigated the ryots into an insurrection,

and the insurgents set fire to the sagawal’s cutchery,

joined the nabobs of the Dhing, murdered Gourmohun,

Goculmattah, etc., seized and carried off the Company’s

revenues, and took refuge at Serrooppore, a place forming

the bouncary of two districts.”

The sane purwars

pxamination of the

replies thereto, but a

chapter it is unnecessas

The exolanation of

and whicl will be set for

summary of the Gover:

‘ajah contains a full

¢ the case and his

salt with in the next

1 textually here.

Which befell the Rajah,

following chaptors by a

gedings, is to be found,

first, in Mr. Paterson's focal customs, and,

secondly, in his desi rsonal notoriety by

probing to its root wht 8 be a scandal. His

information was derived {x nindars and the ryots

amenable to their authority, and it was quite easy to make

out a plausible case against the farmer of the taxes. There

nad undoubtedly been a popular rising attended with some

bloodshed and considerable loss to the Company's revenue,

and, as tranquillity was the first essential from the Govern-

ment’s poiat of view, a scapegoat was sought and found in

ajah Devi Sinha, Indeed, if Mr. Paterson had confined

his attacks to the Rajah, there is no saying that he would

not have suceeeded in imposing his will on the supreme

(Gouneil, but fortunately for Devi Sinha he attacked every-

body—the Collector, Mr. Goodlad, the Commissioners, and

even the governing Board.

For a time, however, it seemed as if he would carry



24 THE NASHTIPUR RAS

everything in his own way. Rajah Devi Sinha was removed

from his post and ordered to Calcutta, where he was kept

in waiting over a year before he knew what he was charged

with. Mr, Goodlad, the Rungpur Collector, was also sus-

pended and summoned to Calcutta to explain his proceed-

ings. Mr. Paterson appealed to the public conseience

against the enormities he h covered, and many persons

were more or less fg ndeed, the Governor-

General’s Council tre races of Mr. Paterson

with marvellous for that they did not

escape from his shafi thers. It was very

fortunate that commun cen India and Mngland

then took six months, a1 ere was no sensational

press to descant on thi _eempulsion to which

recalcitrant taxpayers: d under the Mogul

system which in 178 en disturbed. A few

strong men held out ai against Mr. Paterson’s

insinuations. Sir John® aident of the Board of

Revenue, declared that they were no evidence against Devi

Sinha. But the Governor-General’s Council, after taking

fifteen months to consider the mattcr, decided to institute

an inquiry, which will be deseribed in the next chapter.

The public opinion of England, the party strife of the

House of Commons, had not yet embraced Indian questions,

but the shadow of the Hastings indictment already began

to obseure the air.



CHAPTER IL

THE CHARGMS AGAINST DEVI SINITA

In tho report of the trial of Warren Hastings at the bar of

the House of Lords there are repeated references by the

prosecuting counsel to the “ enormities ” of Devi Sinha, or,

as it is spelt in the Minutes of Mvidence, “Deby Sing.”*

The case for the prosecution being that Warren Hastings

was a monster, it was necessary to support it by showing

that he had hireling monste: der him, and one of those

fixed upon was Devi &i gsocuting counsel hav-

ing shown an intent : “the enormities of
Deby Sirg” as bein “‘the enormities of

Warren Hastings,” the or ruled that “it was
not competent for them | se of the enormities

actually sommitted by x, the same not being

charged ia the impeack i, the ruling notwith-

standing, the Court ¥ 3 pretty full history of

his doings and alleges the following narra-
tive of tha true case as ¥ : dander is compressed

from the official papers “Tie ul, as in the case of

Warren Hastings, must be regarded as a full acquittal,

It may be interesting, before setting forth the case

according to the evidence and purticulars collected and

put forward in Bengal, to give a sample of Burke’s denun-

ciation of the unfortunate Ilindu gentleman whom, without

any possi vility of defending himself, he wished to brand for

* In the report of tho trial and generally throughout the reeords of

the time th: Rajah’s name is spelt Deby Sing.
on

a

21994
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all time with infamy. He accuses him first of indulging

“in the humble, sneaking, suppliant tone of an accused

person,” and then becoming so bold and confident that he

constituted himself “ Mr. Paterson’s accuser.’’ The docu-

ments quoted hereafter will give the reader the means of

forming his own opinion on the subject; but, even in the

Court, Mr. Burke’s indictment failed to reach its mark, for

Mr. Edward Law (afterwards the first Lord Ellenborough),

leading counsel for the defence, denounced ‘‘ what I will

call the very shocking and atrocious fable of Deby Sing.”

But it was Hastings himself who gave, in a speech of

great moderation, the death-blow to Burke’s romance. The

following are the perit fas from the Governor-

General’s answers to ’

“My Lords, I will

ing for any length té&

Lordships by advert-

‘old by the Manager

charge relative to the

tives of Dheejumla by

gay that the Manager

ery in the form of a

o so in the strongest

horrid cruelties practi

Deby Sing. It will be

never ventured to iy

charge, though presse

possible terms both in a

“Mr. Paterson, cn W thority he relied for the

truth of his assertions, and with whom he gaid he wished

to go down to posterity, has had the generosity to write to

my attorney in Calcutta, for my information, that he felt

the sincerest concern to find his reports turned to my dis-

advantage, as I had acted as might be expected from a man

of humanity throughout all the transactions in which Deby

Sing was concerned.

‘Had the cruelties which the Manager stated really been

inflicted, it was not possible, as he very well knew at the

time, to impute them even by any kind of forced construc-

tion to me.

“My Lords, it is a fact that I was tho first person to give

Mr. Paterson an ill-opinion of Deby Sing, whose conduct
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upon forraer occasions had left an unfavourable and, per-

haps, an anjust impression upon my mind. In employing

Deby Sing, 1 certainly yielded up my opinion to that of

Mr. Anderson and My. Shore, who had better opportunities of

knowing iim than I could have.

“In tae course of the inquiry into his conduct, he

received aeither favour nor countenance from me nor from

any meniber of the Board. hat inquiry was carried on

principally when I was at Lucknow, aud was not completed

during my government, though it was commenced and con-

tinued w:th every possible solemnity, and with the sincerest

desire on my part and on gh of my colleagues to do

strict and impartial just

“The result I ha

appears that, though

the extent of his gx

magnitude of the charg

proved that the mast }

artfully detailed and

were connitted at adi,

“Here I leave the

your lordships must fea!

was dony to me by the

atrocious calumny.”

We will now proceed to tell the story of Devi Sinha’s

ordeal from the oflicial Minutes and Proceedings of the

Bengal Government. It is told here for the first time.

The perusal of the last chapter must have shown that

Devi Sinha was a remarkable man. Otherwise, he could

never have held the rarely combined offices of ‘ Farmer of

the Revenue, Security, and Dewan.” The counsel for the

prosecution alleged that such a combination had never been

allowed before, but this assertion only betrayed ignorance

of Indian facts, for the combination of farmer and security

in one person was quite common, and, in at least one other

case, the position of dewan had been combined with them.

nd; and it certainly

not entirely innocent,

of proportion to the

him, In particular, if

those horrible acts, so

& in this place, never

anced that every one of

walleled injustice that

nd propagation of that
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The evidence on this point given by Mr. John Shore, after-

wards Lord Teignmouth, is conclusive. He wrote:

“Rajah Deby Sing was farmer, security, and dewan of

Rungpore. The union of the two former offices in the

same person requires no explanation, since the practice is

very general, and is founded upon solid and obvious

reasons. The investiture of the office of dewan during the

period in which he held the farm is less common, but not

without a precedent, for Rajah Cullyan Singh stood pre-

cisely in the same predicament with regard to the Province

of Behar.”

With regard to the insing

certainly the originatog*

“The imputations

grounds of this appe

Hequence. The rea

from facts.”

The first point to be

the duly qualified par

nothing unwarrantal

euch a man as Devi §

One of the first charg evi Sinha was that, in

the last year of hig holtis é had collected a sum

cf about 19,704 rupces from one pargannah, and put it

down to the accounts of the previous year. This was

alleged to be proof of his squeezing the people and extort-

ing money to which he had no right, ‘The Couneil at Fort

William, without waiting for fuller information, decided

that Devi Sinha was in the wrong, and called upon him to

pay in the 19,704 rupees to the Treasury. This the Rajah

expressed his willingness to do under protest, and his

defence reads like that of an honest man :

“T am directed, in consequence of the orders from the

gentlemen of the Council at Culeutta, to pay the sum of

19,704.10 rupees, being the revenue of 1182, on account of

the Mehals of the Chuckla Akbunagur, collected by me

ation of Mev. Paterson (who was

yial), the Council said :

Mr. Paterson on the

. to us of little con-

from conjectures, not

3 is, that: however rarely

aied himself, there was

Hastings entrusting

able or treble office.
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and brought to the account of 1181. I answer that I col-

lected 2094.4,10 Sicca rupees, on account of the revenue

1182, in which year the Mehals were under the care of my

officers to the end of Tshadon, and have rendered the

accounts to the mutsuddin of Nabob Fhteram-ud-Dowlah,

as appears by the chelaun, which I can produce under the

signature of Mofussil oflicers, who took in return a receipt

from the officers belonging to me. If there are any errors

in these accounts I am ready to render them again.

Besides the sum above mentioned, of which I have

rendered an account, | did not collect a daam of the

revenue of 1182. If the ¢ ry can, on examination, be

proved, | am ready te a,

“But one thing |

Ehteram-ud-Dowlah ¢

of Betteah, ete., which:

Rajemel al, it is custon

at the beginning of San

of Agsar, and agreeably.

will do himself the sa

withstanding this, w

dies of the Nabob

e three pargannahs

fin the pargannah of

cafivetion Lo commence

be finished at the end

Hlected, and the nabob

His mutsuddies, not-

ns made from those

threa Mehals to be ing ity to the established

usage among the Aumd 182. When this shall

be examined into, you will, by attending to the established

custom, perceive the injustice of it, for I made the collec-

tions and dispatches in the samo manner as was done in

Mr, Harwood’s time, and this is agreeably to the usage of

the cour.try in many places.

“The Mehals in question were, in Mr. Harwood’s time,

under the management of Roy Dulul Ram, and he likewise

went on agreeably to this custom. He is now present ; let

an inqury be made of him, or else let the examination be

entrusted by the Council to the Khalsa Shereefa, or to the

decisions of the Comongoe’s offices. Whatsoever shall be

decided agreeably to the Sudder and Mofussil papers, and

accordir.g to the established custom, I will abide by.”
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Mr. Cleveland, the local collector, was consulted, and

bore out Devi Sinha’s statement, adding that, “by the

custom of the country, he was undoubtedly entitled to do

what he had done.” Incidentally he let out the secret of

the trouble. The pernicious custom of anticipating the

revenue was put a stop toa year or so after Devi's retire-

ment, with the consequence that his successor would have

been in the end the loser of part of a year’s revenue. The

Council, having satisfied themselves that there was no case

against Devi Sinha, and at the same time that it would be

very hard on his successor to lose the money, directed that

the balance be written off, and credit given for the amount

to the new farmer.

The next charge 4,

turbances at Rungp:

through a nominee, naz

This occurrence is

from the official report o

“On February 6, 17%

Collector of Rungpsr

the first information

arisen in the Provinces,"

insurgents had murder the Mofussil gomastahs,

named Gouranmohwn ;- insurrection had begun

withdut the least notice, or even the smallest complaint ;

and by a subsequent lIctter, dated February 6, we were

informed that the ryots had chosen a nabob or chief of the

insurrection, and compelled others to join them; that a

military force had been employed against them, and that

the disturbance was not suppressed without great opposi-

tion and the loss of many lives. Jt appearing to us a very

uncommon and extraordinary disturbance, we deemed it

our indispensable duty to order a particular investigation

of the causes and nature of it.

“For this purpose we invested Mr. Paterson with a

special commission, and deputed him to Rungpore. At

‘ua, related to the dis-

Hilari which he rented

ddin Hussein.

the following passage

ect.

aived a, letter from the

27, communicating

furbance which had

ome general; that the
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the same time, the most positive directions were sent to the

collector and farmer to co-operate wilh and assist him in

his inquiries.

“As the object of this investigation was to ascertain

whether the inhabitants of a whole district ware driven to

resistance and insurrection by the oppression and severity

of the farmer, Rajah Devi Sinha, and his agents; or

whether they were instigated to rise in arms from the hope

of protrasting and ultimately evading the demands upon

them for rent; it is to be regretted that Mr. Paterson's

inquiries do not furnish proofs sufficiently accurate to

enabla us to decida with .cerlainfy upon a matter so

importan’ in its conseque.

The charges brot

against Rajah Devi t

to be the cause of #

under seven heads. Th

1. Inergasing the Fine

to pay.

2. Compelling the

the revenue of their +

confining them and «rr

the collections. BeBe Gh

3. (mposition of various taxes over and above the

Jumma,

4. Deducting large sums from the receipts.

5. Charging exorbitant batta, and short weight, by which

means the demands for revenue were increased, the weight

of which fell ultimately on the ryots.

6. Selling the talooks, cammar lands, ote., ab an under

value.

7. Excessive severities exercised to compel payment of

the demands of revenue.

With ragard to the first charge, which may be defined

aa affecting an increase amounting to 86,489 rupees, the

Rajah admitted the facts, but readily offered an explana-

nindars of Rungpur

sedings wore alleged

bances, were divided

4 the ability of country

gn engagements for

daris, and afterwards

ex persons in making
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tion, which seemed to show that he at least was not

ashamed of them. His explanation reads as follows:

“ A Mofussil settlement is never realized. Great expenses

are incurred by employing people in the collections, and

paying interest for money; that, after paying his revenue

and defraying those charges and the loss he is liable to

sustain from other quarters, the residue would not be a

sum disproportionate to his trouble and risk under such

extensive engagements.”

This explanation was accepted as reasonable because,

as noted, “Devi Sinha did not receive any allowance as

farmer.’ His salary and allowance as dewan were 9,045

rupees & year. SS

We come now to

yemindars to sign, =

situation cannot be m

official report.

Jn the first place, the

accurately in the lisi @

they acted themselves

women and childret

2 of compelling the

ufining them. The

pn. by epitomizing the

zspdodars ’ was not used

; was employed as if

x them were many

vjority of the others

employed dewans as r s One of these was

named Gourmohun, anc 188 he signed a settle-

ment at Dinajpur with Devi Sinha for the zemindari of

Carjechaut. This settlement was not deemed satisfactory

by the zemindar, who went himself to Dinajpus to have it

altered. Instead of this object being attained, he agreed

to sign it himself, and Gourmohun was dismissed from his

post as general dewan of the zemindari body, This

mark of displeasure did not prove all that it seemed to

imply, for a few weeks later Gourmohun was reinstated in

his old office, but it gave colour to the story that the

zemindar of Carjeehaut and others had been coerced into

ratifying a settlement to which they were really averse.

The official verdict on this point was the only one possible :

“Ag no proofs have been laid before us of the force com-
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plained of by the zemindars to extort those writings from

them or their agents, we must consider them as valid until

the alleged force shall be fully proved.”

Devi Sir:ha’s version of the facts was that the zemindars

came to him voluntarily, that he never interfered in the

collection which was managed by the zemindars and their

agents, and finally that a man named Hurram, “by the

zemindars’ appointment and by his own bond,” had

vecome security, and was responsible for the whole district.

Aurram was in a certain sense Devi Sinha’s nominee and

represontative, and acted by Hxed instructions contained

ina document entitled Waje Araz. On this point Devi

Sinha said: “ lf Hurry eécontrary to my orders,

signitied tc him upot iz, he is the person

who should be respa s official conclusion

was that, ‘from the he Wajebad Arugz and

the tenor of Devi § there is reason to

believe that he was ¢

himself as the collecte

Singh’s orlers, indepa

With rezard to Us

that some time after

they were being considered; the

plained to Devi Singh against Hurram for exactions and

oppressions during the time ho held the management of

the collectious. He reforred their complaints to arbitrators,

who made an award finding Hurram guilty of having

exacted a part of the sum complained of, acquitting him of

another part, and leaving yet another part undecided. It

was also alleged that Hurram had employed violence and

threats, but this information does not appear to have been

given on oth.”

To this general charge Devi Sinha’s reply was that

‘*Hurram had the sole munagenient of the collections of

the district during the year, and that he did not interfere

in the business.” And upon further inquiry the Committee
3
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found “ that Rajah Devi Singh actually resided in Dinajpore

the whole or the greater part of the year 1188, at which

distance it would have been difficult for him to attend so

closely to the conduct of Hurram and his officers in Rung-

pore as to restrain them from acts of oppression, which

can only be effected by a local control. We must also

observe that the proofs of these charges, although capable

of clear and direct evidence, have not been laid before us,”

Coming next to the disturbances and their origin, the

Committee wrote :

“The Muchulka of Sheik Mahomed Mullah, Collector

of Carjeehaut, in which he says, according to the former

plan and papers, be eo iw. conjunction with the

zemindars, the tax does not appear that

Mr. Paterson examinéd stove the authority of

the two former papé ik Mahomed Mullah

denied upon oath beio ittee that he collected

those taxes. From his n ib appears that, when

he was deputed Sez: devi Singh gave him an

account, stating the eining demand against

Carjeehaut for the y ‘sd him to collect it;

and being asked if the: leg were included in the

gross amount, he said he: skxiow ; that the zemindars

were at this time in Rungpore under peons, and that two
of them, Rameaunt and Sham Chowdry, went with him to

the Mofussil ; that he kept peons (Mohussils) over them, in

which state they continued until the insurrection broke

out. And yet he swears that the wemindars did every-

thing.

“The evidence of this man, although very evasive and

suspicious, destroys the effect of the Muchulka he before

delivered. We must here observe that the exaction of

Batta and Dereenwillah is what the ryots principally

complained of on their first rising. In their answer to

Mr. Goodlad’s first purwannah they complain of Dereen-

willah and an increase on their rents of two annas (Batta),
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and that these taxes were the principal cause of the

insurrection appears probable from the behaviour of the

people.”

In further support of the alleged ill-treatment which

was rosocted to to bring in the taxes, and which was the

direct cause of the disturbances, a series of attestations

was produced. According to them a Tokedar named

Jadoonundun Surmah committed various acts of cruelty,

flogging some victims and pulling out the whiskers of

others. Mr. Paterson had accepted these statements with

absolute credulity, and it is rather remarkable to find that

the Committee followed his « Yot in no country in

the world was it so easy £6 fabricate evidence.

Whatever its cau & description of the

insurrection seems a

‘With regard to the

we find that it began in*

about tha 7th of Mang.

mation of it, dispatche

Carjechaut to know tk

sent Lala Manick Chi

desiring them to depate. ¥y apprehension, a part

of their number to lay thine nis before him, assuring .

them of redress. On the other hand, should they continue
their depredations, he would send a party of sepoys against

them, scize and punish them as thieves and dacoits. The

ryots near Calpanny had killed Gourmohun and drove the

other Ainlah out of the country.

“They received the purwannah with great respect, and

on being assured that they would be only required to pay

jumma and batta ag in 1187, they promised to return to

their homes. Meanwhile, Tieutenant Macdonald was

coming up at the head of a small force to deal with the

ryots if they did not give in. In the belief that the ryots

had returned to their homes, the Sezawuls were again sent

into the Mofussil. When one of them issued Tallab

338 of the insurrection

‘Coonkneah, and Tepah

or, on receiving infor-

xcrnanee to the ryots in

but a little after he

vannah to the ryots,
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Chitties for revenue, three or four thousand ryots assembled

and attacked him. Nion Singh, a subahdar, was sent to

his assistance. The insurrection spread to other parts of

the district, and appeared so formidable to the Collector

that he thought it necessary to collect as many barkandazes

as he could. Several battles were fought between the ryots

and the sepoys. On February 12 the ryots wrote another

petition to the Collector, in which they complained that he

had not done them justice. He replied that their complaint

was false, and that they must pay Batta, and that they

must pay Curtennee according to 1187. Hostilities con-

tinued until February 2%, ¥ decisive battle was fought

and sixty ryots were plain. Several were

tuken prisoners, and } '8 the disturbances.”

The effect of tha % was to draw greater

attention to the Rung and at this point it

will be appropriate tc Sinha’s replies to the

various charges. First, ¥ d ta fhe alleged sale of

talooks in Ruugpore he answer respecting the

sale of talooks in Ru: SWB

nena

“Out of the sum Vassil amounting to

77,776,13.4 rupees, only 2.5 ritpees was received

into the Treasury. I have said all I know on this head. As

to the balance, amounting to 48,556,0.11.4 rupees, thia was

the sale made by the zemindars of thoir own free will, and,

as is the custom In Rungpore, without the knowledge of the

Collector, the Dewan, or the Sudder Mustager. I know

not even the names of the sellers. The gentlemen have

taken no notice of this, but in their Report to the Couneil

have stated the whole of it to have been received by me.

| beg your attention to this.

“Qasan Duvr Sinan.”

Secondly, on the subject of Dereenwillah and the other

alleged new taxes. he wrote:
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‘TI have received your purwannah setting forth that the

Bundobust of Rungpore for 1190 had arrived under the

signature of Mr. Goodlad, from which it appeared that in

the year (188 a tax existed under the head of Dereenwillah

amounting to 56,921.38 rupees, and another tax under the

head of Woosul Curtennee of 43,427.12.13.2 rupees, and in

the year 1189 a tax called Dereenwillah of 37,038.9.6 rapees

amounting in all to 1,87,387.8.19.2 rupees, and desirmg me

to explain these articles, and declare Ly whose orders they

were imposed. Gentlemen, the gzemindars received no

orders from any person to assess Mahtoots under the heads

of Dereen willah and Curtennes.. The zemindars delivered

Muchulkias into the Si “4188 and 1189 to the

following purport ; collect the afsul, or

original vents, with t ize in the year 1187,

and would not collec titoots from the ryots.

Several purwannahs ise ae Fuazoor during 1188

and 1189 to the zeraims @ same purport, and the

zemindars renewed the #8 upon receipt of the

purwann vhs. .

“All these are i d shall be produced

whenever you please to The following is an

explanation of Dereon willal rtonnee as far as has

come to ny knowledge. From the time that the zemindars

got possession of the country by engaging for the revenues,

they colladed with the ryots, mundals, and patwavrries, ete.,

and lowered the original rents of the ryots, unknown to the

Collector, in order to make their zomindaries appear defi-

cient in assets and to conceal the ganjaysh, or profits. To

effect this they allowed the ryots deductions under the

seven following heads:

1. Delassy Cummee. 4. Karijie Cummee.

2. Buksinda Cummee. 5. Polotucka Cummee,

8. Nerikh Cummee. 6. Mooktah Cummee.

7. Paykasht Cummee.
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“ Having made false deductions from the Jumma under

these heads, they at the time of making a hustabood, or

settlement, assessed Mahtoots on the ryots under the heads

of Dereenwillah and Russoom Parbonnee, etc., and brought

them upon the Jummabundy ; and in some instances the

patwarries collected Curtennee from the ryots and gave

them pottahs at under-rents, unknown to the zemindars.

Whenever a measurement was ordered, the ryots objected,

and agreed to pay a Mahtoot of one or two annas Dereen-

willah to avoid the measurement; and whenever a new

collector was sent into the district, the ryots complained

of these Mahtoots, representing that they were prohibited,

and desiring to pay the revenues agreeably to their pottahs

and no more, in this sagnersdlaying a foundation for a

balance in the revert _ practice they have

always regularly pu ‘Seductions with one

hand, and paying Ma other. The articles

stated in the Bundobusg “have been in use from

Mr. Purling’s time ¢o | time in 1187. If the

accounts of ten or éwents ack are examined, the

same custom will be fox evailed, which J have

fully ascertained ; and Rha ses from the account

Bundobust of 1190.

“Mr. Goodlad trans snimuttee such papers

as he received from ti Y have authentic

accounts, Jummabundy, of one ryot, one monzah, and one

purgunnah, for three or four years back, which will prove

the chicanery of the zemindars, and shall be delivered

when called for. Those papers will justify one person and

involve a hundred in guilt.

“Until you thoroughly understand the chicanery of

them, in the first place a servant of Government will be

ruined, and in the second place the public revenue will

decrease yearly, for the reasons already set forth,

* Ragan Devi Stren.”
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It was at this stage in the question that a material

difference of view revealed itself between the two English

officials, Vir. Goodlad and Mr. Paterson. Mr. Goodlad sup-

ported Davi Sinha; Mr. Paterson accepted the zemindars’

and ryots’ statements without sufficient examination ; and

the consequence was that a controversy arose between the

two that reflected on the dignity of the service and aroused

the ire of the Governor-General in Council. Tt was under

these conditions that the five following Resolutions were

passed ty the Government, then headed by Warren

Hastings. They read:

“1. That the Committ

unmediately sz

heavy balance:

ind more espe

oppression and &

«9, That the Committed

securing his prop

Company, as woll

ryots of the disii

“3. That the Con

Comunission, ¢

io investigate fh

Hingh and bis

reported to the Cs

determinate and legal proof,

“4. That Mr. Goodlad be ordered immediately to attend the

Board to answer certain charges which appear against him

in the course of this inquiry.

“5, That a person be appointed to take charge of the Collections

and Adawlut till further orders.”

6 do order that Devi Singh be

tin the Khalsa for the

« owes to the Company,

‘secused of the most cruel

» take proper measures for

y all just demands of the

he oppressed zemindars and

fariaed.

he Board will appoint a

the Campany’s servants,

se acousations against Devi

s whom Mr. Paterson has

d which may admit of more

For the moment Mr. Paterson’s allegations that the

zemindars had fled the country and the ryots risen in

insurrection through ‘ Rajah Devi Singh’s oppressions ”

were accepted, and Mr. Goodlad’s view that ‘if was all the

ehicanery of the zemindars” did not find favour. The

further incuiry was to find out the truth. For the moment

‘Devi Sinha was the chief sufferer. Here follows his protest

against the affront put upon lim ;
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“A Dustuck reciting that I am in balance 3,90,200 and

odd rupees, and that I have put many persons to death,

having been sent to me with some peons, I have been

ordered to be kept in the Khalsa, which order I have

without the smallest altercation obeyed, and am now there

in the charge of peons. But as I am the servant, the

subject of, and obedient in all respects to, the Government,

and have never been deficient in any matter, I cannot,

therefore, but greatly wonder over the infelicity of my fate

that, without my being sent for to the presence, I should,

without being made acquainted with or questioned relative

either to the matter of ‘¢ ov that of the murders,

be at once thrown int

“* Wherefore I beg °

balances outstanding ix

from the zemindars, ¢

by Mr. Paterson, on wha

determine.

“Tf, forgiving the

nevertheless your pie

my credit thus destroy

thus injured, since a logs 3f to me must inevit-

ably carry along with it every ‘to Government, besides

that life itself is but a secondary consideration to be

devoted to the preservation of one’s honour. When things

come to this pass, Government will then be no gainers.

I am therefore hopeful that, calling me before you, you will

first inquire into the.merits of my answer delivered on the

20th February relative to the matter of balances, and I

make not the least objection to pay whatever may appear

justly due from me; for I am not of the profession of

a zemindar, and I have heretofore paid towards the

Revenue the amount of more than two lakhs of rupees,

which I was obliged to acquire for the purpose of taking

up the amount on loan. And now algo J remain under the

“ai if, in respect to the

of Rungpore and due

which was prevented

ty T do not presume to

sso balances, it being

sm from me, why is

putation and character
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shadow of Government, with my life, property, and family
at their disposal.

“And if the gentlemen have entertained suspicions of

my having put any persons to death, and that my oppres-
sions are to be proved by the declarations of those persons
who are in balance, and the very people who havo been the
causes of all the disturbances (for from such information

are the testimonies procured by Mr. Paterson and delivered
on by him to the Committee).

“If without inquiry, gentlemen, you should have deemed

such productions valid, and have thereupon conceived me
guilty of such acts, in gent for which my confine-
ment has been orders eless aver and assure
you that the facts sé account will never be
verified or established have not put to death

or murdered so much ¢ if any one murder can

be proved against me 1 a + make restitution for it
with my own person ar lray family; but until
the truth be ascertain i. consider it but very
opposite to the credit 4 a’s Government that
I should in the meanw! out cause.

“Consider also what | have been under for
this twelve months past, to ‘lave obliged me to repair to
Caleutta and to remain here in constant attendance on the
gentlemen, whose every order has uniformly met with my

ready oledience, and to whom I have never failed regularly
to deliver in my answers to tho complaints without ever
having made use of the smallest evasion or delay, instead
of which the present orders have been issued. Besides the
English gentlemen I have no other dependence. I thers-

fore rely on their listening to my representations, and

passing a just judgment on my conduct.”

For the moment, however, Mr. Paterson's personal views
—not wntinged with sensationalism, for he declared that
“thousands of eyes were turned on the Government to see
how it would act in this matter ’"—prevailed over the more

1 Gp:
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sober judgment of the Board of Revenue to the effect that

“the proofs hitherto produced of the Rajah’s guilt are not

sufficiently strong,” and Warren Hastings felt bound to

appoint a strong Commission of Inquiry. Mr. G. HE. Pete,

Mr. T. P. Broughton, and Mr. William Douglas were the

Commissioners, and Mr. Charles Ogilvie was appointed

Secretary.

The instructions to tha Commission were set out in a

long despatch of thirty-two paragraphs. They were to

inquire into the causes of the disturbances, amounting to

an insurrection, in Rungpore. They were told that ‘ the

insurgents represented them to have been caused by the

oppressions and undus.ex of Devi Singh, the Govern-

ment’a farmer, anc whilst Devi Singh

imputed it to an i on the part of the

zemindars and ryois ¢ s realizing from them

(more especially as his en drawing to a close)

the proper and due rey « point submitted to the

Commission could x put more fairly.

Mr. Paterson prejud: sauming Devi Sinha’s

guilt, and regarding their judgment in

duspense as his accessors

At this juncture Devt: wi who was detained in

Caleutta while the Commission proceeded to Rungpore,

petitioned to be released on his giving security for any

amount that he might be called upon to pay. Here follows

his petition :

* As at the time of my delivering my first petition to the

Honourable Board I was, from the apprehension of losing my

honour, altogether distracted, I had not well examined the

tenor of the Dustuck, because the peons, coming to me in

the night time without my being in the least aware of their

approach, waked me from my sleep and carried me to the

Khalsa, where they detained me. I have since taken up a

copy of the Dustuck and perceive the term ‘murder’ is not
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used in if. The contents are as follows: ‘The sum of

3,90,262 rupees 14 annas being due from Rajah Devi

Singh, Malzamin of Rungpore, ete., and, moreover, divers

oppressions and innovations having been exercised by him

on several of the zemindars and ryots of Rungpore, you

are therefore deputed agreeable to the orders of the

Governor-General and Council, and must seize the said

Rajah, confine him in the Khalsa, and by the strictest

injunctions get the revenue of Government discharged, and

you are to keep the said Rajah in confinement till another

order is insued by the Huzzoor.’

‘“‘T therefore request, gentlemen, that considering my

distracted situation you wi ind enough to excuse my

mention of murder, eoxted by mistake in

my petition. To th 36 balance and the
innovations which the urged me with I am

ready to answer. In i the former I will even

tender a Malzameen ge this condition: that he

shall discharge whateva: ppear due from me by

the Board's investigats they will also cause

payment of what shai me from the zemin-

dars of Rungpore. :

“Ttrust you will cen ke these my requests

into your consideration a elease ine, and when security

has been taken that you will order me to attend the Supreme

Council, there to represent my situation,

“Ragan Devi Srnau.”

er

As the Iydian Government might be in the position of

claiming revenue from Devi Sinha orders were given to the

Chief of Murshidabad to place a kind of restraint or

evibargo on bis property in that place. It was at firet

proposed to make a strict inventory of his possessions, but,

fortunately, the Revenue authorities, touched by the follow-

ing appeal, countermanded the worst features of the inves-

tigation, and the Governor-Creneral not merely sanctioned
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the indulgence, but declared that there was no wish that

“the reputation of hia family should in any degree be

injured.” This is Devi Sinha’s appeal :

‘“‘T have just received information from Murshidabad

that Mr. Fendall and his Munshi, accompanied by a Khalsa

Mohirir and two others belonging to the Canongoes, with

several other persons, are gone to my house to take an

inventory of my effects. I am apprehensive they will

make no exception in favour of those belonging to the

women’s apartments. Since the receipt of this account I

have given myself up to 0 despa, since I cannot possibly

survive the disgrace of x am unable to account

for this oppressive ¢

** Allow me to obset

and have never since wt

like. If any attempt sh

the effects in my Zeena

induced to put an end

“T myself am ready

from whom I have in

“T conjure you, in thé Hawe Sot God, gentlemen, to
represent these particulary jnourable Board, and to

procure suspension of these measures. Otherwise I shall

call upon you for redress on the Day of Judgment.

“Tiassa Devi Sven.”

1 honourable family,

Pongal experienced the

to take an account of

fomen, perhaps, may be
once,

jfe for the Company

Before the Commissioners began their work they repre-

sented that, in their opinion, Devi Sinha ought to be

allowed to appear at their sittings and plead his own case.

They pointed out the criticism that would be certain to

follow from an attempt to judge and condemn him in his

absence. The Government's proposal was that he should

appoint a Vakil, and appear by deputy, but the Com-

missioners replied: “You cannot compel him to appoint

one, and if he refuses you are placed in the same invidious
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position.” And this was precisely what happened. He

presented the following petition :

“Your Petitioner some time ago solicited your Honourable

Board to be allowed to give security, but he has not yet

been honoured with a reply. He now understands that

out of your great lenity you have appointed three gentle-

men, in order to re-examine into the business of Rungpore.

In this case an idea occurs to your Petitioner, which he

most hurably represents, that if the gentlemen are to

inquire into this business upon the spot and your Petitioner

remains here in confinement, the representations of his

accusers would only be beard without his having an oppor-

tunity of defending hun render it impossible for

your Honourable Bc to the truth. Your

Petitioner therefore “he may be allowed

permission to attend Sommissioners on the

apot, that being prese: ‘inquiry may be made

into every particular. 4 admitted of, the same

will occur as when Mé as there, who, receiving

petitions of complaint iadars, whose interest

it was to sink (reduce) “and without making

any inquixy into thers, { this trouble on your

Honourable Board andi istrass to your humble

Vetitioner. In the present inquiry the future character

and life of your Petitioner are concerned. He has no

person with him whom he can sufficiently trust, and,

indeed, it is a matter of that nature that no proper inquiry

can be made unless he is present to answer for himself.

“Your Petitioner therefore most humbly prays he may

be permitted to repair to the place of inquiry, and for the

satisfaction of the Honourable Board he is ready to give

such security as they may deem necessary. Your humble

Petitioner is here in Calcutta, and is willing to give any

security the Honourable Board may demand.

“The people placed to attach the house and effects of

your Petitioner at Moorshedabad are a source of vast
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distress to your Petitioner’s family and relations. He

therefore humbly petitions they may be withdrawn, and,

as he has served the Honourable Company with fidelity

these twenty-five years, hopes this indulgence, after the

Honourable Board has taken security, will not be denied

him.’

This petition produced no immediate effect, and when

Rajah Devi Sinha was called upon to nominate a represen-

tative, he declined to do go, alleging the very reasons that

the Commissioners had conceived he might. Here is his

plea :

“T am honoured by the receipt of your purwannah,

informing me that ib is r of the Governor-General

and Council to depuis behalf to attend the

Gentlemen Commiss€ rea, and that I should

inform you of his np had the honour to

represent to you shi “© ©6operson sufficiently

acquainted with the p: my business as to be

competent to answer tb wie of my accusers. Let

me entreat you, gentl : the peculiar delicacy

of my present posits quiry my character,

fortune, and perhaps # These are objects

not to be entrusted withc@ryigest whatever, even with a

brother. The smallest mistake on his part on any ques-

tions the gentlemen may please to ask him, and which,

from its being impossible that he can be acquainted with

all the minutix of the circumstances, he may be unable to

answer, may tend to my utter destruction, I therefore,

gentlemen, most earnestly and humbly petition, on every

principle of justice and humanity, that you will take from

me such security as you may deem proper for the demands

of Government against me, and if personal security should

be required from me, I am ready to enter into any engage-

ments you gentlemen may think nocessary, or even if it be

necessary that you will send a guard with me, and allow

me to repair to the place of investigation, that I may have

t
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as fair an opportunity of exculpating myself as my accusers

have of criminating me.

“T also humbly request that you will write to the

Sentlemer Commissioners of Rungpore to conduct their

inquiry in the presence of both parties, and in that situa-

tion, whatever investigation they may make, it will be

impossible for me to object to or complain of my fate when

it is founded on a fair and impartial inquiry in the presence

of both parties. The trouble and anxiety I have experienced

these last fifteen months, and my present disgraceful con-

tinement, have all originated from the former inquiry,

entirely consisting of the accusations of my enemies,

without ray having had riunity of being con-

fronted with them, az ny means of a fair

wnd impartial vindies#

“If tha Gentlemen

make an equitable inch

conduct it when one of ti

himself? You, gentierns

may assert falsities of

too palpable to urge +

be brought to allega i! sity of which, by my

being present, might h Ay detected, and which

otherwiss must stand as incontrovertible proof against me.

Let me entreat you, gentlemen, not to construe my objec-

tion to sending a vakeel into a mark of disobedience to

your orders. Could you, gentlemen, form an adequate idea

of niy pfesent situation, 1 am sure your humanity would

lead you. to pity the cruelty of my case.

“My accusers are on the spot; they are zemindars.

‘They are indebted to me near four lakhs of rupees, to avoid

the payment of which it is evidently their interest to

eriminate me as inuch as they possibly can. They possess

unbounded authority over their country and vassals, and

consequently have every advantage against me. It is

therefoe utterly impossible 1 can defend myself with the

3 of Rungpore are to

it possible they can

is nob present to defend

Il know that a person

s whsence which are

‘nt. Witnesses may
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partial knowledge of a vakeel. I do therefore, gentlemen,

again humbly entreat you that you will attend to this my

representation, and allow me to repair to Ruzgpore, that,

by having an opportunity of defending my conduct, I may

be able to wipe away the load of suspicion and virulent

accusations which I now labour under, and convince you

that your Petitioner is not unworthy of your countenance

and support.”

This petition was referred to the Commission of Inquiry,

and the following reply was sent by it to the Govern-

ment:

‘“‘ When we consider the variety and nature of the charges

alleged against Rajah aud how deeply our

characters are engag ad impartial investi-

gation into the proof prehend an effectual

inquiry cannot be mat averal charges against

the Rajah, unless he ix attend this investiga-

tion in person. We fr end, if the Rajah is not

permitted to attend tf ian in person, he will

protest against this Ge ¢d that such a protest

would invalidate the ission.””

In consequence of i dvice the Government

gave way, and decided that Ragah Devi Sinha paid up

the balance claimed against him he should be allowed to

go “under a proper and sufficient guard” to Rungpore to

be placed at the disposition of the Comunissioners. But

the condition imposed, involving the payment of a sum of

8,90,262 rupees (nearly £40,000 at the currency of the

day), was too hard and impossible of fulfilment. It drew

forth the following further and very characteristic petition

from the accused Rajah :

“Your Petitioner is honoured by the receipt of two

purwannahs from the Committee conveying uhe commands

of the Supreme Council—the other informing him that

the Honourable the Governor-General and Council had

thought proper to direct that he should pay the balance of
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8,90,262 repees, his claim on account of the Tahoda, should

be afterwards heard, and he should be sent under charge

of w guard vu. sepoys to attend the Commissioners.

“Prom the contents of the purwannah, your Petitioner

understands it is not the pleasure of your Honourable Board

to receive security pending tho suit, hut require the sum

of 3,90,26% rupees tu ready money, and if may probably

happen on an adjustment of the account that so much is

not due; the attachment of your Petitioner’s property is

not taken off, and he is to be sent a prisoner to Rungpore.

‘“‘ By these orders your Petitioner 1s overwhelmed by a

river of or.ef and afflichionj,der as lie to the best of his

power and abilities jigs ts the interest of the

sitkar, and by the s in the discharge of

his duty, iacludinyg $ Dinajepore, he had

paid during the two holding the farm an

increase of live lakhs upe rues of the year 1187,

80 he hoped that his auld have procured him

the good opinion of ¥: Board and some dis-

tinguished :narks of ¥ But the times are

adverse to your Petits

* Notwithstanding th 4tons of his accusers

have brougl.t upon your PeEaio: is misfortunes, yet by

the grace of God he relies on tho justice and humanity

of your Honourable Board that a full inquiry will be made

into the truth or falsehood of the charges against him.

For example, ever yielding to this persuasion, your Peti-

ficner, though his accusers were not present, attended of

his own avcsrd at the Presidency for a period of fourteen

or fifteerr menths. He incontinently replied to all questions

which were put to him, so that by the grace of God not

any of the charges exhibited against your Letitioner has

hitherto been proved. Three Commissioners have in eon-

sequence becn appointed to make a full investigation ito

the complaint, and as yet they have not reported any

adjustment cf accounts formed by confronting the accusers
4

bat

i
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with the accused and stating whether your Petitioner is

legally indebted or not.

“Your Petitioner humbly begs leave to lay these circum-

stances before your Honourable Board, and also further to

recall to your remembrance the subject of his former

petition, and that, as he is also suddenly called upon for

a ready-money payment of a very large sum, he hopes

your Honourable Board will recur to precedents whether

an instance ever oceurred under the Company’s adminis-

tration of a man’s being called upon for payment while his

suit was pending in a court of justice. If in this repre-

sentation your Petitioner may.unintentionally have deviated

from the respect due tazy ‘tabie Board, he implores

your pardon and enix der his situation that

his future life and ai stake. He speaks

with the confidence 6 nnocence, and of his

inability to perform wh uf him, and therefore
humbly submits to th: ion of your Honourable

Board the various di as, and distresses to

which he is exposed { ituation. A summary

of these are hereunde

“1. Whenever your

justed, it will thereby ¢

secount shall be ad-

uppeme that be is not indebted to

Government in the sum required of him, But suppose a

case, that a balance was justly due from any individual,

would it not be a most difficult matter for that individual

to furnish in ready money a very large sum upon credit

from any responsible shroff? ow is it possible for your

Petitioner to do it, deprived of all his employments, and

dismissed as he has been for sixteen months past, and when

not a pice of the property of the sirkar is in his hands?

He lost considerably by his farm. By coming to Calcutta

he is put to extraordinary and heavy expenses. He is a

prisoner in the Khalsa, though no crime has been proved

against him. His goods and effects are attached, his credit

ruined with men of all sorts, and he is in his own pergon
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degraded. Reflect upon these circumstances, whether it is

possible for a person so situated to furnish go very consider-

able a sum? Upon the hope, indeed, of being enlarged

from prison, and the withdrawing of the attachment on

your Petitioner’s effects, he might by solicitations and

importunities to such of his friends and acquaintances as

are men of credit obtain their consent to become security

upon the following conditions, that they should be respon-

sible for the monies indisputably due to Government

agreeable to an investigation to be made by the Commis-

sioners. Your Petitioner is ready to pay any sum justly

due from him, and hopes your Ionourable Board will

uttend to his prayer andJ i

2. Orders have baé

for the remaining teri

sidered. 'The case is

sur Petitioner’s claim

isuld be hereafter con-

tia claim amounts to

agreeable to authentic

id farmers of Rungpore.

evade it, therefore, they

the country. For

nstance, Gourmohun zh and other farmers

and servants of credHsiweis Vier the Sudder farm

were killed in the iz : nd your Petitioner’s

eutehery was plundered and set fire to, and confusion and

murder ensued in all parts of the Mofussil. Mr. Goodlad,

being informed of these tumults, employed himself so

effectually to suppress them that peace was once more

restored, and ten or twelve thousand rupees of the collec-

tion were duly brought in. In the meantime, Mr. Paterson,

being arrived at Rungpore, made no investigation (I am

ignorant with what orders for his presence) into the cause

of these ecmmotions, but, taking the insurgents under his

protection, occasioned the loss of the whole balance to the

(yovernment, and, having composed a paper of particulars,

threw aside the account of balances, and wrote to the

prisoner that there was nothing in the Mofussil due to the
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Sudder farmer, and beside framed an accusation imputing

that the said farmer had collected more than his right.

In this predicament, after the arrival of that gentleman,

not one rupee was collected, and orders were besides sent

from the presence to Mr. Goodlad that the revenue of the

tobacco and poppy harvests, upon whose resources depend

the whole weight of the collections of :ungpore, should be

put off to the next season, and that the farmer should not

be permitted to collect them up to the end of the month of

Cheit, at which period lis lease would cease. As he was

by these means deprived of the opportunity of making his

collections, how then can he.couditions of his cabooleat

and pettah, according ; such cases, possibly

be considered in fore 8 are now upon the

spot, and might inqu 26 particulars by con-

fronting of the accuser ccused. The truth or

falsehood of your Pet sregentations would be

easily ascertained, for wh si anxiously wishes and

entreats your Honourald wuld be pleased to direct

the Commissioners 4 me such balances are

actually due to him or?

‘Your Petitioner pray s1e Manner as during

these fifteen months of “the’penderice of the Inquiry your

Honourable Board did not demand of him the payment

of the balance, but considered the inqniry ag necessary to

direct a decision on it, so now algo, when this inquiry may

be the last and soon finally settled, you would not press

your Petitioner, that you will be pleased to wait until the

conclusion of the inquiry, and to the sum ascertained your

Petitioner can have no plea to offer for delay of payment.

“8. Your Petitioner formerly requested that your Honour-

able Board would take sufficicnt security from him for the

claim of Government, or permit him in person to go under a

guard to the place of investigation. He now again requests

that, if you do not consent to take security, he may be seni

under a guard, hoping it would not be deemed improper or
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disrespect/ul in him to stipulate that no injury be offered

to his honour. As your Honourable Board are just and

generous, and your Petitioner, from his peculiar hard fate,

is fallon into multiplied distresses and difficulties, and the

Inquiry is now passing, he hopes that you will hear with

attention und compassion these threc separate articles of

his Petiticn, and give orders, conformably to your wisdom,

that the inquiry may be carried on with such impartiality

that he may not fall a sacrifice to the malice of his enemies

and the sizkar not suffer logs.

This pedtion was takeu into formal consideration by the

Council, cud, although exception was taken to its tone,

especially in the relere crgon, a decision was
made in favour of De rd to the substance.

Té was adimitted that i sv unjust to call upon

him to furnish ready-* twhen his property

was under distraint, in .d been kept in con-

finement ‘or some twely ur inore. It wag also

recognizes that the vi missioners as to his

presence being indisy wot be ignored. On

both fhess grounds, ¢ ded that Devi Sinha

might fu:nish security” abilities, ‘lwo sound

sureties were forthcors porsons of Cossinant

Baboo and Gerdher Saw.

Before he passed under the control of the Commission,

he was asked to explain how it was that Dereenwillah, ete.,

was ostab ished in Kungpore in 1188 and 1189. He replied

that he had werer authorized it; that, on the contrary, he

had done everything to prevent it; and explained that it

had wrisen from a collusive trinsaction of the zemindars,

who, in oder to appropriate themselves part of the public

revenue, lowered the rents of the ryots, while at the sume

time they clandestinely assessed upon them a Dereenwillah

equal to the amount of the apparent reduction.

As a great deal of the vase conjured up by Mr. Patergon’s

overheated imagination turned on the way in which signa-
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tures were obtained to the original agreement with the

ryots, the clear evidence of one Praun Roy, a local leader,

becomes of importance. After reading it, it will have

become quite clear how easily Mr. Paterson was misled by

the fact that some of the signatures of the Muchulka had

not been appended by the signatories themselves :

“‘Praun Roy in his examination deposes that, on the

complaint of the ryots to Mr. Goodlad regarding Dereen-

willah and Batta, the complaint was referred to the

arbitration of Lalla Manick Chund, who settled the demand

of Dereenwillah, atc.; that ho (Praun Roy) told the ryots

to give an agreement to that oftect 5 that some ryots

remained and signed the: nat some went away

and did not sign it; & who received deduc-

tions from 1187, wer the new ryots, who

received no deduction afied. That after the

agreement was signed some ryots and gave

the agreement to Raja ha, and told the Rajah

that the ryots agreed i s Dereenwillah, ete.,

and had given an ag ¢ purport, after which

the Rajah gave the r dismissed them. The

ryots who were noi ad not return to their

houses.” :

At this stage of the question Mr. Paterson's part in the

affair deserves notice. He was shown Devi Sinha’s latest

petition, and after reading it he penned a very angry reply,

in which, after alleging that “the Rajah made sundry

charges against him,” he styled him ‘an artful and

designing delinquent.” But he did not confine himself to

attacking the unfortunate Devi. He rated his own Govern-

ment in the following sentence: ‘Instead of being sup-

ported as the officer of the Government, the whole artillery

of accusation is turned against me by my very employers.”

The Government seem to have been quite frightened by

Mr. Paterson’s strenuous language and by his confident

assertion that ‘not an Englishman, not a native, does not
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believe in his heart of the existence of these oppressions

and of Devi Singh’s guilt.” His peroration reads: “ Can

the supporters of this mar t; hope to sereon his delin-

quency behind any w ity in me? Or will any

error of mine convin nig innocence ?” In

1784 the represents at India Company had

not become accusten ta the world at large

and the general public 4s the best way out of

the difficulty, it was d Mr, Paterson should be

allowed to po to Ra exceptional rights in

calling witnesses an ie evidence. In this

way, Warren Hasting ici! imagined that they

had got rid of a ne ay were mistaken, for

humouring Mr. Paterson eculd’ only be accomplished by

treading on other people’s toes. In plain words, the

Supreme Government had reckoned without its own special

Commission.



CHAPTER IV

THE CHARGES AGAINST DEVI SINUDA (continued)

Wuewn the Commissioners at Rungpore heard of Mr. Pater-

son’s intrusion on their domain, they wrote a very dignified

protest, and backed if up by a formal declaration that they

would adjourn their sittings until they received satisfaction.

They wrote: ‘We would only remark that his (Paterson’s)

request implies a severe ingingabion asainst the members

of this Commission, dics against Rajah Devi

Singh, and a disposi ad to ensure a cool

and impartial inquiry i ees of so serious and

solemn a nature.” st less emphatic with

regard to the Board ; gon’s being allowed to

attend, to call witnesacs dod ® tes is a grave reflection

on the dignity of the aod they then called

upon the Board to rey pagtment and meantime

The Board had na e «% comply. It humbly

explained its motives i dv. Daterson leave to

proceed to Rungpore, and left the Commission its full

liberty to hear him or not as it liked. The Commissioners

replied by saying that they were satisfied, and that they

would give Mr, Paterson the chance of not unduly inter-

fering with their proceedings.

Mr. Paterson had fallen foul not only of the Commission

but also of the Committee of Revenue, which only took

notice of his attack because “if it were treated with silent

56
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contempt” if might be construed into disrespect for the

Supreme Council. The Committee passed the following

scathing criticism on Mr. Paterson’s methods:

Tn proportion as Mr. Paterson found the charge against

Rajah Devi Singh enormous, his investigations required a

greater degree of accuracy. THe ought, we conecive, to

have been sensible that ex parte evidence in such cases

must be deemed imperfeet; he ought to have known that

muchulkas or penal obligations binding & man to prove a

fact even under the signature of a ecauzi, and attestation

of witnesses though they would be admitted as grounds of

a trial, would not even in actonvedurey Court of Justice be

deemed evidence suffi wai man of his fortune

or life; and that an & Justice, even with a

private conviction of th accusation, could not

upon such proof proce punishment due to

crimes of 30 great a mie

“The ooject of Mr. P

his investigations lnpe

support given by the

him collecting comple

nearly a year, when ge can no longer be

vindicated from the chat erfection, he shifts his

ground and attempts to justify himself by defamation.

Aware, however, of the objection to which his aceusation is

exposed, aftor stating tho pretended impediments, he draws

his inference in guarded terms, and asks, if labouring at

that time under so many dilliculties he was able to procure

evidence, what might ho not have done if he had been

supported ag the officer of the Government? This is the

language of insinuation, . . .

“As for his metaphorical expression of the artillery of

accusation being turned against him... it becomes a

pompous expression without meaning.”

On reaching Ruvigpore, Mr, Paterson gave himself airs

and assumed the character of a person of great importance,

without acknowledging

sh a belicf that the

Jevi Sinch prevented

and after the lapse of
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He received visits from the zemindars, and was presented

with nuzzer by them, which he touched. He also received

a visit from Ilurram, one of the principal witnesses against

Devi Sinha, and in his case not merely touched but took

his nuzzer. These highly improper proceedings were

denounced by the Commissioners, who pointed out to

Mr. Paterson that “these compliments are due only to

persons of the highest power and station.” Mr. Paterson’s

answer was that he would reply to this charge and vindicate

his own character when the Commission had decided

whether he was to have “the indulgence granted by the

Honourable Board at first in its fullest force.”

On second thoughts, bo *, he conceived it might be

wiser to make an at she indignation of the

Commissioners, and } ong letter beginning

with a disclaimer of to reflect on “ their

integrity and capacity. ag no change in the

tone of his remarks abou

as ‘a man whose gre

intrigue and chicansrg

other words, Mr. Pats

sion to investigate th fonounced Devi Sinha

guilty, and those whe @ : decide until they had

examined the evidence were denounced by him as his

abettors. Mr. Paterson was apparently afflicted with the

cacucthes seribendi, and allowed his pen to run away with

him, for his concluding remarks on the procedure of the

Commissioners were as offensive as they well could be,

and ill-caleulated to secure his ends. He justified his

receiving the deputation in a passage that clearly reveals

the manner of man he was :

for every species of

x8 to a proverb.” In

“T duly declare that I see no impropricty in my admitting the

compliment of a visit from the zemindars and Hurram after the

holidays; it was a duty they owcd me for having freed them from

the most grievous oppressions that ever were heard of in any part of

the world. You seem apprehensive of my influence ; it is the highest
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complimen: you can pay me, It is declaring to the whole world the

propriety and justice of my conduct.”

Mr. Paserson was a notoriety-seeker, a phenomenon in

the India of the eighteenth century.

He corcluded his letter with a further attack on the

Commission for allowing Devi Sinha certain privileges

incompat ble with “the various and high erimes for which

he is arraigned.” These were—

1. Allewing him to be attended by a suite of chubdars,

subahdars, ete.

2. Because his guard of sepoys did not fix bayonets.

3. Allcwing him to have a chair and be seated at the

same table as the Commi

The answer to the

Sinha himself, but bef

it may be as well to s:

Mr. Paterson was that

denes on our part with ¥

Here follows Devi Sin

his fair privileges :

“The Commissions

best given by Devi

? vebuiting statement

munissioners’ reply to

‘any further correspon-

"have lately informed

me that, in consequen sged by Mr. Paterson

to the Governor-General ed, they have been

pleased to issue an order to the following purport: ‘That,

understanding that at Devi Singh's interview with the

Commissioners on his arrival at Rungpore, they embraced

him and permitted him during his examination to sit down

at the same tablo with them, and to go about with a

sawarru of chubdars and subahdars, he is, therefore,

ordered to give answers, standing, to such questions as may

be proposed to him; for, as Devi Singh is accused of

having exercised many oppressions on the country, it is

necessary he should appear to the natives to be treated

conformably to the customs of a Court of Justice.’

“The Governor-General and Council are well acquainted

with tha hatred Mr. Paterson bears me, whieh alone has
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induced him to procure this order, as I never have sat

down at the same table with the Commissioners as above

alleged; but when the gentlemen are assembled they allow

me a chair at the distance of three or four cubits, where

the vakeels of the zemindars are stationed, that, being

confronted with them, I may appear in the light of a

delinquent. Whenever I am called upon I go up to the

table and answer whatever questions the contlemen propose,

or deliver in whatever papers they may have occasion for,

after which I retire and seat myself at a distance as before.

Whenever I am summoned before the Commissioners I am

accompanied by four or five hirearrahs, chubdars, and

subahdars, ete., to %} f nine men, and am

attended by a guard is is What Mr. Pater-

son has called going : sawarra. I beg leave

to suggest that since § been allowed to sit as

above mentioned, shou deprived of this indul-

gence it would be the # degrading me very much

in the eyes of my ae ‘ould imagine that the

Governor-General a iincensed against me,

The investigation is : the authority of my

accusers is in its full k ro T stand alone acaingt

the united efforts of ngs agied of all power, and

confined under a guard. ‘This inquiry, which inay alfect

my property and life, is of so delicate » nature that any

variation in the mode of conducting it may render it

difficult to distinguish right and wrong. I therefore

request that if if should appear on further inquiry that I

have not seated myself at the same table as the Commis-

sioners, but, according to theiv permission, sat at three or

four cubits distant from it, and that { have never been

attended by more than a few hirearrahs and always under a

guard, I may be allowed the indulgence of sitting as

formerly, for, should it be withdrawn, it would be a great

hardship to be obliged to stand, as the Commissioners

often sit till twelve or three o’clock in the afternoon.”
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There is a colloquial saying, “Throw mud and some of it

will stick.’ The Supreme Council had been impressed by

Mr. Paterson’s assertion that a certain state and freedom

had Leen allowed to Devi Sinha, and, wlile answering

Paterson, called upon the Commissioners to furnish an

explanaticn. The Commission sent in Devi Sinha’s petition

ust quoted. The Supreme Council passed the following

censure oa My. Paterson for his attack on the Board of

Revenue at the same time that they gave him permission

to return to the Presidency

“Ordered that the Bowrd’s Risples astra be expressed to Mr, Paterson

at the acrimonious terms used} Committee of Revenue ;

and he be informed, if he: expressions to charge the

mnemibors o° the Conia: uly uniarepresented and

supprossed his reports, + stice to the Comunitteo,

call upon him to produes 4 ore a charge, but at all

costs ¢ausu'¢ him for yuakis ‘tions.”

vaiisos GE the modera-

the impertinences of

iro whether it was

ope enough to hang

Tt is not very easy to}

tion of the Council in ¢

Mr. Pate:son, and «

influenced by the dcsi

himself ov by fear of tn nial at home. The

Conneil vould have best 8 own interests and

certainly in those of Warren {lastines to have smashed

Paterson at onee as a venomous fly

The folowmg explanation, given by the Commissioners

as to their reception of Devi Sinha, is not without its

amusing side, and deserves to be quoted:

“On the day of the Rajah’s arrival he came to Mr. Pete’s

house, and being under no restraint from his guards he

passed tarough the lial, and unexpectedly ran into a

private room where Mr. Pete and Mr. Douglas were sitting,

and emb:aced them, and sat with them at the table. On

his next uttendance, the Rajah was sitting in the hall, and,

upon Mr Pete’s entrance into the hall, the Rajah suddenly

ran up to him and embraced him, and also embraced Mr.
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Douglas, who followed Mr, Pete, and seated himself at the

table with the Commission,

‘The Commissioners in their situation were sensible of

the impropriety of admitting the Rajah’s embrace and

suffering him to sit at the table with them, and the next

time, when he advanced to embrace them, declined it and

ordered him to his chair. On his sitting down the Rajah

attempted to draw his chair near the table, but the Com-

missioners forbid him, and ordered him to sit further back

to the distance of about six feet from the table.”

Notwithstanding these admissions that, perhaps, too

much liberty had been asserted by Devi Sinha in the first

place, the Commissioners, ig their ground that he

was still, pending av it

of his rank, and the

indignity of an cscori,

The Council, being

the Commission to fix a.

sion of their labours, ay

sion replied that they

report by April, 1785.

At this stage, refare aie to the important

evidence supplied by Mr: Goudls Tt is especially interest-

ing in showing how and why Mr. Paterson had gone astray

in the reading of the facts and evidence at the beginning of

the controversy. Mr. Coodlad, it will be remembered,

was not merely incriminated by Mr. Paterson’s attacks,

but suspended from oflice pending a final decision on the

case. During all the preliminary stages of the affair he

had been refused a hearing, but at last, in November, 1784,

he was allowed to send in his formal replies to the charges.

It is unnecessary to quote any part except that bearing on

the main issues. He begins:

, the inquiry over, asked

te date for the conelu-

. why they should not

“Tt was with infinite concern I perceived that uncommon pains had

been used to propagate and establish a belief that Rajah Devi Sinjzh

had been guilty of the most shocking crimes; that every possit e
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attempt had been made to raise tho passions and arm the prejudices

against him ; that the acensation had been supplied by invention, and

declarations had been substituted for proof; and that the alleged

notoriety of the crimes was supposed sufficient to supersede the neces-

sity of further ovidence, although those crimes were of the deepest

Vie (sic), and of a nature to adiit of positive and specific proof. But

she investigution of these charges is now referred to a more impartial

tribunal, anc. I leave Devi Singh to his acquittal or condemmation,

remarking enly that nothing appears to me moro contrary to the

principles of humanity and to the fundamental Jaws of justice than to

influence the publie voice to prejudge and condemn him whilst under

trial.”

One of the charges against Devi Sinha was that he had

put a zerindar in confinement. Mr. Goodlad aftirms:

“Tt wag I, not Rajah # who ordered the zemin-

lar into confinement oot of delinquency.

... (tis still less pré jah Devi Singh would

have avowedly confined particularly at such a

yeriod, for exciting rye 8 of an exaction that

tad been positively forbic ich had been alleged as

one of the pleas for ih 3 It is not probable

that Devi Singh woal¢ ‘cach an insult to me

and my authority. 4% ¢, independent of the

explanations given, TM ned a refutation of the

charges. Permit me ‘eaiaralserve that if was upon

the grounds of this scusntion, transmitted by Mr. Paterson
in general jerms to the Comimittec of Revenue, that they

authorized aim to put Rajah Devi Singh into confinement,

and upon proof declared that they would order him down

to Caleutta; that | know of no proof that has boen exhibited

by Myr. Paterson in support of this charge, that I never

heard he had made any inquiry into it, and that I believed

it to depen on the bare assertion of the zemindar, and

that I concaive ij was Mr. Patorson’s duty tio have made

the fullest inquiry into this charge beforo he stated it as the

ground of an accusation of Rajah Devi Singh, and of an

attack upon my character.”

With regard to the charge that the Rajah had foreed the
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zemindars to sign unfair agreements, the followin , is con-

clusive :

‘“‘T called on the farmer (i.¢., Rajah Devi Singh) for his

engagements with the zemindars, and when I had obtained

them I called upon each zomindar separately to know if

his engagement was of his own free will, On the engage-

ment being admitted valid, I put the initials of n y name to

it, as I always do to any Persian or Bengal paper that I

examine, for the purpose of preventing the chang» of it and

as a memorandum that it has undergone examination.

said he was not responsible for the balance, as

Rajah Devi Singh had attached the Mehal by sending his

own people to make the iasked him if at the

time the Mehal was a3 any bal nce. He

said ‘Yes.’ I sent for sil Backey rnd found

it to be a sum of not i rnupeos. J told him

that Rajah Devi Singh } pted right, agreeable

to standing usage all ove try, to attach the Mehal

on a balance beng lnenz al this plea would not

exempt the zemindax werable for whatever

balance might remain & he year. The answer

Gungarrain made me ‘larly insolent, and 1

ordered him to be turned 3 ‘He cutehery, and should

have deemed myself justified in . inflicting a further punish-
ment upon him which his conduct merited.”

Mr. Patersou alleged that the insurrection was due to

Mr. Goodlad’s orders to Lieutenant MacDonald. Mr. Good-

lad rejoins :

“Tt is impossible you can form uny adequate idea of the violence

of tho insurgents. I had hourly reason with every other inhabitant

of Rungpore to apprehend that the Public Treasury, the town of

Rungpore, and the Company’s fuevory, would be attacked and plun-

dered, and we were under the necossity of taking moasures for our

defence. In such ao situation I presume necessity would justify the

orders [ gave to Lieutenant MacDonald.

“The conelusian of this charge is that, in conscquence of ny orders,

a busneah was hung, ... No busncah was ever hung. Lieutenant

MacDonaldjapprehunded a spy, who was executed,”
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Finall, , on the point of his having shown undue favour

and part’ lity to Rajah Devi Sinha by employing his brother

Bahadur Sinha, Mr. Goodlad wrote :

“Mr. Paterson asserts that I brought up with me to

Rungpore Bahadur Singh, Rajah Devi Singh’s brother,

that I thraw the district into the hands of many of the

Rajah’s officers, etc. ‘To this accusation, dictated in the

same spirt and with equal truth with many others, I shall

reply by f-cts. I deny that the district waa given to Devi

Singh’s o'icers; the whole of it, except , was leased

so the zeinindars. I arrived at Rungpore on June 5, and

Bahadur Singh on the 10th..of the same month. The

next day, the 11th, bast -Kangpore by my order,
and never returned z Paterson had, it is to

be presui.ed, finishe ns before Bahadur

Singh arrived, as on J ry day the man left

Rungpore by my ord ievson despatched his

second report on the di to the Committee and

requested leave to return

“Tf Bahadur Singh

impressed tho ryots

his departure within #4 tvs after his arrival

must instantly have re impression. It could

not affect Mr. Paterson’s investigation, because his request

to return fully proves that he deemed it completed.”

The Gevernor-General’s Council eae to the conclusion

that Mr. Goodlad had practically cleared himself from

Mr. Paterson’s charges.

Mr. Macpherson said: ‘1 think Mr. Goodlad’s defence

upon each and all of the charges strongly in his favour,

but before a final judgment can be passed on each charge

or upon tae whole case we should wait for the issue of the

Commission.”’

Warrer. Hastings went further: ‘I entirely acquit

Mr. Goodlad of all the charges; he has disproved them.

Tt was the duty of the accuser to prove them. Whatever
5

for a moment have

‘Devi Singh’s return,

fe
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‘crimes may be established against Rajah Devi Singh, it

does not follow that Mr. Goodlad was responsible for

them.”

But the exculpation of Mr. Goodlad carried with it the

disproof of much of the evidence on which the charges

made against the Rajah were based.

To return to the Commission, which, fully conscious of

the momentous nature of its task, was proceeding in its

investigations with due deliberation. The delay in re-

ceiving its report began to irritate the Government, and it

fixed a time limit for its existence. This, as a final act of

grace, was extended for one month, which would expire in

May, 1785. In the mea wiecession of disclosures

had put the Commi ack of the origin of

the insurrection. ‘Th jenarrain, the self-

styled nabob of the secured, and after a

brief incarceration otf ii he knew. Before

making a clean bress asked what he might

expect. But before the e got at there was to

be a deal of cross-swe paar rain, anxious only

to save his life, was

the more profitable for ‘Ai ona moment he was

willing to turn on the zoninidte et another he insinuated

that Devi Sinha had so far taken him into his confidence
as to inform him that he had bribed the Commission for

96,000 rupees. ‘The most extraordinary feature of the case

was that this really ridiculous evidence by a man trying

to save his own life should receive the slightest con-

sideration.

The new charges that were introduced by this witness

and others supporting him, for similar motives of self-

interest, entailed so much fresh inquiry that the main

issues became overclouded, and at last the extreme limit

of time conceded by the Government ran out, and the

Commission returned to Calcutta. They returned with a

vague charge hanging over their own heads of having
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succumbed to the temptation of a bribe of 96,000 rupees

from Devi Sinha.

Their ficst request was to ask the Council “to adopt

those measures which may be most effectual to bring this

charge to the proof. We, as members of this Commission,

expect and desire no limits or indulgence if this charge

should be proved against us in the smallest degree. On

the contrary, if the charge is proved, we require that we

may be dismissed from the service and branded with

infamy, as men guilty of perjury and the basest corruption.”

At the same time, Rajah Devi Sinha was again brought

down to Calcutta, so that the final scene shifts to the

capital. oe
The consequence o

of which it was allege

connivanve—for Doij

to him—-was that the Cr

report until their charact

alarmed at this progpes

nesses to Calcutta, ine]

With the principais :

enters Upon a new phase

seene with a voluminoug: é of so-called affidavits

and affirmations, which he had induced Mr. Moore, the
magistrate who had succeeded Mr. Goodlad at Rungpore,

to attest. Ife had set the Commission at defiance by

making his own inquiry, rallying to his side the zemindars

and their followers, and even by converting Deijenarrain

himself, despite strong locks and bars, into his tool, In

these documents not merely the Rajah but Mr, Goodlad

wero aguin charged with their old offences, and much more

in fresh and ampler detail. Mr. Goodlad wag the first to

enter his protest. Ho had been practically exonerated by

the Governor-General’s Council, and expected reinstate-

ment to his post. This new or revived attack threatened

him with a further postponement of his hopes. He wrote:

corruption, in support

‘son had given his

tions had been made

# declined to make any

betp cleared. The Council,

i all the principal wit-

rain himself.

“Calcutta, the matter

on reappears on the
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“At the time my conduct was referred to the investiga-~

tion of the Commissioners, and my honour and everything

that was dear to me lay at stake, that Mr. Paterson should

furtively, with Mr. Moore’s assistance and influence, collect

ex parte evidence against me while J am down in Calcutta,

unable in any shape to defend myself, and reserving the

delivery of these papers till the moment the Commissioners

are ready with their report concerning me, shows a degree

of personal enmity that nothing but my respect for your

Honourable Board prevents my expatiating on... . With

regard to Mr. Moore, | conceive that he assumed an illegal

authority in taking depositions or in any way interfering

with matters which wor of inquiry for a tribunal

erected under the 8

with respect to Rajai

The Government the

send in their report

the charges exhibited by

The report was gent in

the charges seriatim.

he Commissioners to

¢o far as it related to

rn against Mr. Goodlad.

41785, and deals with

hem need engage our

attention. The Com even more indignant

with Mr. Paterson th Had was, for he had

encroached on their avihors hey wrote :

“ We think it our duty to declare that we know not by

what authority Mr. Paterson did make his examination

and take depositions from the zemindars in the presence

of Mr. Peter Moore, the magistrate of Rungpore, or by

what authority Mr. Moore, as magistrate, could permit

Mr, Paterson to make such examination when both the

gentlemen well knew that a period had been put to

Mr. Paterson’s investigation into the cause of the dia-

turbances by the institution of a new Commission, acting

under the authority of the Honourable Board.”

One of the principal charges against the Rajah was of

forcing the zemindars to sign the agreement, and against

Mr. Goodlad of having been cognizant of the fact without



THE CHARGES AGAINST DEVI SINHA 69

taking any steps to punish or prevent this pressure. The

finding of the Commissioners on the point is important :

“ After a very tedious inquiry into the charge, in the

progress of which the gomastahs brought their vakeels,

mohrng, and all the officers of the zemindars’ amlah to

prove that their engagements were extorted from them, it

did not appear by any proof or consistent evidence that

force was used to make the Zemindars give these engage-

ments. Cn the contrary, it appears, by the depositions of

many of the public officers in Rungpore and other respon-

sible men in the district uninterested in the present dispute,

that the settlements were n «i from the zemindars’

gomastahs, but made al mode established

throughout the count

In plain words, the

been no exmpulsion. |

Another of Mr. Pate:

orders which he (Goodl:

put to death, their ho

called a basneah, or he

The Commissioner

disposes of one of the

proceedins :

“We must inform you that at that period the insurgents

had assembled, had murdered their amlah, had plundered

the eutchurry, were marching through the district in arma,

and by threats and intimidation, circulated by their letters

through the district addressed to the ryots of several pur-

gunnahs, exciting and conipelling the inhabitants of the

neighbouring districts to join them, until their numbers

had inereased to the most alarming degree. Mr. Goodlad

issued a purwannah to Mahomed Tukky, a man of respect

and consideration, to assemble his people, oppose the

insurgents, and assist Lieutenant MacDonald in quelling

the insurrection. Mahomed Tukky went after the insur-

gents, repulsed and dispersed them, and took Nundram

sided that there had

« was that “from the

hers of the ryots were

own, and that a man

was hung,”

# sensational charge

vit incidents in the
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and Sufdil, two of their ringleaders, prisoners, and led

them through the district, and exposed them with one side

of their faces whitened and the other side blackened.”

With regard to the financial arrangements for the farm :

“The zemindars paid their revenue to Hurram, and

Hurram paid the revenue to the Rajah... . After a very

strict inquiry by the Commissioners, it does not appear

that the Rajah himself ever received one rupee on account

of the 52,410 rupecs which he is charged with by Mr.

Paterson, ... Hurram does not charge the Rajah m

his Jumna Wassid with any receipts on account of Seway

Rozenamcha, but deposed,befeze the Commissioners that

the Rajah never receive « this account. From

the above explanatice je Board will be able

to decide upon the iference of accounts

between Mr, Paterson A a.”

With regard to Mr. eadure, the report of

the Commissioners ec more emphatie: ‘ Mr.

Paterson, in his reply fined himself to the

proofs of his charges | Mr. Goodlad, but by

various insinuations a% as resumed his inquiry

into the Rajah’s coudy Mr. Peter Moore, the

Magistrate and Collect Asiipore, and has passed

judgment upon tho Rajah even after your Honourable Board

had superseded his former inquiry by the appointment of

a new Commission to inquire into the conduct of the Rajah

at Rungpore.

“By the introduction of these depositions before Mr.

Moore, and opposition to the public inquiry carried on by

the Commissioners, there existed two Courts in the same

district at the same time, making the same inquiry: one

by the permission of Mr. Peter Moore, the Magistrate of

Rungpore, carried on by Mr. Paterson, the accuser of Mr.

Goodlad and the Rajah ; the other by a Commission estab-

lished by the authority of Government. ... Mr. Peter

Moore has not only exercised an extra-judicial authority,
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but permitted Mr. Paterson to eriminate Mr. Goodlad and

the Rajah by questions and depositions made before him

as Magistrate.”

The final paragraph introduces a subject of which more

will be heard :

“ We shall lay before you the conduct of Mahomed Jaffer,

who came up with Mr. laterson as companion to Rungpore,

went from thence to the city, and returned with the office

of Darogah to the Faujdarry Adawlut of Rungpore. One

of the xemindars, in his petition, lays a charge indirectly

against the Rajah, and directly against others in his

employ. for robbery and bich the zemindar says

we never inquired inte,

“Information was

murder had been ms

Faujdarry Adawlut. §&

Jadfer, the present Darog

the Faujdarry Adawlu'

ynurder, he, under var

of the records, mut:

Sin inquiry into the

then Darogah of the

Plieation to Mahomed

pies of the records of

ihe inquiry into the

delayed the delivery

iow to suppression of

the only deposition cculpate the parties

accused, and which it wa ihe Faujdarry Adawlut

from a bit of the records dciivered over to him when he

took charge of the Adawlut.”

li is refreshing to turn from the heated language and

bitter tongue of My. Paterson to the calm reasoning and

unimpsssioned words of the Rajah in the following state-

ment in his defence :

‘“The zemindars’ gomastahs say if they had not been

obliged to make unnecessary expenses they should have

paid the money so exponded in part of their revenue, and

their linds would not have been sold. 1 acknowledge the

truth and propriety of the declaration. But this applies

to the zemindars, und not to their gomastahs. The

gomas:ahs had the sole management of the business of

the zenindarg; therefore it is the interest of the gomastahs
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of the zemindars to make expenses whether necessary or

not for this reason. Why did the gomastahs make their

expenses? If if was done by order of Turram, why did

they not complain? If I had refused to have heard their

complaints, they might have complained to Mr. Goodlad ;

if he had refused to hear their complaints, they might

have complained at Caleutta. When they did complain to

me, I referred their complaints to arbitration,”

The Rajah was charged with ill-treating and unmercifully

beating an individual named Gungenarain, This is his

reply :

“On this day Gungenarein

one of the zemindars,<

Rajah Devi Singh

a whole night sense

Your Commissioners

for my reply to this ch:

* Gungenarain, the

one time they were ers

aud at another time

arising from the Iu

make their own setifon iaved so il that they

never punctually paid up : .. | received certain

information that it was the intention of the zemindars to
keep back their revenue for this year, and that they had

instigated, therefore, the ryots to rise; that had

given the signal to assemble the ryots at Kishoregunge

and other places, armed with sticks and other weapons

of defence . . . had set fire to Kishoregunge cutcherry,

plundered the treasure, with the effects belonging to the

aumlah of the cutcherry, taken away all the papers, and

that the zemindars had absconded themselves and wrote

to the ryots urging them on to the murder of Gour-

mohun....

** When the ryots received the letter of encouragement

from the Collector ... the Colleetor came down to the

Gomastah of Shabegpenand,

ved in a deposition that

that he remained

hope of recovery,

aged to call upon me

and ——, although at

fion of 27,500 rupees,

im lieu of the profits

snd were allowed to
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cutcherry, which was then held in my house. While he

was inquiring into the accounts . . . Gungenarain behaved

in a very impudent manner to him, and would not cease

although frequently forbid. ... Gungenarain, upon the

Collector's leaving, began to be very abusive, and made

use of many improper expressions. .. . IT endeavoured to

silence G-ungenarain, but he could not be prevailed on. Tt

occurred to me that many others might follow the example

of this man. ... In order, therefore, to terrify others, I

gave an order that Gungenarain should be beat, but it was

not meant to be put in foree. When verbal threats, how-

ever, hal no weight with him and ha would not be silent,

then I ordered the Neoze ive him a few strokes with

a rattan —a kind of d always over those

who are in balance tc their revenue. The

peons only gave ten or; with the rattan, and

your Commission raus ever in any part of

Bengal or Industan « & ioy Rozan, or latterly

any gentleman, has bee with the collections of

the country, that unig uur las been exercised

the revenue would ne alised, I had a trust

of this nature, and m was so far authorized

as to punish such peopl ithe Company’s revenue

or were dilatory in their payments. . . .

“T had nothing to do with the ryots immediately myself.

If these people were permitted to breed such disturbances,

plunder the country and abscond with impunity, others

would follow their example, and I therefore punished

Gungenarain. Your Commissioners will be pleased to

consider that in this I have done nothing that is not

customary. ... If] shall now be deemed culpable, your

Commission will then be pleased to consider that every

person and every gentleman who has ever had charge of

the collections is also in the same manner culpable with

me.”

At tlds stage a fresh and sensational turn was given to

hi
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the whole question. In November, 1785, Mr. Paterson

produced a man who swore that Mr. Pete had accepted a

bill of 70,000 rupees from the Rajah. Mr. Pete and the

other members of the Commission called upon the Superior

Council to investigate the charge and clear their characters.

But before taking up this fresh matter, the Council decided

to deal finally with and get rid of Mr. Goodlad’s case. It

was most anxious to have the Rungpore affair settled, as

it had been protracted far beyond its expectations. It

examined the whole of the charges against him, and passed

Resolutions upon them with the following conclusion :

“Agreed that Mr. Goodladdbe: irviormed of these Resolu-

tions, and be made a& ‘ef the Board consider

what he has alread: * the course of their

investigation as a sn for that part of his

conduct of which they 5 ed, and that he shall

be again employed wh Board find a proper |

opportunity for availing € of his services.”

Deijenarrain, the | ryots, their so-called

nabob, had been breu i to Calcutta as the

man who had started Mr, Pete had received

a large sum of monoy, a and his colleagues were

‘fin the power of Rajah oh.’ It was as good a

tale as could be invented to buttress up Mr. Paterson’s

charge and to get Deijenarrain out of prison. In the course

of his examination he declared :

“Rajah Devi Singh also wrote to me that the gentlemen

of the Commission were in his power. I have a copy of his

letter to me here, but the oriyinal was lost by the roof of the

guard-room at Rungpore jalling in. It had no seal or name

to it, but a mark which I understood to be Rajah Devi

Singh’s.”

Deijenarrain’s evidence is transparently valueless, and

the Council passed a resolution that “it was in no degree

direct, and only hearsay.” hoy also pointed out that in

the present case there is “no avowed accuser.”

4
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After some discussion it was decided to examine such of

the persons as could be found among those who had made

the alleyvation to Deijenarrain. At the same time the

Commissioners were ordered to send in their report on the

Rungpore insurrection without delay. This report conse-

quently was sent in in March, 1786, leaving the charge

against Mr. Pete in suspense. It was divided into six

parts. We need only quote here those parts which relate

specifically to Rajah Devi Sinha. The Commissioners

began :

“The importance of the investigation, and the horrid

crueltios stated to have be ofliated together with the

fullness of our instrue sovapelled us to make

the fullest inquiry, 9 & procure evidence
on the caarge to vind of the Government

and the Knglish name, ywoving such dreadful

accusations, or, if preyed, the perpetrators of them

to punishment.”

After this introductigt

‘The first charge is thi

or renta. beyond the sé

that point the Commis ct themselves to saying

that ‘no such assessment aa ED ad by Devi Singh was

ever levied from the country, and therefore we do not

imagine that the country could bear this increase.” This

verdict ig inconelusive and must be taken into account with

that on the latter part of the same charge alleging that the

Rajah “compelled the zemindars to sign engagements and

then confined them.”

Many of the zemindars were women and children, and

those wiio were men are deseribed as totally unconversant

with business. ‘lhey wore all represented by gomastahs or

deputies. If was with them that the Rajah transacted

business. A little examination sufficed to show that the

alleged confinement consisted in placing peons or mchussils

on their estates, but this, added the Commissioners, “is a

eos are taken seriatim.

inereased the Jumna

antry to bear.” On
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universal practice throughout Bengal on making a new

settlement, especially where a new farmer is appointed.”

On the charge of using violence the verdict was: ‘ It

does not appear by evidence that the gomastahs were

either beaten, or punished, or put in irons, or into confine-

ment, to make them give their engagements, nor by any

consistent evidence that any compulsive means were exer-

cised to induce them to give earlier engagements... .

To which we must add that by the depositions of ——

and it does not appear that they considered any

compulsion had been used to make the zemindars of

Rungpore enter inte thelr sngagements.”

With regard to the fi of sezawuls to make

collection on the z ‘a usual practice

when they fell inte « Raiah disclaimed any

knowledge of the tran he persons appointed to

act as sezawuls, and ii 2 316 deposition of Hurram,

delivered April 15, to b is own act without the

knowledge of the Ha . ab Dinajepore at the

time.” .

The general conclu mimissioners was that

no. charge of cruelty we ome to the Rajah, and,

indeed, that there was 5 sespect him of having

committed any such acts as were laid to his charge.

The Commissioners went on to explain that no one could

be got to take upon themselves the responsibility and risk

of getting in the revenue, unless they were invested at the

game time with some of the authority of power, adding

that the Rungpore zemindars had always had a bad name

as delinquents,and had never paid their revenue except

under compulsion. Moreover, none of the gomastahs,

when called upon to do so, were able to produce proof that

their lands seized for arrears of revenue had been sold at

an undervalue. In the case of Carjeshaut, when after great

pressure and several months delay papers were produced

they were found to be estimates, and not the original deeds
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and account-books. The estimates were also at complete

variance with the original complaints of the same people.

On the charge of having purchased some of the lands

which the zemindars had to sell in order to make good

their arrears of revenue, it was shown that the Rajah had

only bouzht a small portion of them, and that he had

always psid a fair price for what he purchased. Moreover,

these lands were not bought lor personal agerandizement,

but for religious benefactious through his Brahmin family

high priest. Under this head the verdict of the Commis-

sion reads as follows:

“lhe prices given for th

very fair; so far from,th&

they were sold at a pg

There dees not appe

transaction of the pur

With regard to the %

the Rajah, the Comnii

depositicn of Govin Ma

any other evidence, ii

that the Rajah had thi

so lands appear to have been

ty sold at an undervalue

ible to the zemindars.

‘ay compulsion in the

ands.”

cruelty brought against

ed that ‘except in the

that not supported by

r from any deposition

ve that such severities

were exercised in the fai the zemindars ever

complained to him on hes st Mungpore during the

year of the severities inflicted on them by Hurram. On

the contrary, the zemindars and ILurram declared on

February 16, 1785, that the Rajah did not interfere in the

management of the district for 1188. To Hurram only,

then, can the commission of these cruelties be charged.”

The Commissioners also found that the Persian translator

from the Bengali, relied on by Mr. Paterson, had in several

instances magnified trivial acts of no eriminality whatever,

into crimes of the highest degree. In other cases altera-

tions had been made in the depositions of important

witnesses without their knowledge or consent.

We come finally to the admitted cases of cruelty chiefly

in Dinajpore and not Rungpore. The distinction is neces-

Ln,
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sary because there was no insurrection in Dinajpore, and

also because the evidence showed that the infliction of

cruelty for the purpose of collecting revenue from defaulters

had long been in vogue in that part of Bengal. Indeed,

some of the practices read as if they had been borrowed

from ‘‘ Darkest Africa.” On this matter the Commission

affirmed ;

‘Tt will doubtless appear a matter of surprise as well as

of the greatest satisfaction to your Nonourable Board to learn

that the most dreadful of the cruelties had no existence.

But when your Honourable Board shall recollect the mode

in which these charges bav n brought forward the sur-

prise will cease, partic is considered that the

most dreadful char. from the voluntary

complaint of suffers redress and justice,

but from the deposits ‘and ——, men whose

misconduct had subjse her to punishment or

apprehension of puris therefore anxious to

shelter themselves unde usntion.

“We must further parties subseribing to

the complaints were i with the accused, nor

van we find that any & is ever made into the

charges subscribed ia a latitude, if not an

eacouragement for accusation, was given to the ryots with-

out fear of detection of a false complaint, and an oppor-

tunity presented to the ryots of evading, or at least of

suspending, the payment of the balance justly due to the

farmer by a representation of their suffering under such

unheard-of cruelties. Hourly experience proves that there

is no language of complaint which the natives will not

adopt to evade the payment of their revenue.”

We come now to that part of the Commission’s report

which was tantamount to the acquittal of Rajah Devi

Sinha:

“When the directions annually given by the Rajah on

the settlement, the Rajah’s compliance with the requests
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of the ryots, and the fact that no complaint of the infliction

of severities and cruelties was made to the Rajah, are con-

sidered, your Honourable Board must decide whether the

infliction of such severities was either with his approbation

or knowladge, and if such complaint had been made

whether l.e could not, as in the instance of ——, have

punished the offenders in proportion to the enormity of the

erime.

“ Justica obliges us to observe that we have not been

able to fix upon the Rajah any knowledge of, or consent to,

the infliction of such severities as have been proved, except

vipon Basdeo Doss and Ramnarrain, who were punished by

the order cf the Rashes ayression and plunder of

the ryots.”

In conelusion we

charge made by Mr.

cf having been bribed

that the matter could no

being the accuser, and 4

of informasion, the

dictum just expressed |

before Lord Mansfiold + |

“T did say what cormaion sindoxtictates, what the law of

every civili.ied state under [feaven prescribes, and there is

not a maxis of law to be fetched from any country or age

that contradicts, that the man who calumniates and does

not accuse deserves to be punished with exemplary

saverity.”

Mr. Paterson was « mere calumniator. The principal

object of his wrath was the Rajah, but those who inter-

vened uot to protect the Rajah but to ensure justice

passed undcr his displeasure. [First it was Mr. Goodlad,

but he, more fortunate than the others, was acquitted and

restored to his rank and post in eighteen months. ‘hen

he fell foul of the Commission itself, accusing Mr. Pete of

having taken a bribe of 70,000 rupees, and the whole Com-

nich the end of the

at the Commissioners

¥. Paterson, on finding

i with levity, disclaimed

he was only the channel

ry aptly quoted a

-CGeneral of the day
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mission of accepting 96,000 rupees from the Rajah. If this

charge could only have passed current for a brief space, it

would have nullified the effect of any decision the Com-

mission might have come to in favour of the Rajah.

Called upon to furnish proof of the serious charge he

had brought against the Commissioners, Mr. Paterson had

to admit that he had none, and the Council, now presided

over by the new Governor-General, Lord Cornwallis, passed

the following resolution :

“ Ordered that Mr. Pete be acquainted, in answer to his

letter, that Mr. Paterson has declared himself unable to

support the charge of bribery against the Rungpore Com-

Missioners, of which gk -aeknowledged himself,

when called on, to b of conveyance, and

that, it being otherwise ail with any proof, it

has been long considek ide, and ‘the parties

accused to be innoces Jleged against them.”

With regard to Raja ba, no similar decision

seems, from the records xen formally passed ;

but the favourable ac seszard to each of the

requests contained in sotitions show that he

was treated as an innac i whom the sericus

charges advanced by Mae hat s could not be upheld.

This was his first petition :

“JT have at ditforent periods had the honour to be

employed in the service of the Honourable Company near

five-and-twenty years, and faithfully and zealously adu ‘nis-

tered the affairs entrusted to my management. For elve

years that I was dewan of the province of Rajem wnd

Purnea I realized sixteen, and never less than * sen,

lacs of rupees per annum, and at the present , the

same provinces do not yield ten lacs to Governn . J

had afterwards, during eight years, the honour to holc the

station of dewan to the Provincial Council of Moorshedabad,

when the revenue was punctually paid, the cultivation

improved, and the people satisfied. A reference to the
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public recosds and to the testimony of the gentlemen under

whose authority I acted will authenticate the truth of the

assertion.

In the Bengal year 1188 I was appointed security and

dewan of the provinces of Dinagepore, Rungpore, and

Goragaut. This appointment I did not solicit or wish, and

in accepting it I conformed entirely to the pleasure of the

Honourable the Governor-General, Mr. Hastings, and of

Mr. Anderson, the President of the Committee of Revenue.

The Committee received engagements from me to pay in two

years near sine lacs of rupees increase upon the settlement

vl the preceding year o! I yunctually discharged

the revenus of the fs y lease--1188. The

inhabitants were cor the satisfaction to

receive letters from 7 ehly applauding my

good conduct, which jet y to be produced.

“In the second yea ge such abundance of

grain was produced as value In a degree that

the sale haidly detraye af cultivation. Owing

to this cause 1 was dlecting any revenue

eqtol to the amount « ots with Government.

Nevartheless, impres: i, sonse of attachment

to my empl yers and a recive to hiy character, I patiently

submitted to the loss, and punctually discharged the

revenue on account of the provinces of Dinagepore and

Goragaut up to the ond of Cheif 1189, In consideration

of th! great plenty of grain, I made large remissions of the

rent? .o the ryots of Rungpore, notwithstanding which

they even evaded the payments of the reduced rent and

rose" ’ rebellion, excited thercto by the zemindars, in the

hope of sirking their balances, as would appear from

authé ‘tic documents in my possession. Mr. Goodlad

transmitted a full account of these transactions to the

Committee of Revenue when Mr. Paterson was appointed

to investigate the causes of the rebellion, and in the mean-

tirae Mr. Goodlad, by his good management and prudence,

~
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quelled the rebellion, and the collections, which had suffered

a total stop, were again put in train.

“Mr. Paterson, on his arrival, protected the zemindars

and ryots, and led them to suppose that they would be

granted a remission of their balances, from the hopes of

which they were instigated to prefer complaints against me

to Mr. Paterson, who proceeded to the investigation of

these complaints, and to this end he directed me by letter

to cause the attendance of my farmers and of all persons

attached to my office, and likewise to furnish my accounts.

L obeyed Mr. Paterson’s directions, and he confronted me

for seven days with the zemindars, their gomastahs, and

thousands of other perge ; presence of Mr. Goodlad,

and compared witk & receipts, and Mr.

Patergon delivered ra my account, 50 com-

pared, signed by his savam. After this, on

the 18th of Bysaack, © * Calcutta, agreeable to

the orders which I had ra the President.

“My account reoaip only point to which

Mr. Paterson directec uring my residence at

Rungpore ; but wh: feise, on arriving at

Caleutta, to find thet vr) had transmitted a

number of petitions ts 28 jifieo, complaining of my

tyranny and oppressions. Mr. Paterson also asserted that
no balances were due to me by the zemindars, but, on the

contrary, I had collected a sum considerably above my

just claims. To such of the complaints as were transmitted

to me by the Committee I fully replied. Mr. Paterson

remained four or five months after me in Rungpore and

Dinagepore, and on his arrival at Calcutta delivered in all

the papers respecting complaints preferred against me, but

did not adduce a single proof in support of the said

complaints. He kept Sheik Mahomed Mullee in confine-

ment, for the purpose of instigating him to asperse my

character, and to induce his acquiescence therein he

promised his enlargement. I continued in Calcutta, with-
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out any further examination being made into my affairs,

for above a year. When Mr. Hastings went to Lucknow,

and the authority of Government devolved on Mesars.

Macpherson and Stubbs, on April 6, 1784, those gentlemen

ordered a guard to attach my person.

“The ccime for which I suflered this disgrace was

unknown to me, none being alleged. Another guard was

posted at the same time at my house at Moorshedabad.

My effects were sequestrated, and an inventory of them

ordered to be taken. . .

“Tafterwards learnt that three Company’s servants were

appointed Commissionars rocead to Tungpore, and

inquire into the complad d against me, and in

consequence thereof ated petitions to the

Tonourabte the Gove i Council, requesting

that I might attend thé iors, and be confronted

with roy accusers. . .

“A purwannah was 4

June 19, 1.784, directing

of 3,90,272 rupees, %

hand my zlaims shoud

this 1] replied that th i

having had a hearing te: whether If was just or

not, diseraced by an attachmont of my person, and denied

the right of being confronted with my accusers, I did not

admit the demands. In my conscience I had not been

guilty of any crime, but, on the contrary, had entertained

the strongest hopes, by my good conduct, of meriting

applause... . ‘That the demand of immediate payment

of all cliims against me, and the postponement of the

adjustment of those in my favour, were instances of my

ili-fortune. I appealed to their humanity, and solicited

that security should be taken, that £ might be permitted

to attend the Commissioners, under a guard, at Rungpore.

“T received a purwannah in answer, dated June 10,

1784, di:ecting me to give security for whatever balance

revaived by me, dated

iately to pay a balanee

me that on the other

a future period. To

rprised me, for, never
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should be established against me agreeable to the investi-

gations of the Commissioners, and that I should be sent

to Rungpore and remain there under a guard while the

inquiry lasted. Seeing expostulation vain, helpless, and

knowing my presence at Rungpore necessary for my safety,

I submitted to the guard as well as the security... . I

arrived at Rungpore on the 1%th of Badon, 1191, when

I was informed that the Commissioners had issued a

Proclamation requiring the attendance of persons who had

complaints to prefer and adduce their proofs, that justice

might be rendered. Notwithstanding which, no com-

plainants appeared; an ukea were despatched by

the Commissioners t sadance of witnesses,

and. the evidence ¢ messes so compelled

would appear in the t to establish my

criminality,

“J suffered various in

for Mr. Paterson obiiry

the Governor-General «i

be permitted to sit i

disgrace before the prs

a level with the means ple in a province where

a short time before i appeared “ina high rank and high

power. So situated, encouragement was held forth to

complainants, and if guilt had existed the proof of it could

not have been concealed.

“These indignities I suffered at a time when cireum-

stances favoured a presumption of my imnocence, for the

appointment of the Commission was oecasioned by Mr.

Paterson’s having failed in establishing the truth of his

accusations, verified by the following oxtract of the in-

structions of the Governor-General and Council to the said

Commissioners :

“«That Rajah Devi Singh denies the charges made by

Mr. Paterson against him for that year, which charges

Mr. Paterson has not made good.’

the course of the trial,

: from the Honourable

bidding that I should

6; thus I underwent

wl. I was put upon
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“Other means failing to authenticate the accusation

professed against me, the zemindars of Taipa and three

or four cther persons were instigated to depose before

Mr. Moors and Mr. Paterson that I had offered bribes to

the complainants not to appear against me. This served

to prolong the investigation and distress me, for the Com-

missioners suspended their proceedings until they examined

these depositions, when no proof appeared that I had ever

offered bribes.

“Mr. L'aterson, after the appointment of the Commis-

sioners, was not invested with any authority, and it was

forbid by the Tonour: able B that any persons who were

parties or witnesses ir ould hold any com-

munication either wit moe. Nevertheless,

Mr. Paterson, supporte ce of Mr. Moore, the

Collector, privately ree ald long conversations

with the vemindars ari Government at Rung-

pore. He talked in priv ram, my servant. I

represented these clren: petition addressed to

the Commissioners, ¢ the proof; but it

was returaed to me ex the signature of

Mr. Pete 1s ‘highly iv é received’ while the

suit was pending.

“Mr. Moore and Mr. Paterson in this manner secretly

took the depositions of Durigenarain and others, asserting

various matters highly injurious to the character of Mr.

Goodlad and me, and carried the said depositions along

with them. to Calcutta without even communicating the

same either to the Commission or to me, I represented

their conduct to the Commissioners, urging that the in-

vestigation of the’ complaints rested with them, and that

‘n taking depositions the said gentlemen acted without

authority and injured me. I requested that they would

inquire inso this matter, which they did, and it was found

that the depositions above alluded to were secretly taken

by Mr. Moore and Mr. Paterson.
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“From these facts I conceive myself justified in asserting

that circumstances of peculiar hardship have attended my

trial, and which I humbly submit to the consideration

which it merits when my case comes under decision.

“ Persons acquainted with the depositions of the natives

of Hindustan will readily be convinced that in my situation

complaints of the zemindars might have been easily excited ;

for, being indebted to me in considerable balance of revenue,

and having instigated the ryots to rebellion, to establish

criminality against me would be their only hope of evading

the payment of those balances and of averting punishment

for the murders and other asta of Violence committed by

them in the course of th: -

“ Conformably to

when the investigatio:

cutta, where I have no

During this period I h

to Mr. Maepherson, bur

into my conduct was

given bail, the guard «

solicited that a decisic:

drawn. ‘To these repre never could obtain an

answer. I continue in @ v6 ruin of my character,

separated from my family, and suffering irreparable injury

in my fortunes, unable to attend to my private concerns.

The extraordinary length to which my sufferings have been

protracted is above all vexatious, for it now exceeds five

years since my dismissal from office, and I have continued

in confinement and disgrace, and in fact have had punish-

ment inflicted, before proof of guilt.”

This petition produced no effect, and twelve months later

the Rajah repeated it in an abbreviated form, which need

not be quoted. Only then did the Council come to a formal

decision on the subject :

“The Board, having taken the above petitions into con-

sideration, are of opinion that whilst the cause lies over

Honourable Board,

I proceeded to Cal-

s one year and a half.

'y iransmitted petitions

senting that the inquiry

ded, and, although I had

smained. I earnestly

nd the guard be with-

ah
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for decision (which the constant business before the Board

may protract to some time longer), every accommodation

should be allowed the petitioner which is not inconsistent

with the purpose of justice. That they have no reason to

apprehend any intention on his part to fly from the event

of the trit.l, which indeed, if he were so disposed, he might

effect, notwithstanding the guard now placed over him,

with the same facility ay if he resided at Moorshedabad.

That in whatever manner the.drial may terminate, it cannot

be denied that the inc satiated to be suffered by

him are ral.

© Resolved, therefor

person be withdrawn

thereof two persons be al

to and watch his mover

hig family at Moorshed

whenever summoned

the bonds of his sac

rd of sepoys over his

£757), and that in lieu

ya the Khalsa to attend

ub he be permitted to visit

anpagement to return

pearance; and that

ned to him on his

delivering fo the Bass é sacurity to the same

amount in certificates, thority to appropriate the

same to the Company's use whenever the ordera of the

Governor-General in Council may be issued for that

purpose.’

Thus ended the famous inquiry into the events at

Rungpors, and all that can be said in conclusion is that

the acquittal of Rajah Devi Sinha, if it lacked the formal

decree of a Court or Supreme Council, was complete, for as

some alleviation of his sufferings the Government, a few

years later, raised his rank from that of Rajah to Maharajah,

and conferred upon him many khillats of honour.

Te



CHAPTER V

DEVI SINHA’S SUCCESSORS

Ragan Devi Srna lived for nearly twenty years after the

events described in the last chapter. He had nothing more

to do with the farming of the taxes, and he concentrated

all his attention on his own affairs. The Mogul Emperor,

Shah Alam, had recognized his jaghir as an independent

non-tax-paying Naj, and ian Government allowed

him to prosecute his 2 ‘several of his creditors

under his lease ag them, at least, was

an Englishman, who fo pay the sum he

owed. By this means &

had deposited with the. & for their claims, and

his reputation again st

officials that the Ma

him the higher title ay

several occasions he ws ure lands, in addition

to his hereditary “ Raj that the Government

might feel sure of receiving iis lurid tax.

The Maharajah, described in the official documents as

Zemindar of Hooddah Ekoory, died on April 18, 1805, and

as he left no children, his property passed to his brother

and that brother’s sons.

This brother was Rajah Bahadur Sinha Bahadur, already

mentioned. In February, 1779, Warren, Hastings had

recognized him as Rajah Bahadur. Bahadur Sinha had

also served the Indian Government very well, and was at
88

sarajah Bahadur, On
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one time placed in sole charge of its revenue department

in Bengal. He had also helped his brother on many

occasions, and during his years of trouble he had looked

after his family and estates.

He was also very attentive to his religion, and a great

patron of the Brahmins. He fixed his residence at Gaisabad,

where he erected a magnificent temple. The temple is

still there, but the presiding deity has been removed to

Nashipur, and is maintained out of the lands assigned for

the purpose by the Rajah. In this temple he consecrated

the deity Sri Sri Iswar Lukshminarayan Deb Thackur,

and thus for a time it seamed as if Gaisabad and not

Nashipur would be fa Raj. At that time,

Gaisabad was a place’ , full of commercial

activity, but if has si he Rajah’s temple is,

indeed, the chief meni : former prosperity,

and was the scene of ar ida festival.

Rajah Bahadur Sink ong survive his brother,

but, unlike him, he fof whose names were, in

the order of their birt Sinha, Udwant Sinha,

Jankiram Sinha. Be t may be mentioned

that Rajah Bahadur great reputation for

piety and gaintliness. Tt'wis dcelired that on the occasion

of his death by the holy banks of the Ganges (the Bhagirathi)

the bell of the temple, which he had founded and endowed,

began tolling sonorously and simultaneously with his last

breathings, and ceased at the very moment that the vital

spark quilted his earthly frame.

His eldest son, Hanumanta Sinha, died a few months

after his father, and before the termination of the period

of mourning. He therefore did not assume his hereditary

family title of Rajah. This omission was to have serious

consequences, for it might have diverted the hereditary

honours from the senior line of the family.

Hanwumanta left one son, named Kissan Chand, who was

a child of tender years at the time of his father’s death.
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This gave his uncle, Udwant Sinha, the second son of

Rajah Bahadur Sinha, the chance of coming forward and

posing as the head of the family. He seems to have

impressed the English superintendent of Nizamat affairs

at Murshidabad with the justice of his claims, for he

addressed the following letter to Calcutta :

To J. Monckton, Esq. Persian Secretary, Fort William.

Sir,

I have the honour herewith to transmit an arzee from Baboo

Oodwunt Sing to the address of the Governor-General, presented with

a nuzzur of five gold mohurs ; a leticr to your address from the same

person is also enclosed.

The family, rank, and p

him, I believe, to be

himself direct to the Go

Rajah Bahadur Sinha, 2

Sinha, The object of his bh

on him the title of Rajah,

without the sanction of His

it. Should His Lordship b

Rajah, I should be happ:

Khellaut on the part of 4

articles composed.

: cf Oodwunt Sing entitled

eut occasion to address

e is the son of the late

sain of the Rajah Devi

ition is to have conferred

nor was distinguished, but

uthority he will not assume

eanfer on hin the title of

aw instructions whether a

40 be given, and of what

T have, etc.,

MuRsHIDABAD, T. Brooke.

March 18, 1812,

The following is the text of Udwant Sinha’s letter enclosed

with the above:

My forefathers having been connected with the British Government,

aud having enjoyed distinguished inarks of its consideration and

favour, I take the liberty of stating to Your I.ordship, who is tho

pitron and protector of its devoted adherents, the circumstance of my

case. It has been my cruel fate to be deprived of my respected father,

the lato Rajah Bahadur Sing, an event which has overwhelmed me

with grief and sorrow. Tho charge of providing for all his family and

dependents, which is a heavy trust, has devolved on me; and as in

this forlorn and friendlcss state I huve no protector but Your Lordship,

whose kindness and favour, like the raya of the world-illumining sun,

are extended to all tribes and nations, I humbly beg leavo to express

roy hopes that I shall enjoy the same marks of distinction as were
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enjoyed by my ancestors, and that 1 shall be enabled to live respected
and honoured among my peers and equals, and to support the name

and rank cf my family.

As a toxen of my attachment and respect, I transmit a sealed bag

with a nuzzur of five gold moburs, which I beg Your Lordship to do

ine the ho.our to accept.

To say more would bo to transgress the bounds of respect.

The raference in this letter to his responsibility for his

father’s family and dependents conveyed the idea that he

was his heir and representative, and it was on that assump-

tion thut Government complicd with his request. The

language of the official letter is clear and leaves no loophole

for misiaterpretation. Lt icliows :

To DT. Brooke, Esq. Neaamut Affairs at

Sir, :

Tam directed to 2

March 13, transinitting 4

Honouruble the Govorn

offering of five gold mokus

guished by the title which

Rajah J ahadur Sinha.

The liritish Government hi the privilege of granting

titles, bo titis at all times rend § cdlge independent hereditary

titles. The title of Rajah, however, hus been in the family of Oodwunt
Sinha for several generations, and the Governor-General in Council,

supposing thal Qodwunt Sinha ts the eldest son of the late Bahadur

Sinha, and, consequently, the representative of the family, wuthorizes

him to assume bis father’s title, As a public acknowledgmont of

Oodwunt Sinha’s new dignity, His Lordship in Council is further

pleased to confer on hin she distinction of u hellaut, which, according

to the cnelosed list, will be transmitted to you through his agent, and

on its urrival at Murshidabad you will be pleascd to invest Oodwunt

Sinha with it on the part of the Government in due form.

I ara directed to transmit to you the enclosed lettor from the

Govornor-Goneral to Oodwunt Sinha in reply to his to the address of

His Lordship, together with copies of it in the English and Persian

languages for your information.

“yeecipt of your despatch of

Yodwunt Sing to the Right

rese, accompanied by an

solicitude to be distin-

: deccased father, the late

I have, ete.,

Fort Wi.uiam, J. Monexton.

August 14, 1812,
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Enclosed in Mr. Monckton’s letter was the following

communieation from the Governor-General :

To Rajah Oodiwunt Sinha, son of the late Rajah Bahadur Sinha.

I havo received your letter unnouncing the death of your father, the

late Rajah Bahadur Sinha, which has oceasioned concern in my mind.

I entertain a high sense of your loyalty and attachment towards the

British Government, and T consider the nuzzur which accompanied

your letter as proof of both; but the aceeptanee of pecuniary offerings

being contrary to the practices of the British Government, I return

your offering.

You may be assured that, as long as your conduct is regulated by the

principlos of fidelity and attachment, you will expericnce the favour

und protection of this Government. Asa testimony of my favourable

disposition towards you, I have ted Mr. Thomas Brooke, Super-

intendent of Nizanut g “you in my name with a

Khellaut on the ogcasion aso and of your accession

to his title.

J. Monexron,

August 14, 1812.

the existence of Kissan

ag well.

tedly a very clever

ty possessions. The

n from a work entitled

and Native Chiefs of

This letter not merely

Chand, but of his fath

Rajah Udwant §

man, and greatly incré

following description of

‘“Nomenclature of Native

India”:

“Rajah Oodwunt Sinha Bahadur, son of the famous

Devi Sinha (an error for nephew), of Mr. Hastings’ time, is a

principal person of Murshidabad, Ile has immense wealth

and large commercial dealings, and has besides by purchase

at private sales possessed himself of extensive estates in all

parts of the country but chiefly at Murshidabad.”

Rajah Udwant Sinha enjoyed his honours throughout

his life without being disturbed in any way, and he was

almost as well known for his religious zeal as for his

wealth. He made several pilgrimages to the Baidyanath

Temple among other places, and it is curious to read his

owers
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correspor.dence with the Governor-General on each of these

occasions, and his obtaining permission to travel with two

hundred ‘ollowers, and to be exempt from all custome’ duties.

In 1816 he removed the Rajbati of his family from

Gaisabad, where it had been fixed by his father, to Nashipur

(then spolt Naseepore), and he also made large endowments

and provided in perpetuity for the attendant Brahmins.

The entry on this subject in tha Government record is:

“ Rajah Oodwuant Sinha, an opulent banker of Murshi-

dabad, ¢ot the Governor-General’s permission to donate

houses and land in Caleutta, and a sum of money, pro-

ducing together an annun! r ure of 24,000 rupees, for the

purpose of supportin ining the temple and

rites of Raghonath J ashipur) the ‘Thacoor-

baree of Ruma Byco

This endowment w

cost of the temple itsel

building. The temples

sixty fest above the flog

five steoples topped wi

ninety :eet above th

{ from the enormous

‘ribod as a splendid

i with a central dome

namented with twenty-

d minarets which are

nashin, or arch, is in

masble, and there is no tore iniposing temple

to be found in Bengal. @ ascerated the presiding

deity of the family, Sri Sri Iswar Raghunath Deb Thacoor.
In addition he also founded and endowed various minor

temples, and he also granted many Brahmatie lands to the

Brahmins.

But his charity was not restricted to the Church, and he

had the reputation of being a general philanthropist. The

followiag story about him is not uninteresting :

On « certain occasion & poor Bralimin applied to him for

help to meet the expenses of his daughter’s marriage,

which in Bengal is always very great, and sometimes

involves the family in ruin. At the first application the

Rajah, thinking it adequate for the case, gave him only

5 rupees, but the Brahmin was not at all satisfied with it, and
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yet he was somewhat at a loss how to induce the Rajah to
grant more. But he was at a still greater loss how to
defray the enormous cost of giving his daughter a suitably
splendid wedding.

Watching his opportunity, he at last saw the Rajah
bathing one day in the sacred Bhagirathi, and approaching
him hurriedly with clasped hands, he implored him to give
him a further contribution of a substantial amount. The
Rajah took pity on him, and asked what he wished him to
pay, suggesting himself “ pachsat san ” (five seven hundreds
of rupees) ? The Brahmin replied “ ‘T'ath wastee ” (so be it).
The Rajah, on his retur his residence, ordered the
Treasurer to pay him the

vant Sinha was not

S day in India, but he

: somindars of Bengal

‘ert of their affairs, and

nm difficulties. Udwant

pindary system, which

r words, he suceesded

to the owner and the

merely one of the rick

was also an excellent }

were notorious for the

they were always more

Sinha introduced an ent

is still the model of Be.

in making the land »

State. He was thus doi “to the Government, for
he supported its policy, air : n example to others.
Udwant Sinha also co-operated with the Government in

other ways, and when the local Rajah of Rewah rose in
insurrection he was called upon to send his forees to aid
the troops operating against him in the following official
letter :

The faithless and hostile conduct which the Rajah of Rewah has
lately pursued, having dissolved tho relation of friendship between the
British Government and the Rajah, has compelled the British Govern-
ment to resort to arms for the security of its righta and interests.
{am satisfied of your disposition to avail yourself of every oppor-

tunity of proving your attachment and devotion to the British Govorn-
ment. The object of this Perwana, therefore, is to desire that you will
conform to whatever requisitions you may receive from Captain R :
either for the junction of your troops with his detachmont for the
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purpose of »eing employed in the operations to be undertaken against

the Raja of Rewah, or for the continuance of your exertion in defending

the passes through your country from any incursions which may be

attempted hy the Pindarries during the absence of the British troops.

The exertion of your voul and fidelity on this occasion will confirm

the high opinion which I entertain of your character, and will secure

to you the aspecial favour and protection of this Government.

Yours,

J. Monexron,

Udwant Sinha took a very considerable interest in foreign

affairs, «nd when nows reached India of the exile of

Napoleor to Elba, and the conclusion of the long war in

Kurope, be wrote a letter of abrdation to the Governor-

General, to which he, owing reply:

ion at the news of tho

party ab the hands of the

: British Government, and

{ these victorious personages
containing other good news,

has greatly increased my

nd favour-secker of the

maequently the said good

ster satisfaction to you.

dgrwarding of a present, being

» Hiverhein the causes of very great

Your lester expressiz

defeat of the ruler of fr

victorious heroes and pa

your wish for the hoalth an

and of ths illustrious Gover
and forwarding presenis

happiness, Whereas yor

high and illustrious Bri

news must surely have bea

The expression of satisfacti

mere tokens of your good W

satisfacticn to mo.

T have accepted in mind the present sent, but, according to the

custom of this Government, it is remitted.

it is proper that, considering me your constant well-wisher, you

should reader me satisfaction by writing me your good news. What

more shad 1 write ?

G. Nucent,

October 28, 1814, General.

Anotiier instance of this intelligent interest and goodwill

was furaished when the Marquis of Hastings brought the

Maratha War to a successtul issue at the close of the year

1818. The Rajah wrote a letter of congratulation, accom-

panied by the usual formal present to the Governor-

General, and received the following reply :
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On receiving the news of my return with victory and peace from

my journey to the North-Western Provinces, tho letter with the well-

wishing present which you have sent cxpressing your great satisfaction,

and containing other expressions of your devoted loyalty, has renderec

me great satisfaction. The said news might surely be the cause of

greater satisfaction to you, considering the lasting loyalty, esteem, and

affection which you have towards this Govermnent.

2. The well-wishing present and the oxpression of your satisfaction

indicate your loyalty, and consequently have beeome the cause: of

greater satisfaction tome, The presonts seui are accepted and touched,

but remitted according to practice. Considering me your constant

well-wisher, you should continue to please me by conveying to me the

news of your welfare. What more shall 1 write?

Hastines,

February 12, 1819,

Not long after theg

taken very ill on one:

seems to have imagain

wrote the Governor-Cx

follows. It is chiefly

mentions his giving over

Chutter Sahee, and yets

wi Udwant Sinha was

jilgrimages, and he

cud not recover, for he

rewell letter which

w for the fact that if

3 to his eldest son, Lal

his death he left, as we

We must, therefore,

edeceased him, which

{ adoption shortly before

yessed to Lord Amherst

led to hig making uae of,

his death, in 1832.

read :

From Rajah Oodwunt Sinha. Recetwed December 6, 1822.

After Compliments.

Your Lordship must have been informed by the letters of the

officer commanding the battalion of Hazareo Lagh of my fidelity,

obedience, and attachment to the Company, and I have taken the

liberty of addressing you on my own afluirs, as I consider myself

solely under your protection. In the month of September I set out on

a pilgrimage to Gaiyagu, where I arrived in good health, and I greatly

relieved myself by the performance of the object of my journey. On

the approach of the Doorgah Poojah, I paid a visit to Maharajah Sirdat

Nath Singh, Zomindar of the pergunnah of Ramgurh, at Feehuk, in

the Zillah of Ramgurh, I had intended a few days, after I had paid
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a visit to she officer of Hazaree Bagh, to have returned home, I

unluckily |.ave fallen so ill at this place that I have no hopes of

recovery, aid, inasmuch as this life is transitory and perishable, what

ause of assonishment is there if the thread of my existenca be cut

short? This being the case, I hope that Your Lordship will look with

kindness upon my eldest son, Lal Chutter Sahee (who has arrived at

he age of manhood, and is vory clever, and into whose charge,

previous to my departure, [ gave all the business of my zemindaree

and of my house), so that ho may be prosperous under the effect of

your favour, and, having confirmed him in the possession of the lands

of the zemindaree, he will always be employed in praying for your

prosperity.

avs after this letter, and

; he adopted, as he

am Chand, the son of

iz, There appears to

ption having been fully

i, but the point is not

1 is chiefly concerned

back into the elder

Udwant Sinha lived

his male descendants’

had full right to de,

his younyest brother, J:

have been some doubt 5

completed at the time of

very material to our 1a

with shoving how the

line.

Udwar.t Sinha was und Inver man, but he had

got his title surreptitiously y concealing the fact that
his elder brother had left an heir. The Government had

recognized him as Rajah simply and solely because he was

believed to be, and accepted as, the head of his family.

During his life he was probably too powerful and too much

feared for anyone to let out the facts, but after he was dead

there wa3 no longer any restraint, and the intention of his

adopted son, Ram Chand, to claim the headship of the

family brought the rightful heir to the front. Kumar

Kissan Chand, the eldest son of Hanumanta, the eldest son

of Bahadur Sinha, appeared on the scene. The story is

told in the following letter :
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To G. Swinton, Esq., Chief Secretary to Government, Fort William.

SIR,

T have the honour to forward two arzees from Kumar Kishen

Chund—one to the address of the Right Honourable the Governor-

General, the other the Honourable the Vice-President, The object of the

Kumar is to obtain from Government the confirmation of the title of

Rajah Bahadur, which has been for several generations in the family of

which he considers himself the represontative. It will be seen by the

accompanying sketch that he is the son of the cldest son of Rajah

Bahadur Sinha, who died in 1811.

2. On the death of Rajah Rehadur

son, Hanumanta Sinha, fo ste

vived his father from nia

to have beon made by hii

nor is it, I believe, usual tc

on his death Mr. Brooks

Baboo Oodwuni Sinha, the

the death of their father, Rajkt

self the title, passing over

existence, of his infant ne

was pleased, on August {

to assume the title, sta

Sinhs, the right of his eldest

mt undoubted. He sur-

No application appears

so obtain his investiture,

period of mourning ; but

fovernment a letter from

numanta Sinha, reporting

tha, and soliciting for him-

a the claim, and even the

§ npplicant. Government

Oodwunt Sinha’s right

ever, that his right was

recognized on the suppositich'tht wae the eldest son of his father

and the representative of i E voust conclude the Super-

intendent of Nizamut afiairs was ignotant of the existence of a child

whose rights would appear incontestable, for on Octobor 31 he reported

to Government his having conferred on Oodwunt Sinha the Khellat

of investiture, stating distinctly that he was the representative of the

family.

8, Previous to his death, Rajah Oodwunt Sinha had determined to

adopt Ram Chand, the son of his youngest brother, deceased. It is

denied by the present applicant that the adoption was completed ; but

he urges that, if it were, Oodwunt Sinha could not transmit to an

adopted child a title the recognition of which he had himself obtained

only by « fraudulent conecalment.

I have, ete.,

Mursuiwawap, YT, WW. A. Corns.

January 2, 1882.



Tis teres preege Ue,
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TRANSLATION OF AN ARZEE FROM KUMAR KISHEN

CHUND TO THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL.

Recewed January 4, 1882.

Rajah Devi Sinha, elder brother of my grandfather, Rajah Bahadur

Sinha, having come from the Uppor Provinces to reside in the city

of Moorshedabad, was invested by the British Government with an

honorary robe and tho title of Rajah Babadoor. He was sueceeded by

my grandfather, Rajah Bahadur Sinha, to whoin the favour and kind-

ness of the British Government was similarly extended. Rajah

Bahadur Sinha died leaving three sons, Hanimant Sinha, my father,

being the eldest, and Oodwunt Sinha and Jankuram Sinha, my uneles,

the second and third. My father dicd a few months after him, leaving

me a mere infant.

On account of his being

Oodwunt Sinha, received §

ing to the custom of 4

honoured with the friend

He is now dead, leaving x

Aceording to the usage o

the control of all their dom

cte,, rest and remain in rae,

trust to Your Lordship’s ki

observed towards my ax

with the robe and title, &

exalted in the eyes of my ¢

ne senior, my uncle, Rajah

af Rajah Bahadur, accord-

end of his lifo he was

of the British authorities,

ounger brothers his heirs.

i headship of the house and

3, the hereditary zomindary,

ative and chief. I therefore

oniormity with the custom

ronoured by Your Lordship

shall be aceredited and

a

Kissan Chand wag, of se ily recognized, but the

Governnient, rendered a little cautious by the fact that it

had been imposed upon, took several precautions, and,

among other persons, wrote to Ram Chand to inquire

what he had to say about it. Lis reply was as follows:

Your very kind letter, dated April 16 of the present year, men-

tioning that my eldest brother, abu Kishon Chund, had prosented an

arzee to be submitted to the Right Ilonourable the Governor-General,

stating thes he is the eldest son of Hannmant Sinha, and that Hanu-

mant Sinha was the eldest son of Rajah Bahadur Sinha, and that

Rajah Baladur was the brother of the late Rajah Devi Sinha Bahadur,

with the hope of obtaining the title of Rajah in consequence of his

being the representative of the family, and for me to state whether

this statement was correct, and to mention the grounds of objection,

should I ave any, has been duly received, and with the tenor of

which I heve been duly informed.
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To the application made by my eldest brothor [ have not the

slightest objection, nor is the statoment furnished by him in any

degree objectionable; however, aa my late father, Oodwunt Singh

Bahadur, bold a title, I think myself entitled to the same indulgence

from the British Government.

Although Ram Chand in this letter feigned to be satisfied,

he was really nothing of the kind, and resorted to all kinds

of low intrigues to get the better of his cousin and to

appropriate as much of the property that rightfully belonged

to the head of the family as he could possibly secure.

The opinion held in Nashipur itself was that Ram Chand

was an intriguing and most unprincipled man who would

atop at nothing to secure bis.ends. His one idea was to

receive for himself the.g tothe Raj, and with this

object in view he ins ii and even criminal

actions against his ¢ issan Chand, both at

Murshidabad and Cal al of the State and

valuable jewellery beion: Baj were retained and

concealed by him.

He even resorted io §

he based action in

decrees favourable to k

these measures, he car | concealed for a long

time Kumar Udoy Cha shand’s younger gon,

but the climax of his conduct was to institute a criminal

action against his cousin in the Caleutta Tigh Court. In

the end, all his charges were refuted and his schemes

collapsed. Under all the circumstances, Kissan Chand

behaved with great generosity in agreeing to a compromise,

by which Ram Chand was assigned one pargannah for his

support in settlement of all his claims. The Government

ignored his application for permission to use the title of

Rajah.

The following is the official letter signed by Sir Charles

Metcalfe, recognizing Kissan Chand as Rajah Bahadur :

Your arjee (application), containing many thanks and praises for

your haying obtained the titles of Rajah and Bahadur, and praying

‘gine deeds, upon which

i on some of these

de. Not content with
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for a stnnud and khelat concerning the same, and containing also

manifestations ‘of loyalty to the Sovercign and other matters, has

reached me and laid before my eyesight, and the matters therein

contained made known, The thanks and praises which have beon

expressel, having manifested abundant loyalty and well-wishes to the

Sovercign, it has given me greatest satisfaction,

Whortas your ancestors were specially connected and related with

this Raj Sircar, which is the abode of highest dignity, a set of Khelat

dress is sent for you through Major Cobbe, It is proper that you

should sonsider the same as your greatest benefit, that you shall

thereby adorn your body, whieh is filled with loyalty to the Sovereign,

and shell for ever be engaged in wishing well to this Maj Sircar,

which is the abode of the highest dignity. And whereas it is not

necessary for a separate and new sunnud for the title, this letter will

be abuadantly eficucious for the sunnud of this title. What more

is to be written? :

C. T. Mercars.

December 8, 1882,

‘ oecupied with the

roceedings that he had

ters. He was suddenly

0, leaving his immense

Sinha. At this time,

administered directly

by its Rajahs and with nes of an independent

atate in it. The jagh juries, and pargannahs

acquired by Devi Sinha and his brother, and added to by

Udwant Sinha, passed practically without diminution into

the possession of Kirti Chand Sinha,

At the time of his father’s death Kirti Chand was a

minor, and it was only on November 16, 1852, on reaching

his eighteenth birthday, that he was recognized formally

‘as Rajah Bahadur at a special Durbar held for the purpose

by the Governor-Goneral’s agont at Murshidabad. But

Kirti Chand was given to pleasure, and, departing from the

traditions of his family, neglected his business and allowed

himself to be swayed by evil counsellors who thought only

of their own interests. In a foolish moment he consented

to the sub-letting on permanent leases of his numerous

Rajuh Kissan Chi

litigat:on arising from

little time to attend to

carried off by cholera in

estate to his eldest sox

the Nashipur Raj wa
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vemindaries in Murshidabad, Birbhum, Rajshahi, Malda,

Pubna, and Bogra. This step was taken in what is known

in Bengal as the Patni fashion, under the provisions of

Regulation VIII. of “But unfortunately for the
Nashipur Raj the rex 3 far lower sum than

they ought to have was any adequate

premium paid at the % « the leases. Among

the tenants of Nashipn wab Nazim of Bengal,

Behar, and Orissa, and % the most distinguished

zemindars of Bengal, and orig representatives still

pay their rents for £3 dg into the Nashipur

treasury.

Having been the # House to diminish its

importance, Rajah Kirti 6d im 1804, at the early

age of thirty. After his d , and during the minority of
Ranajit Sinha, the management of the family estates and

affairs was taken over to their great advantage by the

Court of Wards.



CHAPTER VI

DESCRIPTION OF THE NASHIPUR RAJ

In order to exactly appreciate the position of Nashipur, it

is necessary to begin by saying something about Murshid-

abad, the district in which it is placed. Murshidabad, the

former capital of Bengal, was, at the time that Devi Sinha

established himself in that provinee, ene of the finest and

most prosperous cities iv Dankers of the famous

Seth family were the as of the Mast. Its

streets were lined w 8 all the Englishmen

who visitad it in the tury descanted on ita

splendou:. In 1759 Cis £8 being as extensive,

populous and rich aa Le i: dadividuals possessing

infinitely greater prope. :¢8e in the linglish

metropol.s. It is sis agirathi, one of the

seven channels of the A river sacred among

the IIindus. The follow? » legendary story of the

river : Pe Se

“Naja Sagar of Ajodhya, who lived in pre-historic days,

desirous of performing the great sacrifice of the horse, had

entrusted a beautiful animal with his gon Asamanja, which,

however, was stolen by Indra. Sagar ordered hig 60,000

sons to search and find out the horse. In their errands
they entared subterraneous regions where the fire of the

wrath of Basendeva, disguised as Kapila, reduced them to

ashes. [or their salvation Suparna, a maternal relative

of the family, suggested oblations with the water of the

108

co
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Ganges, which was then in Heaven. Bhagirath, the great-

great-grandson of Sagar, after one thousand and one years

of austere supplication, succeeded in propitiating Brahma

and bringing down the Ganges, which flowed in seven

streams, one of which followed the car of Bhagirath, who,

bent upon effecting the salvation of his great-grand-uncles,

proceeded sounding his gong-shell to the regions under-

neath where they had perished. This stream thence

became known as the Bhagirathi, possessing great sanctity,

and credited for centuries without number as the great

purifier of sins and the saviour of the fallen.

“Apart from this prehiets rigin, the Bhagirathi is

said to represent th: € the Ganges, which

latterly took an east ormed what is now

known as the Pudma, ¢ x eub off the principal

cities in Lower Beng: # viver, which was the

great trade route thr the treasures of the

country found their w pean marts, to a petty

stream barred here and d-banks. In facet, the

whole course of the 1 id the Bhagirathi from

the Himalayan Mc ea (Gangasagar) is

regarded by the Hinds ad river Ganga. Most

of the principal towns in ‘Northern india are situated on its

banks, such as Hardwar, Allahabad, Mirzapur, Benares,

Patna, Monghyr, Bhagulpur, Murshidabad, Berhampur,

Cutwa, Culna, Santipur, Hugh, and Calcutta. It is said

that Surajud-Dowla, apprehensive that the English would

in their ships-of-war pass up and down the river, caused

immense piles to be driven into its bed, which facilitated

the silting up of the river.”

Murghidabad is consequently situated in the centre of

holy territory in the eyes of the Hindus, but it owes its

origin to the Mahomedans, for there seems no doubt that

it was founded in the reign of Akbar. We have seen how

Tarawan, the earliest known ancestor of the Maharajah of

Nashipur, was drawn irom Bejapur to Umballa by the
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attraciion of its holiness as a place of pilgrimage, and

when Devi Sinha quitted Delhi for the Gangetic Delta, it

was probably religious fervour that made him select the

banks of the Bhagirathi as the site of his new home.

Nashipur is situated on the left bank of the Baghirathi,

about & mile north of the city. The Raj covers an area of

about (40,000 acres, and is computed to produce a revenue

of about £100,000 a year. It is one of the most fertile

tracts of Bengal, and the Raj has been admirably managed

for a period of 150 years.

The Rajbari, or residence of the Maharajah, is a palatial

building, and it is recorded that when Lord Curzon visited

it he declared that “a geicndid mansion, better

than ours.”

The following dese

Murshidabad”: ‘Th

and coniprise the ‘Tha:

which is located the f

Deb Thacoor. In th

a niche or room is allt

images that receive

well managed by the

Sinha, who performs thé valhatinunl festivities in con-

nection with the Sheba, especially the Jhoolun, with great

splendour. Vast zemindaries have been dedicated for the

worship of the Thacoors. ‘he fact of this endowment was

communicated to the Governor-General by a letter received

in Caleutia on December 6, 1819, and his consent waa

conveyed through the agent at Murshidabad.

“The rasin building of the Rajbati, which is a two-

atoreyed souse with a grand flight of stairs, has an

imposing facade. The large and spacious drawing-room

is well furnished and upholstored. J'wo valuable paintings,

the portra.ts of Rajah Keertichand Bahadar and Kumar

VUdoy Chandra, adorn the walls. The Viceroy, Lord Curzon,

who paid 1 visit to the Rajbati, is reported to bave said,

vom the “ Musnud of

escupy a large area,

ia principal temple of

Sey Sri Ram Chandra

e of the Thacoorbati

one of the countless
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‘I do not agree with you when you say yours is a humble

house; it is better than ours. It is a princely abode.’

‘‘The principal palace was constructed by Rajah Kurti-

chand Bahadur. ‘The founder of the family—namely,

Debi Singh of history—setiled at Bokhara, where his

Thacoorbati still exists. Rajah Bahadur Singh removed

and settled at Gaisabad, and thence removed to Nashipore.

The Raj residence is situated by the side of the Grand

Tronk road leading from Calcutta to the United Provinces.

“ The upper flat of the western block contains the drawing-

room, Durbar Hall, dining-room, dressing-rooms, the

Maharajah’s office, his study, etc. The lower flat contains

the Raj public offica, ihe 2 af the Dewan and Naib

Dewan, the Treasur: Record department,

and other offices. ¢ eastern blocks are

reserved for the ladics

Nashipur is very eas

station of its own on &

Eastern Bengal State &

stop there. There is

two miles distant.

Indian Railway. Axim re western side of the

Bhagirathi, but boats az ailable for the passage,

and carriages in waiting at the landing-stage. There is

also communication by water, as during the wet season,

from July to October, the Calcutta Steam Navigation

Company run a steamer on the Bhagirathi from Azimgan]

to Berhampur. Metalled roads have been laid down by

the Maharajah’s care to the steamer ghit and also to the

railway stations. It is scarcely necessary to add that there

is a post-office at Nashipur, which does a large postal and

telegraphic business.

It is not surprising, considering its position in the

northern part of the Gangetic delta, to find that Nashipur

is both exceedingly hot and exceedingly damp. During a

few months of the winter the climate is more endurable,

e, for it has a railway

fdsbad branch-line of the

all trains up and down

a at Azimganj, only

ich line of the East
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but it is always more or less trying. On the other hand,

the great beat acting on the humid soil explains the

extraordinary productiveness of the crops. The most

prevalent and fatal of all the diseases from which the

people suffer is malaria. The population of the Raj is

about 150,000 gouls.

I am indebted to Dewan Surada Prosad Mukherji for the

following very full particulars of the natural productions of

Nashipur, tae occupations of its people, their caste divi-

sions, and the scale of payment for the different trades and

industries :

Rica is the staple cron,

principally of two kinds:

The aus, which is

of rice, consumed b

April, and reaped in 54

The aman is the tue

well-to-do classes. It i

December.

Khai, muri, and cht

generally ised by the

akin the Raj. This crop is

ti, is the coarser kind

seople. Ii is sown in

rice, consumed by the

4 August, and reaped in

; preparations of rice,

ae for purposes of light
refreshments. ‘hese & pulatable when mixed

with ghee (clarified butte i spices.

Other principal crops are wheat (yam) and barley (tad).

These are sown in October, and harvested in April.

Various sorts of pulses (dal) are cultivated, such as:

(1) Mug, of which there are threo varieties—(a) sora nug,

(b) ghora muy, (©) krishna mug ; sown in September, and

reaped in December. (2) Kalai, of two varieties—kali

kalui and mosh kalai; sown in September, and reaped in

December. (3) Arhur, which includes tunyur; sown in

April, and reaped in March. (4) Lue (yrun), (5) matar,

(6) musuri, (7) khesari; these are sown in October, and

reaped in February.

Some very coarse grains, such as kodo, syame, bhuta, and

jai (oats), are also cultivated.



108 THE NASHIPUR RAJ

There are three different sorts of oil seeds: (1) mustard

(sarisa), sown in October, and reaped in January; (2) lin-

seed (mosina), sown in October, and reaped in February ;

(8) sesaman (til), sown in October, and reaped in

December.

Two varieties of fibres are grown: (1) Jute (pat or

koshta); (2) flax (son). These are sown-in April, and

reaped in September.

The mulberry (tutpat) cultivation is carried on on an

extensive scale, It is a perennial plant, and very profit-

able.

The sugar-cane (2h

gathered in January.

The indigo cultivaté

but has been almost ¢

artificial dye.

The betel-leaf (pai)

profitable.

The tobacco is sown ¢

The potato is sown

The onion is sown }

i

:} is sown in March, and

@ very considerable,

he Introduction of the

rennial plant, and most

and reaped in March.

d reaped in March.

‘saped in April.

_ - Mangoe (amra), plucked in May and June.

Jack (kanthal), plucked in June and July.

. Cocoanut (narikal), plucked in September and October.

. Plantain (rambha or kala), perennial.

. Bel or sriphal, plucked in February and March.

. Apple (ata), plucked in October,

. Papeya, perennial.

. Goava (peara), plucked in December.

» Plum (kul), plucked in January.

ne

Oo ON HS HR &
Table showing the quantity produced, or out-turn of

crop, in a bigha of land (the ordinary bigha in Bengal

contains 1,600 square yards):
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1. Rice (aus) - - Smaunds | 10. Khesaree - - 5 maunds

» (amar) -10 =, 11. Mustard (sarisa) 3 4,

2. Wheat (gam) - 5 ,, 12. Linseod (mosina) 2 yy

3 Barley (ja) - 4 y 18. Sesaman (42) - 2,

4. Mug (sona)} 2 4, 14, Oats (jat) - ~ 4A oy

» (ghora or 15, Jute (pat) - - 4 oy

krishna) ~ 3 oy 16. Flax (son) - - 2 4

5. Kalac - - 6 4 17. Potatoes = - -10 4,

6. Arhar - - 5B 4 18. Tobacco - 2 4,

9, Gratu (b7t) - - 6 ,, 19. Sugarcane - -lo_,,

8, Peas (matar) - 5 ,, 20. Onion - -20 ,,

9, Musurit—- 3 ly,

(A bazaar maund-=72°83 lbs.)

Table showing the price of foodstuffs :

Good rice (atab) - Rupees 6 por maund

” (usna) 5 ”

Common rice 4.8 ”
Wheat - 34 ”

Barley 2 ”
Mug (son) - 6.4 ”
» (ghora or krish 4.4 ”

Kalai (kal) c
te) , B12 ,,

Arhar - 210
Grau - 2.4 ”
Peas (matar) » 24 ”
Musurve- » 28 ”
Khesaiec ~ 1.10,

1. Bagan, sown in July, and gathered from October.

9. Patal, sown in September, and gathered from March.

3. Alu, three varieties :

Gotalu, sown in October, and reaped in February.

Sankerkund, sown in September, and reaped in

April.

Sarkalu, sown in July, and reaped in January.

4. Mala (radishes), sown in October, and reaped in

December.

5. Fhings, sown in April, and reaped in July.
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6. Karla, sown in May, and reaped in October.

7. Rampatal, sown in July, and reaped in September.

8. Kachu (makhi), sown in May, and reaped in Sep-

tember.

9, Kumra (surya), sown in June, and reaped in Sep-

tember,

10. Lasa, sown in June, and reaped in September.

11. Khero, sown in February, and reaped in April,

Inpusrnrizs.

1. There are many silk filatures (baxals) within the Raj,

and a great number of people are employed there. These

filatures are found in.) yare the mulberry plant

thrives well. The mi au is very profitable,

and cocoons are rea where these plants

are easily available,

The winding of silk 1

the Raj. The weaving o

and tussar of various §

branch of the indug

this silk industry is ne

2. The indigo induste’ iderably fallen off, and

many factories within tha} been closed. All that

tract of land lying by the side of the Ganges, the Padma,

and the Bhagirathi, called chur or diarah, was at one time

utilized solely for the cultivation of indigo; but since the

introduction of the artificial dye this industry has almost

been given up, and the distinguished firms of Messrs.

Jardine, Skinner, and Co., and Messrs. Robert Watson and

Co., big leaseholders under the Raj, paying an annual rental

of about 50,000 rupees, have withdrawn from it. Their

guecessors have since registered their names, and are carry-

ing on zemindary and other business under the name and

style of the Mednipur Zemindary Company, Ltd.

3. The greater portion of the Azimganj Branch Line

of the Fast Indian Railway passes over Jand comprised in

pal manufacture within

ora or garod, matka,

s—also forms another

sla importance. But

ishing state.
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the Raj. The East Indian Railway Loop Line also runs

through a vortion of the Raj territories, measuring about

forty miles in length.

The newly-constructed Murshidabad Branch Line of the

Hastern Bengal State Railway also passes through a portion

cf this estate.

4. Several machines are at work within the Raj intended

for breaking stones for the supply of ballast, etc., to rail-

way companies and municipal corporations, the proprietors

whereof ara Indian gentlemen.

1

The higher castes & segdence :

1. Brelenih

2. Kshetriy

3B. Vaisya (o3

and preceptor).

By.

After them come—

4, Vaidya Of

6. Napit (barber).

7. Kamar (blacksmith).

8. Kumar or Muinbhakar (potter).

9. Goula (keepers of cows).

10. Sadgop (cultivating class).

11. Vaisnav (mendicants).

12. Teli (trader).

18. Yamli (pan-seller),

MM. Guadhabanich (shopkeeper).

15. Barni (pan-seller).

16. Modak, Moira, or ITalowai (aweotmeat sellers).

17. Aguri or Ugrakshetri (cultivator),
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17.

18.

19.

20,

21.

22,

23.

24,

25.

26.

a7.

28.

29.

30.

al.

32,

33.

B4.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

45.

46.

THE NASHIPUR RAJ

The Inferior Castes.

Kansaris (braziers).

Shankaris (dealers in Sauko).

Kaibarta (there are two classes—one class cultivate

land, the other sell fish),

Chasadhopa (cultivator).

Tanti (weavers).

Sarnakar (goldsmiths).

Subarnabanick (merchants).

Jugee (weavers).

Chhutar (carpenters)

Suri (spirit sellgta)

Kalu (oil gelle

Dhoba (washerm

Chunart (lime but

Dulya :
Ki .

alia | (pala
Behara

Bagdee

Pura or Pundar

and labourers).

Chain (cultivators).

Jalia, malo (fishermen).

Rajbunshe (cultivators).

3 of cocoons, traders,

Low Castes.

Bhuimelee (cultivators).

Teor (cultivators and fishermen).

Mat (labourers).

Buna (labourers).

Lat (domestic servants and labourers).

Dosadh (labourers).

Dom (street sweepers and carriers of dead bodies).

Bedeya (jugglers).

Chamar (shoemakers).
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47. Tuchee (shoemakers).

48. .1ari (swineherds and sweepers).

49. VWeltor (sweepers).

The popilation is compas

and Santhals.

Tixcept the landhok

prof ssiona. men, tha

acriculiura! pursuits an

ment employ and private

Table showing av &

anna =a penny, and thar

of Tiiadus, Mahomedans,

rchant traders, and

.ople are engaged in

: some are in Govern-

ages of labourers (the

annas to the rupees) :

_ . Goldsiniths (s

. Blucksmiths (4c%8

annas to 1 rupee.

to 12 annas,me

8. Cacpenters (cfifet to 12 annas.

4, Mesons (rajneesiru, to 10 annas.

5. Panters (chitrakar) - - § to 12 annas.

6. Chapperbund (gharamee) + 7 annas,

7, Silx spinners - - - 4to 8 annas.

8. Melees - - . - - 5 to § annas.

9, Day labourors - - - 5 to 7 annas.

10. Palkee bearers - : - § annas.



CHAPTER VII

RANAJIT SINHA

Ranasir Sinna, the present Maharajah, was born on

June 9, 1865. As already stated, his estates were placed

during his minority under proper management, and he

was himself made a ward of the Court. When he reached

a suitable age he was sent to the Berhampur College,

which is close to Murshidebad and Nashipur. Here he

made good progress s and was especially

distinguished in mati ned the approbation

of his masters moreTM his diligence and

regularity in attendané predicted for him an

honourable and success en he should succeed

to his inheritance. Nx wediction been falsified

by the result.

When he approache birthday (the coming-

of-age date in India} ® May 4, 1883, Kamal

Kumari, the eldest da he Giridhari Lall, of

Caleutta, and the marrtige*Bas proved singularly happy.

It has been blessed with a large family, of whom there will

be more to be said hereafter. In 1886, on reaching the

age of twenty-one, Ranajit Sinha was entrusted with the

management of his estates, and at once devoted himself to

the task with strenuous energy. He drew up his own

‘‘yules for the management of tho Nashipur Laj Estate,”

and these are so simple and excellent that they have been

taken as a model by many others of the great landowners
114
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of Bengal. Under thes. rules the officers of the Raj enjoy

regular privileges, such as leave, pension, sick allowances:

and promotion, which were things unknown and undreamt

of in the (lays of Devi Sinha. The young nobleman not

only drew up a code of regulations, but he has taken good

care ever since that they shall be faithfully observed and

carried out.

The first few years of Maharajah Ranajit Sinha’s rule

were somewhat clouded by a lawsuit with his aunt, who

claimed more than her share out of the estate. The

Maharajah took personal charge of the case, instructing

the lawyers and draftiy briefs himself, and in the

end he won the day. of administration he

has adopted, it is hop ility of fruitless and

expensive litigation in § been avoided.

Immediately after personal control of his

Raj, the Maharajah he aay be called his public

career. Ia 1887 he wa an honorary magistrate

of the Lalbag Indep wad in the following

year he wis elected © : Murshidabad Munici-

pality. During his x¢ he introduced many

sanitary and other ref , earned him the grati-

tude of the whole communi :

His popularity Was immensely enhanced by his conduct

during the celebrated floods of 1888, when the Bhagirathi

overflowed its banks and carried destruction far and wide

in the Murshidabad district. He ‘ook an active part, not

merely in saving many people fro: drowning, but also in

providing for a large nuinber of starving families, whose

means of sustenance had been destroyed. His conduct on

this occasion was highly appreciated by Sir Stuart Bayley,

then Lietttenant-Governor of Bengal. It was shortly after

these inc.dents that the young Prince was recognized by the

Government as Kajah, and the late Sir Charles Mliott

went to Murshidabad in person to preside over the durbar

of investiture and recognition. The ceremony took place
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on March 4, 1892, and the following is an extract from the

Governor’s speech on the occasion :

It isa very great pleasure to me to convey to you the sanad of the

title of Rajah which the Viceroy has been pleased to confer upon you.

The title is one which had been honourably borne by your family for

many generations, and it is now committed to you to hold untarnished.

One of your ancestors, Rajah Devi Sinha, rendered very valuable

services to Clive al Plassey, and the continued favour in which your

family has been held, and the honour which is to-day entrusted to

you is a proof that the Government of India is never slow to recognize

and never forgets services rendered to it by the ruling houses in this

country. You have lately attained your mujority and sueceeded to

your property. I trust you will manage your estate in a manner

worthy of your ancestry, and that.your earecey may compare favour-

ably with that of other zews avince ; and that it will be

go distinguished that furt conferred upon you, not

on account of the good wi e gone before you, but

as a reward of your own in

mierred on thig occasion

4 acon supplemented by

oo which Ranajit Sinha

second presentation

harles Stevens, who

Tt will be noticed tha

was that of Rajah alona

the coveted addition of;

had a prescriptive fara

was made in Janua

spoke as follows:

Rajah, you are a scion of w very ans and respectable family and

the proprietor of extensive zemindaries, and you have conducted your-

self in a manner worthy of your origin and of your rank and responsi-

bilities, You have the reputation of being a good and liberal landlord

fo your own ryots, but your desire to do good service to the public

has led you to enter a more oxtended sphere of usefulness. As a

municipal commissioner and an honorary magistrate, you have ren-

dered great assistance to the local authorities, It has been deemed

just and proper that you should be raised to the dignity which your

father enjoyed. You have therefore been ereated a Rajah Bahadur,

and it gives me great satisfaction to hand you the sanad and the

khillat which mark your elevation to that rank.

His first notable public act was in the year 1887, when

he celebrated the Jubilee of the Queen-Empress Victoria

the Good, by the construction of a splendid public hall, in
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the heart of the city of Murshidabad, which is still known

as ‘ Kumar Ranajit Sinha’s Jubilee Ilall.” At the time

he had not received his title of Rajah, and was con-

sequently only a Kumar, or an expectant. This hall is

an ornarient to the city, and contains, in addition to the

main saloon, many minor rooms, which are used as reading

rooms and for committee meetings. The hall is used for

all public meetings, and also for entertainments and

festivities.

Allusion has becn made to the fact that in 1888 he was

elected to the office of Chairman of the Murshidabad

Municipality. He was r in 1889, and again for

the last time in 1903, an ve, post altogether for a

period of ten years. he devoted a great

part of his attention nent of the sanitary

condition of the city. fcb3 were the supply of

pure drinking-water «5 ion of free dispensaries

and medical aid for the hase steps were taken

prior to the reform mo « matters, which has

since become so geners

One o! the most ne 1is direction has been

the estaolishment of * in his own town of

Nashipur. This is call vaa ‘The Nashipur Raj

Dispensary.” Medical aid and advice, as well as the best

medicines from England, are given here free during the

morning and evening hours to all who present themselves.

It is placed in charge of a qualified resident medical officer,

who is a graduate of the Caleutta Medical College, and he

has the assistance of a qualified compounder and dresser.

The dispensary is periodically inspected by the Civil

surgoon of the district, and the annual returns of its work

show thut it is doing an immense amount of good to the

people cf Nashipur and the surrounding places, for its

benefits are not restricted to the Maharajah’s own de-

pendent: and ryots.

In addition to his municipal work the Maharajah took
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great interest in his judicial duties. We referred to his

being appointed an Honorary Magistrate of the Lalbag

Independent Bench soon after attaining his majority. In

1894 he was vested with the powers of a magistrate of the

second class, and empowered to sit and try cases alone. In

this capacity he displayed so much zeal and ability that

the Government, in appreciation of his service, vested him

with the powers of a magistrate of the first class on

March 1, 1897, and with powers to take cognizance of

offences on complaint and police reports. It was during

this time that he was placed in entire charge of the

Lalbag Bench, and virtually discharged the duties of a

sub-divisional officer : abolition of the Lalbag

Division,

It was due to tha

also to the reputati

punctuality m the dise

Government of Indin &

Bengal Legislative Coud

his public work in ¢

country in the follow

fresh matters, it may | i

other public duties th 8 have referred to. He

was for several years Vic ident of the “ British Indian

Association,” the most ancient land-holders’ assoctation in

India, and also President of the Murshidabad Association.

The Maharajah is fully alive to the need for, and the

benefits of, modern education. He has founded schools in

Nashipur for both girls and boys, to which those born on

his country estate have also free access. A competent

staff of teachers with suitable qualifications in schools and

colleges bas been appointed. Instruction is given in the

Bengal vernacular, but in the upper schools it is combined

with English. The Maharajah has founded many scholar-

ships, generally in connection with the official visits paid

on the occasion of his investiture with higher rank and

judicial work, and

for thoroughness and

public duties that the

him a member of the

We shall deal with

the legislature of the

before passing on to

nat he has discharged
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honours. One of these was in honour of Sir Edward

Norman Baker, the last Lieutenant-Governor of Bengal,

and was tunable for two years by the student standing first

at the intermediate Arts examination of the Calcutta Uni-

versity. Another benefaction of this character was the

annual presentation of a gold medal in honour of the late

Sir Alexander Mackenzie, at one time Lieutenant-Governor

of Bengal, to be awarded to the student standing first in

mathomajsics in the Matriculation examination at the same

University.

Perhaps the most remarkable feature in the Maharajah’s

character is that, despite the enervating nature of the

Bengal climate, he is, a been, most assiduous

in his attention to bu is his office regularly

from eleven to five; af id weather he makes

a tour through the mo adi his estates in turn,

and goinz closely into d& agement, and discuss-

ing modern improvement tenants. It is therefore

said of him that he cg, oment enter into the

details of his zemin hoa precision and

knowled ze of detail th: ion.

Considering his good We 19 example he sets to

the other great landownsts: dtigal, it is not remarkable

that the Government decided ‘to increase his honour. It
remembered that his ancestor, Rajah Devi Sinha, had

borne the title of Maharajah, and it decided to revive the

style in favour of Ranajit Sinha. Sir Mdward Norman

Baker was entrusted with the pleasant mission of making

the invastiture, including the bestowal of a suitable khillat,

or dres3 of honour. On this occasion (January 1, 1910) he

delivered the following address :

It is always a matter of gratification to me to be the instrument for

conveying marks of public recognition to those who have deserved

weil of the State. That pleasure is much enhanced when the recipient

of the Fonour is an old and valued friond of my own. In your case

our friendship dates Lack to the year 1898, when we both were serving

on the Bengal Council, and when I first learnt to appreciate in
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you those qualities of rectitude, sincerity, atraightforwardness, and

moderation which have given you so high a place in my regard.

The family of which you are the head is both old and distinguished,

and one member of it enjoyed the title of Maharajah as long ago as the

year 1800—more than a century ago. Twice already you yourself

have received marke of the favour of Government—in 1892 and again

in 1897—-and it gives me peculiar pleasure now to hand you the sanad

of the still higher title of Maharajah, together with the khillat which

accompanies it,

This honourable distinction you have worthily earned, not merely

by service in a variety of public offices, as chairman of the Murshidabad

municipality, as an honorary magistrate, as member of the Legislative

Council, and the like, but still more by the loyal and devoted spirit

which you have invariably displayed in times of difficulty and tempta-

tion, and by the influence which you heve uniformly exerted to

counteract the evil forces « surther the cause of law,

order, and good governm nat this influence will be

further strengthened by ferment which you have

now received, and which ma will live long to enjoy.

The conference of th

occasion of great populs

His Highness from Cali

& great public ovation

paper of the day:

honour was made the

ng. On the return of

hh 6, 1910, he received

summarized from the

. .. The Maharajah of ? wily arrived here yesterday

morning. A hearty and enthisiastioRdedption waa accorded to him.

The town of Nashipur was decorated with triumphal arches, flags,

festoons, and evergreens, and presented a grand and unique spectacle.

Universal joy prevailed in the town. In the afternoon, the ladies

presented an address of congratulation in a beautiful silver casket to

the Maharani. The Maharajeh received two addresses, one from

Nashipur and another from Johaganj. In joint reply, he thanked the

gentlemen for their congratulations and for the grand reception

accorded to him. He expressed gratification that his public services

were appreciated by his countrymen. He regretted that his water-

works scheme could not be earried out. He expressed his heartfelt

gratitude to His Honour the Lieutenant-Governor for conferring on

him this new distinction.

In conclusion, he addressed the assembly in Bengalese at some

length on the present situation, and explained in clear and emphatic

tones the manifold advantages of British rule and the mischief caused

to the country by anarchical and seditioua movements. He asked the
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RANAJIT SINHA 121

peopl» to heartily co-operate with the Government in preventing and

detecting crimes. He exhorted schoolboys not to mix in politics, and

explained to their tutors and guardians their heavy responaibility in

keeping their pupils and wards aloof from all political agitations. In

his opinion, nothing should be done to create or encourage racial

feelinz between the rulers and the ruled. The Europeans and Indians

are all subjects of the same mighty sovereign. Amity and goodwill

should prevail amongst them.

Three weeks later the formal reception of the Maharajah

by the residents of the Murshidabad district was held in

the city, and the account of it given by the chief Bengal

newspaper is full of interesting details. The meeting was

noteworthy for the unanimity displayed by its English,

Hindu, and Mahomedan bors.

MursuipauaD,

March, 29.

ion was given to the

the district at a splendid

pose, in Murshidabad city, on

thoring was of a thoroughly

sihe Maharajah of Kasim-

toli Beg expressed regret

ajah, escorted by a body

sh precisely in time, and was
received at the gate by the. Babu Baikuntha Nath Sen,

President of the Reception & other leading members.

The carriage was unhorsed on the way by a body of volunteers, who

drew it up to the pandel when people on both sides of the road greeted

him with garlands and flowers.

The procecdings commenced with a song specially composed for

the oceasion, The Honourable Vresident, in an excellent speech,

exproased in glowing terms the various public services of the Maha-

rajah as a membor of the Bengal Legislative Council, Chairman of the

Morshidabad Municipality, first-class IIonorary Magistrate, member

of the District Board, and President of the Murshidabad Association,

He ilso noticed the great ability shown by the Maharajah in managing

his vast estates, and the deop veneration with which he follows the

dictutes of his religion. To then deseribed the manifold qualities of

head and heart which have made the Maharajah so popular, Every

right cause, he said, finds in the Maharajah an ardent supporter, and

his purse is always open to such causo, As spokesman of the public

and as a friend and well-wisher of the Maharajah, he asked him to

A grand and most. o

Maharajah of Nashipur }

pavilion, specially construct:

Moniay, March 28, at 6 »

representative character.

baza:, and Nawab Noasis

at their inability to be

of mounted volunteers, re

f

x
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accept the congratulatory address which the public wore going to

present, and concluded by praying for a long lease of prosperous lite

to the Maharajah, and wishing his successors to follow the footsteps

of their iNustrious father.

The Pandits then chanted benedictory verses, after which Babu

Jiadhinatha Sen, son of the late Dr, Ram Das Sen, and a vakil of the

High Court, read and presented the address to the Maharajah. Maulvi

Amver Hossein read the Urdu address. The school girls and boys

recited congratulatory verses,

The Maharajah then, in an eloquent speech, thanked the members

of the Committee and other gentlemen of the district for the great

and unique honour shown to him that evening. He was very grateful

to the Government, and specia ir Edward Baker, for the new

dignity conferred on him, aq hia family yielded to none in

the past and would yield re in ity loyalty to the

throne and the Governn: hat during his term of

Chairmanship he tried bi ® sanitation of the town

with the limited resources of the Municipality. He

noticed with rogret that the ply of pure drinking water

which he nearly brought ta ¢a 1 his period of office expired

is going to be abandoned, bu that his successor would not

absolutely give it up, but tr ior freeing the town from

the epidemics of malari nall-pox. He specially

thanked his young friend ‘olunteers, and willingly

observed that, though it id” @ieved that title-holdera are

not liked at all by the rising ‘is cago ia proved to be an

exception. He thought that eserve so much praise for

what he had done as a member of the Legislative Council or as an

Honorary Magistrate. Whatever he had done he did from a pure

sense of duty and from no other consideration, and this, said he, ia and

would always be the guiding principle of his life.

Babu Janoki Nath Pande then proposed a vote of thanks to the

chair, in the course of which ho dwelt upon the school career of the

Maharajah, of whom he had the honour of being a teacher.

The Maharajah and the gentlemen present were then garlanded

by the President and the members, The festivities terminated at

about 2a... Never before has Murshidabad witnessed such a grand

and hearty reception given to a nobleman by tho public at their own

cost, Even Europeans came forward with thciv quota of subserip-

tions and vied with the native gentlemen in showing honour to the

Maharajah,



CHAPTER VIII

RANAJIT SINHA’S PUBLIC WORK.

Tre public work of Maharajah Ranajit Sinha may be divided

into three classes. His participation in the deliberations of

the Bengal Legislative Council may be called one; his

attention to jocal needs and questions another; and his

utterances on the seditious movements in India the third.

Let us take them in their ogdex

The great question

in the year during wh

member appointed by

Municipal Bill. Som

“appoited member ”

the Government, but

Rajah, us he was at the:

pendenco, and thereby

tives of the Supreme

Legislative Council

ah held a seat a8 a

enti was the Calcutta

ed to think that an

to obey the behests of

raiah--or, rather, the

layed the greatest inde-

yeot of the representa-

Mf it is permissible to

interpolate a word of ga nt, it would be to the

effect that the Governnién Thdia not merely leaves

“appointed members” a free hand, but does not resent

criticisra and opposition to its measures by such persons if

it ig made abundantly clear that they are inspired by con-

scientious motives and a sense of duty. What might be

resente! would be petty and carping criticism, and wilful

obstruc:ion.

The Rajah Ranajit Sinha’s conduct was never marked

by thess traits. When he spoke it was clear that he did so

because he felt the need of speaking, and very often he
123
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supported the amendments of the official promoters of the

Bill, or introduced other amendments which they supported.

Although he figured among the opponents of the measure,

he accomplished the difficult task of gaining public

popularity, and at the same time not alienating the good-

will and respectful regard of his official colleagues. With-

out enlarging too much on this subject, which has now

passed to a great extent into the limbo of the forgotten, it

will suffice to say that the Rajah made two set speeches on

the Bill, which may be left to speak for themselves.

The first of these was delivered on August 7, 1899, and is

reported as follows in theseffcia) record of the Bengal

Legislative Council :

We are grateful ta the €

sympathetic way in whieh t

pill, and for the kind assur:

no contravention of the b

nlready conceded, The tinve

cession in tho constitution o

n standing Committee of £

this concession as the

Corporation is reduced to%

nllowed a free hand in the alsin

General Committee like that aoa Tthink the Government is

inclined to reduce the numerical strength of the Corporation in the

belief that the existing Corporation has devoted itself to speech and to

criticism rather than to action, As I have no personal exporience as

to the working of the Caleutta municipality I must refrain from

making any observation on the point; but the resolutions on the

Administrative Reports of the Calcutta Corporation of previous years

regarded by your Honour’s predecessors in offiec show that there has

heen marked and gradual improvement in the administration of the

Caleutta Corporation, and that its Commissioners all along have done

excellent work. ...

The present number of Commissioners was fixed after a mature

and deliberate consideration, and I do not think that there has been

any special necessity to make such a radical change now in that

respect. If the Govornment of India have come to the final deter-

mination to.reduce the numerical strength of the Corporation, I beg to

submit that the reduction should not fall on the shoulders of the

elected Commissioners only, as in such a case it will strike at the very

for the very kind and

various criticisms on the

ven that there would be

3 of local self-governinent

ispesed to grant us a con-

Committee on the inodel of

, we could not welcome

‘Sommissioners in the

avporation itself is not

vis of the members of its
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root of loca. self-government, the fundamental principles of which will

be violated. If, following the Bombay system, the Government is

inclined to reduce the number of elected Commissioners, I beg respect-

fully to point out that the system proposed to be introduced here materi-

ally diffora from that adopted in Bombay. The Bombay Corporation

cleets its own President, and the Standing Comunittee its own Chair-

man; but here the ollicial Chairman acts as President of both

the Corporation and General Committee; and again in Bombay,

though omy half the number of Commissioners is elected at ward

elections, cut of the other half sixteen are elected by Justices, two by

Fellows, and only two by the Chamber of Comimorce. But here there

is no election by Justices or Vellows, and no seat is allowed even to

native merchants, or house and landowners ; whereas ten seats are

allowed to European mercantile communities. So if the Bombay

system is ab all to bo given e trial here I beg to submit that it be

adopted in its entirety, and wonty-five scats reserved for

nominated and appointed,« ner representative bodies

of Caleutta, such as the ‘esociation, the National

Chamber of Commerce, medan Association, and

the like, should also be alld ented in the Corporation,

and the Corporation should gred in the election of two-

thirds of che members af i Ounuittee. As the Govern-

ment appoints four member prai Committee, I humbly

think that the Government « Corporation should have

no voice i1 the election o members of the General

Comuuittes. In conelusioe ry in your Honour’s hands

with the f1ll confidence tha nign and sympathetie rule

our appea! will not go in vai

The second speech was delivered on September 28, 1899,
at the close of the debates and read as follows:

Your Honour, no measure of this Council ever excited so much

criticism us the one which we are discussing to-day. I think there is

not a single section of the, native coummunity left which has not

strongly opposed this Lill.

Sir, [am entirely in accord with the principles enunciated by your

Honour’s predecessor in office, Sir Alexander Mackenzie, from the

presidential chair in this Council, prior tu and after the introduction of

this measure, extracts of which I shall read with your Honour's

permissio1. Ido not think that there can be any objection to the

hands of she Mxecutive being strengthened for the efficient adiministra-

tion of tie Corporation, and that especially in cases of emergency,

such as the outbreak of plague, he should have large powers to deal

with them, and should not be hamperod in any way in the free
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exercise of his discretion. I also think, sir, that there should be a

small executive body interposing between the Chairman and the

Corporation to deal with such matters which cannot be proporly

discussed by the large body, and which are at the same time so

important as not to be left to the Chairman alone for disposal; but,

sir, I find that the Bill is not limited within the said principle, but has

gone far beyond it. Many radical—revolutionary—changes have

been introduced. As I have no personal knowledge of the working of

the Calcutta Municipality, so I shall only deal with the principles of

this Bill. I find larger powers havo been given to the Chairman and

the General Committee by depriving the Corporation. The Chairman

should have been made responsible to somebody, and as the Dill now

stands J find he is not, even to Government. In the original Bill the

number of the Commissioners was: seventy-five, and so heavy powers

were given to the General Cor tes as they could not be properly

exercised by such a large bod i as it is now reduced to

fifty I think further pows given to the Corporation

which the Bill reserves for tee. Under the orders of

the Government of India, ¢ , the number of the elected
Commissioners in the Corp uced on the model of the

Bombay system, which wil he sixteenth paragraph of

the said despatch, in which v cit of India said “ they are

inclined to think that in 4 mo siion of the Bombay system

might be found the solitic yare seeking.” So, sir, I

think it would not have i inciples aid down in the

gaid dispatch if a few seat would have been allowed

to other influential repr 4 Caleutta. I brought

forward an amendmen: to nien was rejected by the

Council on the day I canid dely attend, owing to my

illness. If that armendment would have been accepted, I am sure it

would have pacificd to a certain extent the popular feeling, and at the

same time would have been in perfect harmony with the Bombay

system. As the Corporation is now constituted, the representatives of

tho ratepayers and the native elements are in a minority, as the

number of the elected Comissionors is twenty-five, whereas the

number of the appointed Comuuissioners, including the Chairman, is

twenty-six, Then, sir, as to the constitution of the General Com-
mittee, which have been vested with all the real powers in Municipal

affairs, 1 find the ratepayers to be in a hopeless minority, and the non-

official majority which was in the original Bill has also been practically
tone away with. Luagrce that the three chief interests in Calcutta, ie.,

ratepayers, men of comrerce, and the Government, should be repre-

sented init. In my humble opinion the interests of Govornment are

fully secured even if there would have been no Government nominee

in the Committee, as it has kept ample powers of interference and
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supervision in its hand, and, besides that, when its official will always

act «8 President of the Committee. However, the Government

certainly required few seats only to rectify the balance and to make

up the miroritios in the representation. The interests of tho ratepayers

are great; they constitute the bulk of the population and contribute the

bulk of the Municipal rates, and so they should have got a large share

of representation in the Gencral Committee. As to the representation

of commerce, I find that under the Bill as it now stands four members

will be elested, not by the representatives of commerce alone, as was

formerly provided, but by the Govornment appointees. Also the

number of the Commissioners appointed by the Government are

fifteen, and those nominated by the mercantile communities are ten,

If they vove to the full strength of their respective constituent elements

the Goverituent appointees will be able to secure those four seats also,

So virtually no independent repzg ation of commerco is allowed in

the present Bill, which wa ndamental principles of this

Bill. Sir, I further beg present constitution is

again based on an illog Government of India

was so anxious to avoid ¢ raph of the despatch) as

the represantatives of th yn half the bulk of the

Corporatioa, whereas in th furities they bear one-third

proportion ; and, sir, I am 1 eed if the Government of

India ever contemplated su: in the constitution of the

Goneral Ccinmittee as has } y mind it appears rather

contrary; [ still think th t of India contemplated

making some concession rae 4. If it would have been

in their contemplation to bri a change they could never

have expated that it wanldshwa o all dissensions (vide last

paragraph). Sir, whatever be the case, the Dill as it now stands is

certainly worse than what was originally introduced and revised by the

Select Committee, As regards the other portions of the Bill, I must

admit many improvements have been made though not to our entire

expectations. We are thankful to the Seloct Committee for removing

many contentious matters, and especially those relating to cremation

of dead bolies and registration of deaths. Sir, I not only consulted

unany leading landholders who reside in Caleutta and are interested in

the matter, but also some of them who have no interest here, and J

found all o° them opposed to the principles of this Bill ; and go, sir, as

a represont ative of the landholders, I think it is my duty to oppose the

Jill in its resent form. Sir, I shall be wanting in my duty if I fail

to acknowlzdge with gratitude the kindnoss which you have shown by

giving us a patient hearing, and we are at the same time thankful to

the honourable member in charge for the courtesy ho has all along

evinced in she discussion of this measure. With these few remarks I

beg most respectfully to oppose the motion.
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Apart from the Caleutta Municipal Bill, the Rajah de-

voted his attention principally to those material questions

affecting the sanitary condition of the community and more

especially of the inhabitants of the mofussil. The provision

of pure drinking water, and the stricter enforcament of the

regulation that all local bodies should expend the minimum

sum of 5,000 rupees annually on the improvement of the

water supply in their districts, were two questions that he

several times brought before the Council. He olicited

favourable rejoinders from the authorities, and undoubtedly

the result of his efforts was that the sanitary authorities in

the mofussil were stimulatad..in their work. He also

obtained the concessic dumedical assistance for

placue work in the ne districts. Finally,

he secured much-neet 2 for Hindu women

from assaults by Mahe 8 in the Mymensingh

district.

The Bengal papers pass

on his public work. ©

so much zealous wor

net dattering encomiums

: “We did not expect

another congratulated

him upon “his publi Gs third declared that

he “had done yeoman Jo the expiration of his

term of office, the prinéipal Bengal paper wrote a leading

article, from which the following passage is an extract:

“The thanks of the nation are due to the Rajah Ranajit

Sinha Bahadur, for not only was he a nominated member,

but as a big zemindar residing in the mofussil he risked

a good deal by going against the Government in a matter

in which the latter showed considerable zid. Next to the

late ——, no landowner had ever displayed such courage,

independence, and patriotism in the Legislative Council as

the Rajah Bahadur of Nashipur did. And has he lost in

the estimation of the Government? Certainly not. On

the other hand, the authorities will now entertain far

greater respect for him.”

The war in South Africa provided him with the occasion
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fcr displaying his loyalty to the British raj. At the end of

January, 1.00—that is to say, before the tide of war had

fully turned in our favour—he made a strong speech at

a public meeting held in the Caleutta Town Hall. The

following are the most striking passages from it:

“Your Highness, Maharajahs, Nawabs, Rajaha, and gentlemen,—I

feel it an honour and a ploasuro to support the resolution just now s¢

ably moved »y my worthy and learned friend You all know,

gantlemen, how the war broke out in South Africa with the Boers, and

how the British soldiers are heroically fighting there, and how cheer-

fully they are laying down their lives for the Sovereign, and for tke

prestige and glory of the British nation. There can be no shadow of

doubt as to the ultimate victory af the I Brit tish arms. Perhaps you are

aware that even men from 5 ngland have volunteered

their services for the wary sacrificed their lives in

the field. I nay mentiosr avious death of the Earl

of Ava, und Lieutenant ob: af a former Viceroy, and

tae other the son of the las Chief. In both cases the

sympathy of the entire pac AUL go forth to the sorrowing

parents.

“Gentlemcn, this is a time

Majesty, should come forwaxt

beloved Soveroign. Need

we derive from the Britisi

our advancerent, and last, ae

inestimable blessings of poace v.

“If you advert for a moment to the" past, and compare what was

then the condition of our country with what it is now, you will, I am

gure, again agree with mo that we should not have been what we are

if Providence had not placed us under the Dritish rule. Tho benefits

cf the highest civilization —-the highest yet achieved by any nation—

have been brought to our doors with very little exertion on our part.

Apart from what the British Governmont is doing for our country we

have the sympathy of the British public by our side in titne of need.

T need not remind you how they helped India at the time of the late

famine with their munificont contributions. You may say that the

present war does not aflect India in any way, but that is surely a very

narrow view to take. The more the prostige and the glory of tho

Government will be upheld, the more will our peace and prosperity be

assured, The sooner, therofore, tho Government is freed from the

anxieties of the war tho better it must be for us,

“Hingland is the richest and most powerful country in the world,

Tt inay uot oe necessary fur her to take any help from us, but we

Q

6 uitst loyal subjects of Her

¥ most sacred duty to our

zany and various benefits

i our present education,

ava indebted to it for the
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should still loyally offer any assistance, however insignificant it might

be, that lay in our power to give. As citizens of that groat Empire,

let us, true to the traditions of our country, once more evince our

loyalty and attachment to the throne.”

A short time after this speech was made, news came of

the capture of Pretoria, and the Rajah not only despatched

congratulatory telegrams as to his heartfelt joy to the

Viceroy, but caused special prayers of thanksgiving to be

offered up. The Raj sepoys paraded, the band played the

National Anthem, and in the evening the palace and town

were illuminated, The sequel of these incidents was that

in February, 1902, the Viceroy, Lord Curzon, visited

Nashipur and received, in the rajbati, or palace.

On this important :
brief address of weles

“ On behalf of my huis.

accord to your Excellency

to assure your Excellency of

the throne and person of E

Excellency for the honsur.

- to stop at my place. Tf %

welcoming Her Excellene¥ °

to ask you to do her ths he ing to Her Excellency her

most respectful obeisance. f Excellency’ a visit to our

district will be a pleasant an enjoyable o one.’

zople of Nashipur, I beg to

rifui and loyal welcome, and

ality. and firm devotion to

eaty. Iam grateful to your

ine by kindly condescending

not have the honour of

T am desired by my wife

In the course of his reply, Lord Curzon said:

“YT thank you for your warm reception. I do not agree

with you when you say yours is a humble abode. I see it

is & splendid mansion—better than ours. It is a princely

abode. I am glad to have the opportunity of witnessing

your position and rank. I will convey to Lady Curzon

your own and your wife’s kind and respectful message.

I thank you and the people of Nashipur for your kind

reception.”

Some years after this Visit the disturbed state of Bengal

began to attract attention, and more than one outrage

startled the public mind. It was then that the Supreme
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Government made an

the open and supper

sedition. One of th

of Nashipur. He mad

British Government, a

and calling upon tha p

to the British raj by

upholding the author

something further wi

‘loyal Nagshipur,” 8

pamphlet which forme ih

‘Indians to come into

uppress anarchy and

& was the Maharajah

sevbes in support of the

g abhorrence of crime,

® te testify their loyalty

ing seditious talk and

Bui he felt that

uphold the title of

up and circulated the

of the next chapter.



CHAPTER Ix

THE MAHARAJAH’S APPEAL

Yue following is a literal translation of the Maharajah’s

appeal in the Bengali language :

“No one is ignorant of the present state of our country.

We are frequently hearing of murders, dacoities, and other

anarchical crimes. The most regrettable thing is that

those who have been ¢ be connected with those

crimes are almost all, fitiemen by birth, and

the majority of thera the age of twenty-one.

These imprudent youtl wed baneful results in

the country by harbo c minds a feeling of

hatred against the Ge and the British nation,

being excited by some i persons.

“The loyalty and pe position of the Indians

are well known, Th fe the Hindu Shastras

have described murder a apnks beinous sins. There-

fore every Hindu is aii gense of shame and

grief on seeing his co- -religionists concerned in these
grievous sins. The introduction of heinous sins in this

holy land is a matter to be highly deplored. Whatever is

done, if there be sin at its bottom, no good can result there-

from. No country or nation has attained, or can attain,

prosperity by having recourse to anarchy and treason. Even

in Russia, where assassinations and lawlessness have been

prevalent for a long time, such action has led to no good

results. Had these hot-headed boys turned their minds
132
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towards the welfare of their society and mother-land,

without taking to these evil courses, they could probably

have done immense good. Pursuing this course of action,

these youths could only sacrifice their invaluable lives and

take those of some others, but never achieve any good

result. What is the good of taking the lives of a few

Governioent officials? The British raj would remain as

unaffected as ever, as firm and immovable as the Himalayas.

By such acts the interests of the country can only be

injured, instead of being advanced.

“Fave we no reason to be grateful to the British

Government ?

and advancement ?

maintain peace and

such diversity of race

human, and it is no

should commit mistal

should impute sinisie

measure. Its meriis a

impartially and with

Everyone must frank! eace prevails through-

out the land under th nvernment; we can go

wherever we like withaat'{aat-of any danger; there is

nothin:z to be feared on the way; there is no apprehension

of theft or highway robbery; high education has spread,

and is spreading, all over the country ; manifold are the

advantages we have derived from railways, telegraphs,

telephones, ete., in consequence whereof our expenditure

has been lessened; the rich do not dare to oppress the

poor; everyone is able to follow his own religion without

any fear or anxiety, and to spread his religious views

unobstructed and unfettered. In any view it must be

admitted by everybody, with one voice, that we cannot

proceed an inch without the aid of the British Govern-

ment. Therefore it is our bounden duty to pray whole-

heartedly to the All-merciful God that the British

Las aie for any other race to

st country, presenting

1 religion. To err is

hat the Government

doses not follow that we

to every Government

s should be considered

atate of the country.
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Government may remain for ever unimpaired. Everyone

must be up and doing, in order that peace may be restored

to the country. It is not at all proper to remain indifferent

or apathetic even for a single moment.

“TE anyone is of opinion that certain stray individuals

may suffer loss or injury on account of the present

anarchical state of things—but that the public have no

reason to be afraid—then it must be said that his belief is

entirely erroneous. If things go on in this way for some

time more, it is extremely probable that everyone would be

put to trouble and danger. The Government would not be

able to devote its time, or find any opportunity to turn its

attention, to measnres..p jal..t¢ us; public money

ressing lawlessness ;

wuid be safe, and the

reasons to distrust ua

to enact severe penal

y imnocent men will be

ed. All the evils which

;,culers and the ruled

it is the imperative

Government would n

more and more. Jt we

laws. In consequerc« '

unnecessarily harassed

spring from ill-feeling

will fall upon the cout

duty of all to take ste? ul anarchy and unrest,

and to co-operate with rnment in the matter.

Every effort should be made that the feelings of enmity

towards the Government or the British race be rooted out

from the minds of the people, specially those of the boys

and young men, and their false notions be dispelled; for

England and India are both subordinate to the same mighty

Emperor, and the English and the Indians are subjects of

the samo great Empire. The bonds that bind us can never

be severed. It is highly necessary that there should be

good feeling and sympathy between us. Whatever is

beneficial to England is beneficial to ua; the interests o

England and India caunot be different. If the guardians

and teachers of the boys strive heartily towards this end,

the result may be highly satisfactory, for the future advance-
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ment of the student

They shculd be very

led astray by participa

does not stand to rease

one’& own welfare by &

instigation of others. If

dreadful calamity wi!

ely on the teachers.

that students are not

olitical agitation. It

should lay the axe unto

vil advice and at the

& take steps even now,

mantry.

sintta (Maharajah).

“Nasmepur Ragnar, =

* March 19, 1916."



CHAPTER X

THE MAHARAJAH’S FAMILY LIFE

As was mentioned in an earlier chapter, the Maharajah

married on May 4, 1838, before he had come into possession

of his raj, Kamal Kumari, the eldest daughter of Babu .

Giridhari Lal! of Calcutta. The married life of the Maha-

; rajah has proved singularly happy, and there is a family of

five sons and four darightergecc.

The eldest son, or Ms

Narayan Sinha, is a

born in the year 1888.

education, as well as

his duties. After pas

he was admitted to the |

in 1910 successfully p:

tion in the First Us

B.A. degree. He mar

daughter of Babu Brij

one daughter of the marrisga,

Kumari has been given.

The second son, Maharaj Kumar Nripendra Narayan

Sinha, was born in 1894, and is described by one who

knows him well as “the personification of all that is good

and noble.” He réceived his education at the Hare School

in Calcutta, and from it he recently passed with much

credit the Matriculation examination at the Caleutta Uni-

versity. The credit was all the greater as his studies had
186

, named Bhupendra

young man, and was

arved the best modern

ig for the discharge of

riculation examination

ollege at Calcutta, and

smeadiate Arts examina-

iow working for the

3, 1905, Prem Kumari,

it of Gaya, and there ia

Whom the name of Nirmal



Midhabajales son in daw,

Fucvree poe Van,
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been interfered with by illness. He is now being prepared

for the Arts examination at the same University.

The third son is named Rajendra Narayan Sinha, and

was born in 1896. He is following in his elder brothers’

steps, and will proceed to the University at Calcutta in due

course. The two youngest sons, named Birendra Narayan

Sinha and Jagadindra Narayan Sinha, are at present

receiving their education at home.

The eldest daughter is the Maharaj Kumari Basanta

Kumari, and she is married to Babu Ram Bahadur, the

eldest sun of the late Babu Isri Prosad, Reis of Ulao in

Monghyr. He has extensive zemindaries in the districts of

Mozafferpur and Mough: .pas also a big banking

business in Mozaffer ‘managing with great

credit since his fathe

The second daughte

the wife of Babu Thac!

The third and fourti

Kassum Kumari and 2

but the former has he

son of the rich zemind

Babu Govind Sahai.

In the persons of his ¢ faharajah of Nashipur

is extending the influence of his family among the landed

aristocracy of Bengal, Behar, and the United Provinces.

The Maharajah is a devout Hindu with liberal ideas,

and in this respect keeps up the traditions handed down

by his predecessors. He is universally popular, and is

respected by all his officials and dependents. In addition

to his business capacity, the Maharajah is distinguished

by his cultured tastes and polished manners. Towards hia

inferiors he is particularly condescending, and he keeps on

‘his office table a small marble slab engraved with the

words ‘‘Despise none,” which may in a sense be regarded

as the motto of his life. He is always ready to assist in

any good movement, and spends a considerable sum each

manta Kumari, and is

windar of Chunar.

, named respectively

ri, are still minors,

Babu Harinarayan,

{ Bhagulpur named
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year on objects for the benefit of the general community

outside his estatos.

He has a fine library which is enriched with several old

Sanskrit manuscripts, and his art gallery contains many

good pictures,

Maharani Kamal Kumari is a dignified and accomplished
lady, noted for her large- heartedness and disposition to do

good to all. She is on friendly terms with most of the

distinguished European ladies of the highest rank and

position in India, and is loved and respected by all her

people, dependents and acquaintances. It is indeed a

noteworthy fact that her charitable disposition is always

directed to relieve thas ey dependents, and that

whenever there is & family at Nashipur

she always takes gre: case and helps the

afflicted with monay ‘necessary assistance.

Indeed, she always ev interest in all matters

affecting the moral and ress of the female sex,

and tries her best to a degraded condition to

which go many Indisy unk, Wherever she

goes she makes friends x ladies of the place.

Allusion has been ms igtous fervour that has

always characterized th the Nashipur family.

{n this respect Maharajah Ranajit is in no way behind any

of his ancestors. He honours the Brahmins, maintains

the temples of his anvestors, and largely contributes to the

cost of the religious festivals, which are the source of so

much gratification and pleasure to the Hindu community.

There are four groat festivals each year at Nashipur.

They are the Tulsibahar festival, the Ratha Jatra, the

Jhulan Jatra, and the Dole Jatra. Taking them in their

order, we may attempt to give some details of each of

them.

The Tulsibahar festival is one of the important festivals

amongst the Hindus, and is celebrated in the month of

Jysta, or May, When Rajah Bahadur Sinha established
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the symbol of the deity Lukshmi Narayan Deb Thackur a

Gaisabad at the commencement of the last century, this

was the festival that he always celebrated with the greatest

éclat, and pilgrims used to attend it from far and wide.

It was in connection with this festival that the great fair,

or mela, which extended over a month, used to be held,

This naturally attracted great crowds, and singing and

nautch parties were especially provided for the entertain-

ment of the concourse.

Since tae removal of the Thackur from Gaisabad to

Nashipur, the latter place has become the scene of the

festival, the duration of which has, however, been reduced

from one month to « fox Ti. atill commences on the

first day of Jysta, bu io fifteenth day. The

amusemonts provided ded, and now include

operas, theatricals, and ia small wonder, then,

that the public who ; ind the entertainment

very amusing, and ib nacipal supporter of the

festival acquires great

The Ratha Jatra &

celebrated in the m

t of the Car, and is

yrresponding with our

month of June. Tha Ns ati is the central point

of the celebration, and #8 ssRAjor Car, which is made of

silver, is about 30 feet high and 14 feet broad. In the
morning of the appointed day the Thackur Ramchunder

Deb ascends the car, and the same evening the car is

drawn by the assembled crowds with great veneration

from the Rajbati to Mahimapur. It is the general belief

that those who succeed in drawing the car will attain

eternal salvation.

While the car is being drawn along the road, a proces-

sion takes place alongside it. The procession includes the

Raj sepoys armed with guns and bayonets, led horses richly

caparisonad, attendants carrying silver huddas, flag bearers,

bands of rausie, trumpeters and drummers. The Maharajah,

accompanied by all the members of the Raj family, the
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officials of his administration, a large number of specially

invited guests, and a great body of retainers, walks behind

the car for the first part of its journey. After about half

an hour’s walking the Maharajah and his party quit the

procession and return to the residence.

On the eighth day the ear is brought back from Mahima-

pur to the Rajbati under similar conditions and amid a

vast concourse. The grandeur of the scene makes a pro-

found impression on the people’s minds, and there is no

doubt that this festivity not merely sustains the religious

fervour of the people, but provides them with no incon-

siderable amusement.

The two festivals re

in grandeur by th

month of August in &

with the great Durga P

no other place in Ber

magnificence as at Nas

ing, lasts for five days dy

but the great fair whi

longer period, The f

and rejoicing, from whi us element is almost

entirely absent, For thissaceasnim the Maharajah com-

missions from Calcutta the choicest and very best Jatra

parties and dhaps, just as the great hostesses of Einglish

society retain the latest singer or musician for their

receptions. It is scarcely necessary to add that visitors in

their tens of thousands flock into Nashipur for the event.

It may be explained that a Jatra is a singing or dancing

party —a combination of theatricals and opera, i¢., a

musical performance, consisting of actors, singers and

dancers, and accompanied with musical instruments and

enriched with magnificent dresses; while a Dhap is a

purely singing party with musical instruments, generally

consisting of a principal female singer with male singers

and players. —

ite eclipsed, however,

uich is held in the

* may be compared

fof the Hindus, and in

Jebrated with the same

: festival, strictly speak-

th of Sravan (August),

a6 goes on for a much
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The festival must rather be compared to a great fair

than anything else. The fun of the fair sways the crowd,

the god remains in his shrine, and the silver car is not

rolled through the streets. On the other hand, the people

from Murshidabad, Birbhum, and other districta flock to

it, while the Government officials, pleaders, muktars, and

all persons with any claim to gentility receive special

invitations from the Maharajah. Tho railway company

runs special trains, and the steamer company on the

Bhagirathi also places additional steamers at the disposal

of the puklic for the occasion. It very often happens, too,

that these companies ara unatie to provide for the great

crowds that wish fo bast “

But on this occas

on the Muharajah’s bo

the host, or at least tc

accommodation. He

purpose, and they are ¢

seeing that no disturbs

of the festivities.

Every night the Re and its innumerable

lights mike a brilliant 3 us round the town are

the circuses and theatres if whieh a great variety of

amusements are provided for the entertainment of the

assembled visitors. While all this is going on outside, a

great majlish (gathering) of all the invited geantlamen is

being held inside the Rajbati by the Maharajah. He

attends in person, accompanied by all his family and

followers, and makes a great personal effort to see that his

guests are properly entertained and provided for in every

way. ‘The guests are not merely sumptuously fed, but

have their travelling expenses defrayed out of the Maha-

rajah’s purse.

The fourth and last of the festivals is the Dole Jatra, or

Holi. This is held in the Rajbati, and generally takes

place ia the month of March on the day of the full moon.

icularly severe strain

Ge is supposed to play

alk of the visitors with

own officers for the

pecially with the task of

heo to mar the harmony
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On this occasion, also, good jatras, dhaps, or kirtans, are

brought from Calcutta to supply entertainment, and the

principal gentry frum Murshidabad city, Lalbag, Ichagang,

Baluchar, Azimganj, and other places, receive special

invitations. On this occasion, also, the Maharajah receives

and entertains his guests in person. The Notmandir

ceremony held on this night is of special interest, for all

the guests and visitors are crimsoned with red abir powder

amid cries of “ Holi-hai!” signifying ‘ This is the holi day.”

The next morning the populace assemble in front of the

Rajbati, and amuse themselves in a right joyous fashion

according to Oriental custom as of yore.

Enough has been said te that Nashipur is not a

dull place, and that th: expected to provide

popular amusement —# “ined with religious:

ceremonies—as well a spaterial help to his

people when they need" so perfectly clear that

he discharges his duiies er expected of him to

the complete public sati by all accounts, he is

one of the most popula ak

We have now pase

history of the House ; but also the chief

incidents in the public ay fc of its present head,

the Maharajah Ranajit Sinha Bahadur. The story of this

remarkable landowner and administrator is of interest,

because it shows that under the torrid sun of Bengal the

conditions of life are very much the same as with us. The

good landlord is regarded as the general benefactor and

the father of his people. In India, the public appreciation

takes the form of venoration, and it is consequently impos-

sible to measure the extent of the influence that a man

like the Maharajah exercises on those who are in any way

dependent on him. But the Mabarajah’s influence is not

confined to Nashipur. He possesses a great hold on the

public opinion of Bengal, and that is why his pamphlet on

sedition, widely read and freely circulated in the vernacular,

ot only the family
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produced such a deep impression among the masses which

are beyond the reach of Governmental publications.

So far, the Maharajah’s work has been chiefly done in

his own districts; but his year’s experience on the Bengal

Legislative Council introduced him to public affairs affecting

the largest and most prosperous province of India. He

then acquired, not only what is known as popularity with

the public, but the respect and goodwill of his Finglish

colleagues, both official and unofficial, which may be fairly

regarded as the more difficuli task of the two. It also

qualified nim for more important public work whenever an

occasion may arise. ‘ sApport of such men as the

Maharajah provides { or the maintenance

of British power and idia, The reader will

not have failed to ncte very beginning of the

story of Nashipur, cc with Devi Sinha one

hundred and fifty year: y to the British raj has
been the most prominsn atie of all the members

of this family.

In coneluding this

not be found than a*&

Maharajah and the wh as

the Imperial Durbar ai , and the Proclamation of

Their Majesties King George V. and Queen Mary as

Emperor and Empress of India. That event provides a

historical date and landmark in Indian history. There

was the great pagoant in the old and now the new Capital

of India which special correspondents have brought before

us; but throughout the whole of the peninsula there were

the unchconicled, but not less significant, local celebrations

and rejoicings. The following paragraph, contributed by

affriend on the spot, tells in a few lines what occurred in

Nashipur, and may be regarded as typical of the new

loyalty that hag been aroused by the Royal visit to India

in the hearts of those millions who are our fellow-subjects

better ending could

the part that the

‘y of Nashipur took in
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and brothers in devotion to the glory and upholding of the

British Empire :

Their Imperial Majesties, the Emperor and Empress

of India, held the Coronation Durbar at Delhi on th

12th December, 1911. The Maharajah of Nashipur

attended the Durbar as a guest of the Bengal Government,

and was one of the chosen representatives of Bengal who

did homage to their Imperial Majesties.

“The Coronation was celebrated at the Nashipur Rajbati

on the said 12th day of December in a right royal style.

The Rajbati and all the other houses and the main road at

Nashipur were tastefully decorated with flags, festoons and

evergreens. Early inst @ 8 royal salute of one

hundred and one ¢ ad loyal messages of

congratulation were ui off by telagraph—

one from the Maha £ of the Pardanashin

ladies of Nashipur, wa. arough Her Excellency,

Lady Hardinge, of Punst Her Imperial Majesty,

the Empress of India, ag sent in the name

of all the people of & h His Excellency the

Governor-General of. s¢ Most Gracious and

Tmperial Majesties, on ion of Their Majesties’

Coronation in thei: I nions, with deep and

respectful assurances of staunch loyalty and devotion to

their persons and throne.

“A grand procession started from the Rajbati exhibiting

prominently Their Majesties’ portraits, decorated with

garlands, flags and fowers, and paraded all the principal

roads and streets of the town, amidst enthusiastic cheering,

chanting hymns especially composed for the occasion, and

invoking the blessings of Heaven for their Majesties’ long

life. *Prayers were offered at the Raj Temple for their

Majesties’ long life und safe and happy sojourn in India,

bhogs were offered and prosad distributed to all.

‘Precisely at noon a Durbar meeting was held at the Raj-

bati under the presidency of Babu Surada Prosad Mukherji,
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Dewan, in the absence of the Maharajah at the Coronation

Durbar at Delhi, in which all the residents of the town

and surrounding places joined. The Royal Proclamation

was read, and a speech was delivered impressing upon the

people the benefits of British Rule, and exhorting the

audience to remain loyal and faithful to the British raj.

At the conclusion of the Durbar, the band struck up the

National Anthem, and another salute was fired. In the

afternocn there were athletic sports by schoolboys, about

a thousand poor were sumpinously fed, and the school-

childrer: were given a treat. At dusk, the Rajbati and all

the houses of the resident d the principal roads also,

were brilliantly illum: by a display of fire-

works at the Rajbz many other of the

principal houses in’ night, thore was a

theatrical performance ati Natya Somaj.

“Tn all the Mofussi itchurrees appertaining

to the Kaj, the Roya! was also read, and His

Imperial Majesty's yo ied. There were also

decorations, Huminati¢: (lay of fireworks in all

these places.”

And so, with this §6

close this history of » tyr

:

nan

ent im our mind, we

i family and raj.

THE END.

21994
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